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Forewo,d 

1 Iived with the rnembers of the Weather Underground for many 
rnonths. It w~durlng  this time that 1 carne to know them not only as 
individuals but as an organization as well. A good many of these people 1 
grew to Iike. and rrn sure 1 would have established an enduring friend­
ship with sorne of thern if the circumstances had been diflerent. Their 
fixation with violence to bring about political change is what forced me 
to view thefO as a threat to rnyself as well as others. 

1 have beco asked a great many times if 1 still fee) that the Weather 
Underground is a threat. The answer is yeso The reason is simple; they 
are still among uso placing bombs when it suits them and providing other 
underground organizations with guidance through their comrnuniques 
and other published writings. 

¡. These are a highly dedicated group of people who are willing to give 
if their Iives if necessary to fulfill their objectives. They work as hard at 
-f"', being revolutionarles as you and 1 do at our jobs. It is not unusual for 

thern to go for days withouteating. To live in dirt andfilth is rule rather 
than exception. 

Political discussions, which take place daily, often lead to criticisrn/self­

criticism sessions. This brainwashing process is used to reinforce politi ­
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cal beliefs and reaffirm revolutionary commitment. During these ses­,~.  
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sions individual wealmesses are attacked over and over until the individ­
ual either acquiesces to self-eriticism or is purged. At the end of this 
process the individual ceases to think as an individual and begins to 
think in the collective WE. No OM is exempt from this process and must 
be ready not only to criticize but to be criticized as weU. 

The Weather Underground has broken our laws many times and will 
continue to do so until caught and brought to justice. This is not a 
question of political persecution, but rather one of criminal prosecution. 

Everything in this boolr. is based on fact. However, in telling the story 
we have changed the names of certain participants who were of minor 
importance (through the use of pseudonyms). In most cases, these in­
dividuals were under age or subsequently quit the movement. 
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There were many others who have made many contributions and have 
chosen to go unnamed; to them 1also wísh to express my gratitude. 

October23,1975 Larry Grathwohl 
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Introduction
 

I pushed open the door of the smaH, second-dass Washington, D.C.. 
ho~el,  stepped out onto the sidewalk, and started walking toward the 
Dirit.sen Senate Office Building on First Street. Jay Sourwine, chief coun­
sel of the Senate Investigating Committee, was waiting there for me. 

1 glanced back at the hotel and smiled. The government certainly 
wasn't going to ¡o broke if it put aH its gues~  up for the night in places 
likethat. 

··Ifs close to our office," Sourwine had said the night before when 
dropping me off at the hotel. 1 guess it was his way of apologizing for it. 
"Maybe rm being too critical," I thought to rnyseIf. After aH, Sourwine 
had driven aH the way out to DuHes Airport to meet me. And the sub­
cODlminee was giving me $25 a day for expenses, plus a round-trip air 
ticket (rom California, even though 1 would have been willing to pay my 
own way just to te)) my story before the Senate group. 

Guy Goodwin, Chief of Internal Security for the Justice Department, 
arranged for my appeArance before the subcommittee headed by Sena­
tor James O. Easdand of Mississippi. Officially, the unit was named the 
Subcommittee to Investigate the Administration of the Internal Security 
Act aOd Other Internal Security Laws of the Cornmittee on the Judici­
ary, United States Senate, Ninety-Third Congress. I was invited to ap­
pear on October 18, 1974. 

My'testimony was to begin at 10 o'dock. 1 leh the hotel early so that I'd 
have time to think as 1 walked over to the Dirksen Building. It was a 
chilly morning, but the crisp air was invigorating. It helped to wake me 
up. I was apprehensive. I wanted to get my thoughts straight so that the 
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subcommittee would have the whole story. This was the first time 1 was 
telling it for the public record. My only other official appearances had 
been before grand juries, whose records are secreto 

The subcommittee had been investigating revolutionary activities in 
the United States, but most of their information carne from secondary 
sources or was'only speculation. My information was firsthand. 1 had 
infiltrated one of the country's most dangerous underground revolu­
tionary groups: the Weathermen, or Weather Underground, as they are 
now caJlr.d.,. 

1 know their strength, how deeply they have penetrated our society. 1 
know how they think, how they are guiding other revolutionary groups 
toward their long-range goal of overthrowing the U.S. Government. 1 
can attest to their fanatical dedication to executing this plan. 

If nothing e1se, 1 wanted to impress upon the Senators how forceful 
this dedication is. It's the same dedication that spurs on members of the 
Al Fatah, the IRA, the Viet Cong, or any other internationally infamous 
terrorist organization. 1 wanted to show that these radicals are as dedi­
cated to the violent overthrow of the government as the Senators are 
dedicated to reelection, yet 1 wanted to get these points across without 
sounding like an alarmist. 

The facts were on my side. Each year since 1970 there have been 2000 
bombings in the U nited States, the great majority of which are attributed 
to revolutionary groups, according to FBI statistics, which are supported 
by statements from Weathermen. Prior to the emergence of violence­
prone revolutionary groups in the late 1960's, bombings were arare 
form of crime. 

Most of the targets are either major corporations or federal, state, and 
local buildings. So far, 1974 was just like the other years. Weathermen, 
for example, took credit for bombings in the Health, Education, and 
Welfare Office in San Francisco, the Los Angeles State Office Building, 
and the Gulf Oil Corporation offices in Pittsburgh. Gulf was attacked 
because the Weathermen convicted the company of committing enor­
mous crimes against 70 countries in the world by exploiting their people 
and their resources. 

But Weathermen weren't alone in taking credit for bombings this 
year. The Ame~icans  for Justice, the Armed Revolutionary Front of 
Puerto Rico, the World Liberation Front, and the People's Forces had i 
already boasted of terrorist acts in 1974. The Americans for Justice tplaced two pipe bombs at the Shell Oil chemical plant in San Ramon, 

"Editor's Nole: The organizalion was originally referred lO as Wealherman (.ingular). 
BUllhe plural usage, Wealhermen, Ihen came into vogue among members. Wilh Ihe rise 
of Women's Lib in Ihe 1970's Ihe preferred lerms are now Wealher People or Wealher 
Underground. 

while the New World Liberation Front attacked a subsidiary of ITT. Of 
course. not all bombing plans are successful. The police in Warren, 
Michigan prevented possible violence by uncovering a cache of 55 tire 
bombs. And these are just tive of the 25 revolutionary groups active on a 
national scale. Even individuals get into the acto This year a lone revolu­
tionary planted several bombs in Los Angeles. one of which exploded at 
the airport. killing three people. However. only the most dramatic acts 
attrael national attention. 

The Symbionese Liberation Army burst onto the national scene by 
lúdnapping 19-year-old Patty Hearst of the Hearst newspaper family on 
February 4. 1974. This aet won praise from Weatherman leader Ber­
nardine Dohrn in letters to San Francisco newspapers. Miss Dohrn 
wrotc. '7heir action has unleashed an astonishing practical unity among 
people's organizations." Then, with Patty an apparent convert, the SLA 
robbed a bank and tinally engaged in a bloody shootout with the FBI 
and Los Angeles police that was viewed on national television. 

Six members of the SLA were killed; this spurred the Weathermen to 
blow up the state building in Los Angeles for revenge. 

Although the SLA was first heard of when it took credit for gunning 
down an OakIand, California school superintendent with buHets dipped 
in cyanide poison in 1979, its tactics are well known to other revolution­
arles. Violence, such as kidnapping and assassination as committed by 
the SLA, are the common tools Iinking aH radical groups. The Chicano 
Liberation Front 'oined me SLA in murder b killin the olice chief of 
UnlOn City. Cal! nia. A sniper shot the chief as he left a communitv 
meeting at a church. Later me Chicano Liberation Front took credit for 
the assassination. 

BOlDbings. murder. and kidnapping are recommended procedures. 
Any reader of The Minimanual o/ the Urban Guerrilla knows that kidnap­
ping even a nonpolitical person such as Patty Hearst has tremendous 
propaganda value. 

As one of the Weathermen 1 was told to study the Minimanual as weH 
as Revolution in a Revolution, another handbook on terrorist tactics. And 
now the Weathermen have published their own handbook, Prairie Fire, a 
1974 political statement from the Weather Underground. 

The 186-page document is a reaffirmation of the organization's dedi­
cation'to destroying the United States. The book describes their current 
objectives as follows: "We are communist women and men, under­
ground in the United States for more than four years.... Our intention 
is to disrupt the empire ... to incapacitate it ... to attack from the inside. 
. .. The only path to final defeat of imperialism and the building of 
socialism is revolutionary war." 

Weathermen predict that they will have ample opportunity to carry 
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out these plans during this decade. They instTUct readers of PraiTie FiTe 
to "organize poor and working people. Go to the neighborhoads, the 
schools, the social institutions, the work places. Agitate. Create 
struggle...." . 

Because of the numerous incidents of politically oriented violence in 
the United States and the obviously increased strength of various revolu­
tionary groups, FBI Director Clarence M. Kelley called urban guerrillas 
and terrorists a "major threat to the internal security of the United 
States." In a speech in Indianapolis onOctober 9, 1974 he said: "The 
Weathermen and other guerrilla groups have openly declared war on 
America." 

I thought of these recent developments as I walked toward the Dirk­
sen Building. My story was important for the Senators to hear, because I 
could tell them how the Weathermen have built u a successful under­

ound o eration and how t elr networ of thousands of s m athizers 
-inc u mg mlmsters. lawyers. calle" professors. students commynity 
leaders-help them travel from city to city without deteetíon. These 
sympathizers, sorne of whom are duped into helping Weathermen. but 
most of whom believe in the same goals1 provide hiding places. money. 
and foad. I existed in this underground. I met many of these sympathiz­
ers. Weathermen worked hard to establish this network, and that is why 
they are so successful in eluding capture. 

Because my thoughts were so occupied with Weatherman activities, I 
was walking along without paying much attention to my mute. At one 
street crossing, I almost walked off the curb into a turning taxicab. A 
piercing yell from the driver jarred my attention back to the presento 

Once inside the lobby of the Dirksen Building, I paused a moment to 
brush my hair back. The wind had ruffled it. I checked my tie to be sure 
it was straight. I wanted to make a good impression on the subcommit­
tee. I smiled at my appearance: shirt, tie, jacket, slacks. If the Senators 
had only seen me during my Weatherman days-in an old army fatigue 
jacket and dungarees! I pushed the elevator button. 

When I reached the hearing room, Sourwine and Al Tarabochia, the 
committee's chief investigator, were waiting for me. 

The room was impressive. It was furnished with large oak tables and 
chairs, the type you'd expect to find in a judicial setting. A very long 
rabie occupied the center of the room. Pads of yellow legal paper, pen­ l'cils, and water pitehers were all neatly in place. A large picture of George 
Washington in the midst of other politicalleaders hung on the back wall. 

Sourwine briefed me on the proceedings. Then, just before 10 o'dock, 
Senator Strom Thurmond of South Carolina carne into the room to 
swear me in as a witness. 

I took a seat at the table and began my story. 
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1.
 
RnltContact
 

-My fint contaet "ith the Weathermen was a chance meeting on Septem­
ber 21. 1969 in Cincinnati1 Ohio when two of them tried to recruit me 
"to help get the pigs in Chicago." 

It was a lazy Sunday afternoon, and I had decided to go to Calhoun 
Street, which was about six miles across town from where I lived. When 
you don't have any plans, Calhoun is as good a place as any to go. It runs 
parallel lO the University of Cincinnati campus and is crowded with bars, 
·hamburgcr shops, and small restaurants. During the summer, there are 
always a lot of people hanging around. 

I was lucky. The third car to go by my family's house picked me up. 
The driver was going across town, so he drove down Route 125, across 
the litde Miami River lO Columbia Parkway, and pulled the car over to 
the curb near the intersection of Taft and Vine to let me out. 1 thanked 
mm. It was only a short walk to Calhoun. 

When I reached the corner, I saw Bob Brewer talking 10 three other 
guys. I had known Brewer for years. We had put away a few beers 
together the previous Wednesday night. 

1 recognized the faces of the other three, but couldn't think of their 
names. I had been in at least one class with each of them last year at the 
University of Cincinnati. 
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"Welcome," Brewer said when he saw me. 
"How ya doin', man?" 1 said. 
"Surviving. Although Thursday morning 1. wasn't quite sure." We 

both laughed and then he added, "You know everybody, don't you 
Larry?" 

"Hell, yes. How you doin'?" 1 shook hands aH around, and we stood 
there a few minutes while we filled each other in on our summer. Soon 
we decided to move over and sit on me steps leading up to a large church 
on the corner of Calhoun and ohio streets, facing the campus and a 
Shell service station. 

"How about those New York Mets?" someone said. 
"The bastards might even beat Atlanta and go into the series." 
"No way. They were lucky to get this faro The only real player they got 

is Seaver." 
When we ran out of opinions on why the Mets were leading the league 

and should not have been, we drifted aimlessly into and out of other 
topics. 

A slight breeze began blowing. 1 watched it move an old candy wrap­
per that had been Iying nearby. It floated off the steps and landed gentIy 
on the sidewalk. Then the breeze nudged it over the curb and into the 
middle of the road. As 1 waited for the next move of the wrapper, 1 saw 
them: two hippies crossing the street toward uso As 1 watehed, 1 reached 
ioto my pants pocket to see how much change 1 hado It was impossible to 
be on Calhoun Street and not be approached for money by at least one 
hippie. Sorne asked for half a dollar, but most settled for a quarter. A lot 
of them were dropouts or just loafers who found they could survive 
without answering to society as long as they lived near the campus. 

The couple that carne toward us was really odd-Iooking. 1 reached up 
and tapped Brewer on the armo "Get out sorne coins, mano Look what's 
coming." The girl was tall and Very thin. Her long brown hair fell below 
the collar of her blue blazer. She wore very tight Levi's that did nothing 
for her figure. A small white canvas bag hung from her shoulder. She 
was pale and not very attractive. 

Her companion was a mean-Iooking guy. He was slightly shorter than 
she was, and he wore an old army fatigue jacket. From the looks of it, he 
never took it off. His Levi's were tucked into a pair of work boots. But 
what made him really stand out was the large hunting knife strapped to 
the outside of his right calf. 1watehed the knife come c1oser. The way he 
walked, it seemed as though he couldn't make up his mind whether to be 
a hippie or a Hell's Angel. 

Up c10se the girllooked very young, about 17 or 18 years old. Her 
companion was about 23, but looked 40. His eyes were sunken, and his 
cheeks were drawn tight; he looked emaciated. But he had a cold stare 

t 
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that said he wouldn't be afraid to use his knife. He had a bundle of 
newspapers tucked under his arm and offered ane as they reached the 
steps. 

"Only a quaner:' he said. 
I shrugged. Why not? At least this time I would be getting something 

for my money. 
He took my coios, stuffed them into his jacket pocket, and offered 

newspapentotheothers. But they didn't want lO buy any. 
I glanced at the newspaper. It Was tabloid size, and the front page was 

like a large comic strip. In bold red letters across the top was a headline: 
"CLASS W AR:' On thc bottom of the front page was the name: TIIe Fire 
·NextTime. 

I looked up at the guy who had just sold it to me and at his girl friendo 
A couple of freaks, I thought. Brewer was looking over my shoulder at 
what I was reading. 

"What is aH that crap?" he said. 
The guy, who was called Outlaw, ignored Brewer's remark, and asked 

instead, "You goin' lO Chicago to help get the pigs?" 
The question was directed at aH of uso 
"What do you mean?" 1 asked. 
"Come on, mano Where have you been hiding? The acuon. The na­

tional aetion in Chicago:' Outlaw was amazed at our ignorance of what he 
was talking about. He turned to his companion: "Give them a flyer, Joyce. 
These guys ar_really straight." 

Joyce slipped the canvas bag off her shoulder and puHed it open. She 
took out some leaflets and gave one to each of uso In large letters, the 
leaflet headlined: uBRING THE W AR HOME." 

The text called for withdrawing our troops from Vietnam, Latin 
Ameriea, all other foreign countries, black and brown communities, and 
the schools. Then, again, in large type, it read: 

Chicago October 1 1 
ALL POWER TO THE PEOPLE 

After looking oVer the leaRet, Brewer remarked: "You're a Httle late, 
aren't you? Nixon already announced the first cutback in troops last 
week." 

Outlaw turned on Brewer. "You believe that fin' shit? You be­
lieve that fascist in Washington? He wants that war. He has to win to 
support the eapitalistic pigs in Saigon. Just the same as he has to support 
the other capitalistic puppets in Latin America against the people. The 
suppressed people around the world." 

Outlaw turned froro Brewer and looked at me. "You like your buddy 
here? You dig the war, too?" 

1 didn't know how to answer. Of course 1 didn't like the war. It didn't 
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make any sense to me, but then 1 wasn't sure it made much more sense 
arguing with Outlaw. "No," 1 replied. "1 didn'tsay 1 Iiked the war." 

"If you're against the war, you belong in Chicago with us," Joyce said. 
"You have to bring the war home. We have to fight here, not in Vietnam. 
Our fight is against racism and suppression. Against the capitaJism that 

l' ¡ 

makes us slaves." 
"Listen to her, brothers. Right on, Joyce," Outlaw said. "We're going 

! 
1 

to Chicago. And we're going to get the pigs before they get us." -i 
I don't know why, but 1 answered immediate1y: "If you don't go to ! ­

Chicago, the pigs can't get you." They didn't get my attempt at humor. 
They didn't even smíle. They looked as if we were to be pitied, as if we 
were very naive. 

Then they explained. A National Youth Action was being held in 
Chicago, Oetober 8 through 11, to prove to the Chicago police that they 
couldn't get away with the "Fascist tactics" they had used the summer 
befare against demonstrators at the 1968 Democratic National 
Convention. 

During that convention the New Left had organized a large demon­
stration in Chicago to protest the war in Vietnam. But the demonstrators 
ran into a confrontation with the Chicago police, who were determined 
to keep the convention city peaceful-at any cost or by any means. The 
battle.s between the police and demonstrators were wel1 reported on 
te1evision and in newspaper accounts. 1 thought the police had reacted 
too viciously, even though 1 assumed they were provoked at times. Pro­
fessional policemen should be able to handle any situation, even ex­
treme1y tough ones like those demonstrations. 

As a result of the battles, eight activists of the New Left movement had 
been arrested and charged with conspiracy to incite a riot. The trial of 
the Chicago Eight, as the defendants were now known, was scheduled to 
begin in three days, on September 24, 1969. 

The eight activists on trial were Rennard (Rennie) Davis and ~  

Hayden, both founders of the Students far a Democratic Society; ~ 

Dellinger, editar of Liberation magazine; John Froines, an assistant 
chemistry professor at the University of Oregon; Abbott (Abbie) Hoff­
man, a founder of the Youth lnternational Party (Yippies); Jerry Rubin, 
cofounder of the Yippies; Lee Weiner, a sociologist at Northwestern 
University; and Bobby Seale, a leader of the Black Panther Party. Soon 
after the trial began, however, the judge declared a mistrial for Seale, 
reducing the number of defendants to seven. 

Outlaw and Joyce said the national youth action in October would 
center worldwide attention on the trial. "We'l1 have thousands with us in 
Chicago," Outlaw promised. "But this time that pig Daley and his hench­
men won't get USo We'lI be prepared. Last year we weren't. But this will 
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prove to the pigs that we can organize, that we're not afraid of them. 
We'll prove we're ready to fight for our freedom. Even die if necessary." 

To die for a cause was a romantic concepto 1 wondered if Outlaw and 
Joyce had ever seen death, if they had ever witnessed real suffering. 

The conversation oontinued, and what fascinated me most about Out­
lawand Joyce was their seriousness and apparent dedication. They were 
young. They hated America. They couldn't have seen very much of it, 
yet they hated it, and their faces showed that they believed every word 
they said. They were complete political animals. It wasn't their words 
that bothered me; it was their attitude, the unflinching way they spoke of 
violence and open eonfrontation with the police. 

"The time is right, man," Outlaw said. "Look what we did in Pitts­
burgh a eouple of weeks ago." 

"That was the women," Joyce interrupted. "We had 60 women march­
ing in downtown Pittsburgh. White women supporting the black libera­
tion struggle." 

She said the group went to the South Hills High School, chanting "Ho 
Lives" and "Free Huey" while carrying a National Liberation Front flag. 
"We painted 'Vietnamese Women Carry Guns' and 'Jail Break' on the 
sidewalks and walls of the school. The women ran through the high 
school yelling 'jail break.' Eventually, 26 were arrested for indting a riot 
and for assault. The whole thing was part of a guerrilla action to com­
memorate the death of Ho Chi Minh. He had led the Vietnamese people 
against the Jrench and the United States. It was only right that we 
should have a guerrilla action in Pittsburgh against the radst trade un­
ions and worthless high schools. We won in Pittsburgh, and we're going 
to win in Chicago." 

As soon as Joyce finished, Outlaw started talking again. "You can't 
fight us, mano You might as wel1 join uso We're gonna get the pigs. If we 
have to, we're gonna tear down the coHeges and high schools. Last year 
was nothing eompared to what is goin' to happen this yeaL And it's not 
gonna be restricted to campuses." 

He told me to open the newspaper I had bought earlier. "Turn to 
page five, mano Right there. Look. It will give you sorne statistÍes to think 
about. See. There were major rebellions and insurrections even on mili­
tary bases across the eountry. Read, mano Black Gis refusing to go to 
Chicago. Prisoners rioting at the Presidio stockade and at Fort Dix and 
Fort Riley. It's there for you to read. That's what our movement is aH 
about. We're supporting the suppressed, no matter where they are, even 
if they're in the arroyo We'l1 get the Gis to turn their guns around. To 
f the army. We want them to come to Chicago, too. Anybody who 
is against the pigs. We're gonna tear it aH down. Chicago is only a start." 

The more he talked, the more amazed I became. He mentioned that 
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he was part of a group cal1ed the Weathermen. They weren't planning a 
demonstration in Chicago: they were planning an attack-an open, pub­
licized assault on the Chieago police and any private property they could 
get near. 

By now Outlaw was repeating himself. The sun was going down, and 1 
slipped on rny jacket as it started to get cooler. Outlaw seemed to sense 
he had lost our interest. "Look," he said. "Think about what we told you. 
A lot of people from Cincinnati are going to be in Chieago next month." 

Then Joyce offered Brewer one of the newspapers. "Take it:' she said. 
"We'll make it two for a quarter." She asked us to read the papers very 
earefuUy. Then she added: "Look. We're having a meeting next week. 
Why don't you come? !t's at the Unitarian Church next Sunday. We're 
starting with a movie at 7 o'dock." 

"You mean The Sound o[ Music?" Brewer interrupted. He was smiling 
broadly. 

Joyce continued as if she hadn't heard the remark. "Come to the 
meeting. Maybe you'l1learn something." 

They turned and started walking away. When they were about 15 
paces from the church steps, Outlaw turned around, waved his arm at us 
with a dinched fist, and shouted: "Off the pigs!" Then they both disap­
peared around the cornero 

"Think they're serious?" I asked Brewer as we watched them go. 
"Heavy stuff," he cornmented, "but they're probably high on grass. 

There's a lot of freaks in this area." 
1 roUed up the newspaper 1 had bought and shoved it into my jacket 

pocket. "They're weird but scary." 
"What's scary about a couple of creeps yelling revolution?" 
"1 was thinking about that guy who was kidnapped in Brazil a few 

weeks ago by a gang of terrorists." 
"You mean the U.S. ambassador?" 
"That's right. Anyway, when he was released, he said he tried to teU 

the terrorists who kidnapped hirn that there were other ways besides 
violence of getting their political objectives. And the terrorists said: 
'F--- you. Violence is the only way.' " 

Brewer looked at me incredulously. "What the hel1 has a group of 
South American nuts got to do with those creeps? South America has a 
revolution a day.lt's a way of life down there." 

"That's not the point. The point is that, al1 through the statements 
they were making, they kept referring to the Third World and suppres­
sion in Latin America. If they keep thinking about South America, they 
might start copying sorne terrorist tactics." 

At this point Brewer grabbed me by the armo "You read too much," he 
said. "Let's go get a beer." 

~ 

!:. 

"Best idea you had all day." 
We walked across the street and around the corner to the Scene, a 

small bar off Calhoun Street. We went inside and looked around, but wek.:. 
""­
.¡;~,.  

;- didn't know anyone. We sat at the bar and ordered a coupie of beers.
 

!-- "Working early tomoTToW?" Brewer asked after he had drained off
 
half the glass. 

"Yeah. I have to go in early." 1 had a summer job on the loading 
~
~ 

plaúorm at McAlpine's Department Store in downtown Cincinnati to 
¡ earn money for school. As we sat at the bar talking, 1 took the newspaper
,­ out of my pocket and opened it up. "Did you get a good look at this 

before?" 
Brewer glanced at the fmnt page. It had a canoon strip showing first 

the face of a charaeter firing a machine gun while screaming: "Eat 
leaden death imperialistic reactionary business administration major!" 
Tben the bottom panel showed a bushy-haired guy slugging a pig wear­
ing a policeman's helmet while saying, "Taste the sweetness of destiny, 
racist pig." 

Inside, one headline read: "The Time is Right for the Violent Revolu­
tion." Another headline claimed that "The Time is Right for Fighting in 
the Streets." 

"Look at this stuff," 1 said. 
"It's full of crap," Brewer replied. "What are you carrying it around 

for? Christ, 1 threw mine in the basket outside." 
We sat q¡,iedy for awhile. Maybe Brewer was right. Maybe Outlaw and 

Joyce were just creeps, a couple of kooks trying to play revolutionaries. 
Still, something about thern worried me. 

1 was still thinking about the encounter when 1 arrived at work the next 
morning. Monday is always a busy day on the loading ramp at McAl­
pine's Departrnent Store. The work isn't challenging, but you're always 
busy, so the day goes by quickly. Better yet, the dock manager said he 
would do me a favor and let me arrange my working hours around my 
class schedule during the school year. It was a real break. 

After work, 1 went horne to change clothes before going to see my 
wife, Donna, and our two-year-old daughter, Denise. We had been sepa­
rated since January. 1 guess we had married too early, and neither one 
of us was really willing to work at marriage, even though we loved each 
other. The whole situation was more than we could handle, and Donna 
had taken Denise and gone back to live with her parents. 1 visited them a 
couple of times a week. 

Donna's father, Don Riestenberg, had been a policeman for many 
years in Cincinnati before becoming a bail bondsman. He was a strict 
law-and-order man who didn't have any patience with people who criti ­
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cized America. He had always been more like a father to me than a 
father-in-law, and 1 respected his judgment, even if he was too conserva­
tive politically for me at times. He was a big, burly man more than six 
feet taH and weighed 230 pounds. 1 understood that he had \leen a hell 
of a good cop in his day. 

When 1 got to the Riestenberg apartment, Don met me at the door. 
Donna had gone out on an errand with her mother, and after looking in 
on Denise, who was asleep, Don and 1 had a \leer. He asked me what was 
going on, and 1 told him about the job and school, which meant 1 could 
help support Donna, and 1 told him about the meeting we had had the 
day before with Oudaw and Joyce. 1 had the newspaper in my poeket 
and 1showed it to him. 

1 watched the expression on his face as he flipped through the pages. 
First there was curiosity, then a frown. When he got to the last page, he 
turned the newspaper over and went through it again. FinaHy he looked 
upatme. 

"Where did you get this?" 
1 told him Joyce and Oudaw had been selling it on the streets. 
The more 1 told him about them the angrier he became. He went into 

a tirade about the permissiveness of people in authority toward radical 
groups at the expense of the law-abiding majority of citizens. According 
to Don, this was how the radicals had closed Columbia University in New 
York the year before. Only recently, there had been terrorist action in 
Columbus, Ohio, just50 miles away, that had caused two deaths, injured 
37, and caused a lot of property damage. Now it was obvious that the 
radicals were going to try the same thing in Cincinnati. 

"What are you going to do about it, Larry?" he asked me. "You're 
always popping off about the apathy in this country and how it hurt you 
and your buddies in Vietnam." 

1 didn't know what to sayo He was right about what 1 felt. 1 had spent 
seven straight months in the field with the 101st Airborne in Vietnam, 
most of the time under fire. My own platoon had taken more than 25 
percent casualties, and 1 believed that a lot of my buddies wouldn't have 
had their arms and legs blown away or had their lives completely wasted 
if we had been able to fight the war properly. And the reason we hadn't 
been able to fight was that the Americans who stayed at home didn't 
support the men in the field. Manya time we had been fired at by North 
Vietnam troops and Viet Cong from across the Cambodian border and 
we hadn't been allowed to fire back--even though we were taking casual­
tieso It had been a heH of a situation and here was Don, asking me what 1 
was going to do about it. 

Just as Don was asking me to teH my story about the meeting to sorne 
friends of his on the police force, Donna and her mother carne home. 
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"Think it over," Don said as he left Donna and me alone in the living 
room. "Let me know what you decide." 

Working at the deparunent store the next morning, 1 kept thinking 
about the challenge Don had thrown at me the night before. 1 didn't 
want to have the city torn apart by radical deIDonstrations or the univer­
sity campus closed down when 1 was working so hard to earn money to 
get an educarlon, There was only one thing to do. During a work break 1 
called Don and told him that 1 would tell what 1 knew to the police. 

Don made arrangements for me to meet two friends of his from the 
lice force the fol1owin evenin at his office. It was a warm, dear 

evenmg an ,a ter qwt wor • 1 decide to walk to the meeting. Some­
how it didn't seem right that 1 was going to the police. 1 had had rny own 
troubles with them as a street-wise gang Ulember growing up in Cincin­
natío and my emotions were mixed. to say the least. 

• 
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Cincinnati
 

1 was born in Cincinnati on October 13.1947. My father was a German 
Catholic. and my mother a Dutch Baptist. My mother is one of 13 chil­
dreno and she's proud, as is aH her family. of her long ties with the 
history of the country. Her ancestors go back to the Revolutionary War. 
Many nights either at home or when we visited my grandmother's farm 
in Somerset. Kentucky. 1 used to hear the stories of how the family 
moved westward to the Ohio area. and then how my great-grandmother 
carne by covered wagon to Kentucky. 1heard a lotabout family heritage 
and tradition. especiaHy from my mother. "Be proud of your heritage. 
Larry," she'd sayo "and never be afraid to defend it." 

1 don't know much about my father. He left my mother and me 
shortly alter my brother. Lee. was born. in 1949. lt seems he had an­
other wife and decided to return to her instead of staying with us and 
after he left. my mother. brother, and 1 moved in with my mother's sister 
and her husband. They didn't have any children and wanted to adopt 
my brother and me. Within two years my mother remarried. From my 
point of view, however. the guy she got wasn't better than the one that 
left. He wanted my mother to let my aunt keep both my brother and me. 
Finally, he agreed to let me move in, but only because my mother 
pleaded that, since 1 had a history.of asthma. 1 needed extra attention. 
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That was the beginning of abad relationship between my stepfather and 
lDe. 
""'When 1 was seven. 1 went to Sto Mary's School. 1 hated school. Conse­
quendy by the time 1 was in the 6fth grade. after two years in the fourth. 
1 was a 12-year-old chainsmoking Dlember of a gang called the Stom­
pers~  To show how tough we were. we wore black leather jackets. pegged 

1 pants. and ducktails. and we kept a cigarette permanendy dangling from 
OUT lips. We got the cigarettes by swiping theDl from the grocery store. 

, . Cincinnati is a hard-working. conservative city. and the people gener­
Ii··~··.·····1	 ally favor a tough line by the police. One thing was sure. the cops kept us 

moving. Any time more than two of us would stand on a street corner or 
in front of a store or movie house. the cops would push us along. To 

'¡'	 avoid being hassled. our gang used ~n  old abandoned church on Erie 
Avenue as a clubhouse. A small room downstairs in the basement made 
an excellent headquaTters. It had an old dusty sofa. a desk. and a filing 
cabinet. Over the summer we discovered that we were sharing our club­
house with a crew of city workers. who drove their truck around behind 
the church and used the main area upstairs to eat lunch. We had seen 
them only once. but knew they were frequendy there because of the 
crumpled wax papero brown paper bags. and empty beer cans leh 
around. 

Then one day. without warning. two policemen barged in on our 
ceHar. Three of us were sitting around. and these two uniformed cops 
pushed openJhe door and stalked into the room. They 100ked rough 
and mean standing in front of us. Each had his right hand dasped on the 
top of the .38 belted around his waist. and each carried a nightstick in his 
left hand. 

"Line up. punks" the shorter one growled. 1 was sitting on the edge of 
the desk with one foot on topo and the other dangling down the side. 
The taller cop moved toward me rapidly and gave me a shove that sent 
me sprawling onto the fioor. 

"When we say move. we mean Dlove." he snarled. 
1 had banged my shoulder on the dirty floor pretty hard and took 

awhile to get up. 
"Need some help. Sonny?" the tall cop smiled down at me. 1 shook my 

head. "Then get up against that wall with your buddies!" 
The shoTter cop had the two other guys facing the wall and was frisk­

ingthem. 
"What did we do?" 1 asked. 
..Shutup...• 
From their actions. 1 expected to be charged with robbing the Cincin­

nati National Bank. When one of the cops found a penknife in rny 
pocke,. he seemed very pleased. 
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"Where did you get this weapon?'; 
"It's my Boy Scout knife," 1 said, trying to sound calm and tough. But 

1 was afraid. 
"Don't be a wise ass," the cop said. After frisking us, they told us to 

turn around, but to keep our hands up behind our heads. 
"We didn't do anything," 1 said again. 
"Nobody ever does," the taller cop said. They pushed us roughly 

upstairs and into the back of the police car and took us to headquarters. 
The ride downtown was quiet except for the constant squeal of the 

police radio. 1 couldn't imagine what we would be accused of, and 1 was 
afraid to talk with the other two guys. When the car pulIed up in front of 
the police station, the cop on the passenger side jumped out and opened 
the back door. 

"Come on, get your asses out of there," he commanded. We went 
inside and stood in front of the desk sergeant. 

"We found these punks at the old church," the taller cop said. 
"Are these the kids thatdid it?" the desk sergeant asked. 
"We figund that's up to the detectives to find out," the shorter cop 

said. "If nothing e1se, they were trespassing, and one was carrying a 
knife." 

The desk sergeant mumbled something while writing on a long log. He 
asked us our names, ages, and where we lived. Then he turned us over 
to a dete<;tive in the Juvenile Division. 

The detective questioned each of us separately for about half an 
hour. He wanted to know how long we had been using the church. Did 
we know we were trespassing? Who else used it with us? FinalIy he said 
we were in trouble because more than $50,000 in damages had been 
done to the building, and the new owners were filing charges. He ac­
cused us of stealing the pews, doors, brass knobs, fixtures, and lumber 
that were in the building. 1 denied it. 1 told him we used only the 
basement office. 

He wrote a lot of things down in a notebook. Then he said 1 could calI 
my parents. Since 1was only 12,1 could be released in their custody. But 
he said we would have to go before a juvenile court judge the following 
week. My mother carne down to the police station to get me. 

We were scheduled to appear in juvenile court the foHowing Tuesday. 
Fortunately, my mother proved to be a better detective than the cops. 
An old friend of hers who lived near the church told my mother that she 
had seen men carry lumber and things out of the church over a period 
of a month or so and put them into a city truck. She volunteered to teH 
the police the same story, but we had to go before the Juvenile Court 
judge, anyway. The woman testified on our behalf, and the judge 
agreed to drop the charges, but warned us to stay out of the church and 
out of trouble. 

Despite the judge's warning, I didn't quit the gang. In fact, we stayed 
lOgether through high school, although we did change our names to the 
Trojans. Along the way we got inlO a couple of rumbles in the school­

I~ yard. But in the faH of 1963, we went to a dance at Purcell High School, 
the all-boys Catholic school that I attended. Girls from other schools 
were invited to attend our dances, and there I met Donna Riestenberg. 
Donna was a very pretty brunette. 1 got mad when someone else asked 
her lO dance. but I didn't get inlO a fight. 1 even walked her home. 

1 began seeing her as much as possible. Meeting Donna was the only 
thing 1 liked about high schooI. I hated most dasses, except history. 
Starting with the Revolutionary War, I read as much as I could. I read 
T1ae FedeTalist papers and even the Constitution, but I really devoured 
biographies, Lafayette in particular. It amazed me that a French noble­
man would voluntarily risk his Iife to help a country fight for its inde­
pendence. leven read The Communist Mani/esto. and I tried Das Kapital, 
but got bogged down. 

1 saw Donna frequendy during the school years. She was always argu­
ing with me to quit the Trojans, and when another guy from the neigh­
borhood who was about 19 was arrested, she made a point of giving me 
all the details. He had been shot by the police white running from the 
back 01 a supermarket he had broken into. "You're going to end up the 
same way:' she warned. 

The incident mfde me decide to guit school and ¡oin the army. 1 had 
lO get away from Cincinnati, get away (rom trouble. But I didn't teH my 
mother unúl July. At first she didn't believe me. Then, when I kept in­
sisúng on it, she was totally opposed to the idea, even though 1 would be 
17 in October and, with her permission z I could sign up legally. How­
ever, 1 had an unexpeeted ally. My stepfather argued on my side. "The 
school can't handle him, so we might as well let the army do it. They 
might straighten him out." This made rny mother cry. But finaHy she 
agreed to sign the papers for me after I promised to finish high school 
in the service. I turned 17 on October 13, 1964 and enlisted on October 
19. 

Ever since my unele had given me his World War II army jacket with 
its patches from the Screaming Eagles paratrooper unit, 1 had been 
determined to jump out of airplanes. 1 guess it sounds strange, but that 
was what 1 wanted to do. One of the forms the recruiting sergeant 
gave me asked for the three branches of the army I preferred. 1 put 
101st Airborne on all three Iines and underscored them. 1 even wrote on 
the sirle of the r:olumn: "This is my only choice:' 

Either I got lucky or the person making assignments actually read the 
application. I got my wish. After basic training, I was assigned to Fort 
Benning, Georgia for paratroop training and later was assigned to the 
101st Airborne. In March of 1965, I .nade rny firstjump. It was easy. 1 
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followed the leader out of the door without giving it much thought. But 
on the second jump, 1 was scared. 1 had time to ask myself, "What the 
hell am 1 doing jumping out of airplanes?" But the $60 a month extra 
pay for hazardous uuty carne in handy. And when 1 got my wings, I was 
very proud. 

During the time 1 enlisted in the army, went through advanced indi­
vidual tTaining at Fort Knox, and graduated from jump school, Presi­
dent Johnson began sending more troops into Vietnam. During tTain­
ing it was instilled in us that we were the best fighting force in the world: 
the best trained, the best fed, the best equipped. We could overcome any­
body. With the Vietnam War escalating we knew it was only a matter of 
time before our unit would be sent to Asia. 

1 believed that what we were doing was right, but many people didn't. 
Demonstrations against the war were starting and in April, while 1 was at 
Fort Campbell, the Students for a Democratic Society (SDS) organized 
the first anti-war march in Washington. It drew 15,000 student protes­
torso Itdidn't make much difference for me. By June I was in the jungles 
ofVietnam. 

Up to that point, all I knew about war were the stories told by my 
uncle, the books 1 had read, 01' movies in which John Wayne defeated 
entire divisions of enemy soldiers all by himself. War almost seemed 
TOmantic. But once 1 was in the jungle, 1 learned that war becomes very 
personal. The moment 1 saw a guy get rus arm and leg blown off war 
became a living horror, a nightmare of violence. And it kept up month 
after month. 

1 wTOte home to Donna whenever 1 could. She became my link with 
reality. When 1 finished my tour in Vietnam, to become a drill instructor 
at Fort Knox, Donna and 1 were married. Our daughter, Denise, was 
born eleven months later, and 1extended my tour of duty so that I could 
finish high school and prepare for college. 

1 took my duties as drill instructor seriously. No matter how much 1 
hated war 01' was horrified by it, it was my duty to teach every recruit 
how to survive what he was going to face in Vietnam. I guess 1 was a 
typical DI: hair cut close, boots spit-shined, khakis creased razor sharp, 
my walk erecto 1 was part of the army and the army had kept me alive. 1 
might not like its regimentation, but 1 would follow it. 

It was during this time that 1 was accepted for the fall 1968 term at the 
University of Cineinnati. 1 received my discharge and set out to be a 
freshman in another unreal world. 

What strange patterns life takes, 1 was thinking as I walked into Don's 
office to meet the police. 

It was a storefTOnt office, diagonaHy acTOSS from the eity and county 
courthouses; the police station was directly acTOSS the street. AH the 
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lights were on. The front part had two desks for secretaries, long gone 
home now, and their typewriters were covered. Large filing cabinets11 lined the back walls and framed the door leading into Don's office. 1t was 
a pretty drab place. But then a roan who needs bail money isn't lookingti for e1egant surroundings.


11 Don was on the phone and he motioned for me to sit down. Before he
 
finished talking. two policemen carne in and abo sat down. Then Don)i 
hung up, introduced us, and 1 went through my story again. They lis­
tened carefully, then questioned me at Iength. 1 sr.ressed how worried 1\!' was by me total commiunent lO violence that Joyce and Outlaw had 
displayed. They seemed lO understand. 

"rhe meeting lasted for slightly more than an hour. Finished, the cops 
thanked me and asked if 1 would meet someone from the poiice intelli ­

t gence division the next night. 1 agreed. 
The next night after work, 1 went to the city hall, where the intelli ­

gence division was located, to tell my story to Detective Sgt. Jerry Berry. 
As it turned out, Berry wasn't as cordial as the other two policemen. 
During the next 45 minutes, he spent almost all of the time telling me how 
much he knew about radical activities in Cincinnati. But after awhile I got 
the impression that he reaDy didn't know m uch about this new group that 
ca1led itself the Weathermen. He showed me a lot of photographs,but 1 
couldn't identify anybody. 1 had met only two of them. Before 1 left his 
office, Berry aid ask me if 1 was going to attend the meeting at the 
Unitarian Church. 1 said 1 didn't know. "If you do, give me a full re­
port." That was all. 

1 then stopped by Don's office to tell hirn what happened. After hear­
ing my report, Don insisted that Berry really wanted my help, but 
couldn't come right out and ask me for it. Don interpreted Berry's 
remarks as proof that he could use any information I could supply. And 
since Don had known Berry for years, 1 had to assume Don knew what 
he was talking about. 

Then Don threw me a question that had the hook in it. "Well, are you 
goingto go lO the meeting for Berry?" 

1 said 1 wasn't sure 1 wanted to become a police informer. 1 had 
enough problems without getting involved in a police matter. Besides, 1 
argued it could easily become very complex. If 1 got involved, 1 would 
have to see it through. That's the way 1 am. Besides, 1 said, "1 can't afford 
the time 01' money to run around chasing radicals." 

Don was furious. He said 1 had always condemned public apathy to 
him ~nd  now 1 was just Iike all the other big talkers: 1 wouldn't back up 
my convictions. "If you're worried about Donna and the baby," he said,• "forget it. 1'11 take care of them." 

1 had never seen Don so serious. He was committing himself to help 
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me and Donna if I would help the police. It was quite a challenge he was 
throwing in my face. AII I could do was promise that I'd think it overo 

During the next week, the subject of the meeúng was rarely out of my 
mind. I found my curiosity aroused. So when I next visited Donna, I told 
Don I would go. I guessed that the least I could do was go lO this one 
session and find out what was going on. 

I arrived at the Unitarian Church, a new brick building on CliflOn 
Street, a little after 6 o'dock on Sunday evening. I dimbed the few steps 
leading up to the front door and stepped into a wide vesúbule that led 
direetly into the main section of the church. It was much darker inside 
than out, but I noúced a light shining up from the hottom of a staircase 
on the left. I looked around for another moment to make sure it was the 
only light on, then walked over and down the staircase. 

Two guys in blue jeans, old shirts, and boots were standing at the 
hottom. One had his foot on the last step while leaning against the 
railing. The other guy was slouched against the wall. They were hoth 
ahout 22 years old. At first I expected them to give me sorne trouble. 
They were talking quietIy, hut stopped when they saw me coming down 
the stairs. The guy leaning against the railing stood up straight. 

"How ya doing?" I said raising my hand in froOl of me. The guy 
slouched against the wall, while the other fellow asked, "You lookin' for 
the meetin'?" 

"Right." 
"Down the hall. Last dassroom on the right." 
That was aH either said. They let me pass. As I walked down the 

hallway, I thought they were very poor security men, but I guessed they 
didn't really careo 

On either side of the corridor the rooms were dark and empty, but as I 
approached the last one, I could see a faint light and hear sounds. I 
opened the door and walked into a revolution on film. A movie screen in 
front of the room was filled with people screaming and running down 
the streets, while other guys were running around with machine guns 
and hombs. 

The movie was the Battle of Algiers. I later learned that it had become a 
recruiting film for revolutionary groups, and it served its purpose very 
well. While watching it, you had sympathy for the rebels. 

After my eyes became accustomed to the dark, I counted 20 people in 
the room, induding myself. Sorne were sitting on folding chairs, others 
on the floor. I recognized Joyce (her last name, I later learned, was 
Green) sitting on the floor up front, but I didn't see OutIaw. 

The movie ended, and a guy standing next to the projector snapped on 
the lights. He was older than the others, probably 28 or 29, and he was 
big, ahout six-one, and husky. 

As soon as the lights went on, an attractive girl of about 21 got up from 
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a chair and took a teacher's posiúon in front of the classroom. She was 
wearing tight blue jeans and a denim shirt without any bra. Her name 
was Karen Ashley. and she began speaking softly, distincdy. 

"What you just saw can happen anywhere," she said, pointing to the 
screen behind her. She paused for effect, then repeated, "It can happen 
anywhere. even in me U.S." 

She looked around the room. The two guys who had been standing in 
the stairwell when 1 arrived carne into the room and stood along the wall 
in back. 

¡:;- "That movie is what we're all about," Karen continued. "The French 
were defeated in Algeria because a small group of revolutionaries had 
the courage to stand up to the mother country. We have the same cour­
age, and we're going to demonstrate it in Chicago." She became more 
vehement, more fiery. "We're building an international Liberation Army 
in America. We support the struggle of the Vietnamese, the Uruguay­
ans, the Rhodesians. the Blacks-All Third-World people who are fight­
ing against U .S. imperialismo We'lI join this fight in Chicago. Eight politi­
cal prisoners are on trial there, and we want them freed. Now. Chicago 
will be the beginning of a violent revoluúon." 

She paused. Her voice was at a high but controlled crescendo. "A 
revolution we're going to win." She talked about ten minutes more, then 
turned the floor over to Rebel Callahan. He was dressed like the oth­
en. Blue'jeans and old shirts were almost a uniform, a conformity in 
dress among nonconformists. 

Rebel sauntered to the middle of the floor wim both hands stuck in his 
back pockets. It was obvious that he had conducted many meetings 
before. He had a casual air about him that exuded confidence. 

After looking over the audience for a moment, he began: "Okay, you 
want to know who we are. Who the Weathermen are. I'm here to tell 
you. We're communists and we dig it." He pronounced the word 
"cornmunists" slowly and distinctly, pausing to let the meaning take ef­
fect. Then he began again: "Communists with a small 'c'. We're not part 
of the old Cornmunist Party of America. We take orders from nobody, 
hut we support the Third-World people's fight against U .S. imperialismo 
We support the people." His voice rose on this last phrase, then tapered 
off again. ··We are aetivists. Young activists. Young because it's up to the 
youth of Arnerica to begin the revolution. We're going to bring down 
this imperialistic country." Now his voice was at a high pitch as he looked 
around the room. ··It's up to us," he said, pointing at each of uso "Us. The 
Youth. Not just the college youth. All youth. High school students. 
Army draftees who don't want to get killed in Vietnam for a lot of fat 
imperialistic businessmen. The working youth. This is our struggle. All 
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of uso We're the ones who have to change the country. As you can see, 
Chicago is a national action for aH youth and not just coHege students. 
We expeet many people from the army to be there. We want them to 
turn their guns around, turn them against the system that's sending 
them to their deaths. And it's happening. In June, 250 prisoners at Fort 
Dix revolted, and in July, 584 prisoners at Fort Riley took over the 
compound for seven hours, ransacking, destroying, defying the pig offi­
cers who tried to stop them. These prisoners were aware. Most of them 
were poIitical prisoners. Young men who didn't want to rush off to 
Vietnam to die for the capitalists. Many soldiers wiII join uso The work­
ing youth wilJ join uso We wiII win. We wiII show the pigs in Chicago that 
we're prepared to fight." 

I was amazed at how skillfully Rebel was using his hands to punetuate 
sentences and how he let his voice rise and fall for emphasis. He was only 
my age, but he was a professional agitator. The scene was like a movie 
about Germany in the early 1930s. It was frightening. They were deter­
mined to cause violence. If these guys ever got a hold of weapons, I 
thought, they might kili somebody. 

Rebel c10sed his speech by quoting Lin Piao, who said Third-World 
nationalist revolutions will playa decisive role in the destruction of U .S. 
imperialism. Then he praised Ché Guevara and the violent actions of the 
Tupamaros in South America, as well as the Viet Congo He finished by 
asking us all to attend a rally the next Sunday, October 5, at 10 A.M. at 
Eden Park. "This rally is extremely important if you're going to 
Chicago." 

After Rebel finished, we broke into small groups to talk with individ­
ual Weathermen. I met the two guys who had been standing at the door, 
Barry Stein and BiII Milton. It turned out that none of the Weathermen 
at the meeting were from Cineinnati, although they were living here 
temporarily. Since they all seemed to take orders from the older guy 
who was leaning against the front wall, I went over to talk with him. He 
was Gerrv Long. I introduced myself. 

"I'm gtad you could come to the meeting," he said. 
Long asked me a few questions about myself. He seemed interested 

when I told him I was a Vietnam veterano He wanted to talk about the 
war and politics. He was very articulate. He talked about the revolution 
and the need to "raise the level of struggle." 

I asked Long about the Weatherman organization. He was one of 11 
members of Students for a Democratic Societ SDS) who had written 
and si ed a 16 OOO-word statement ca e ," ou Don't Need a Weat er­
man to Know Which Way the Wind Blows," presente unnlZ: t e 
National Convention in Chica o 
by the more radical mem rs o 

group's goal as "the destruction of U .S. imperialism and the achieve­
ment of a classless world: world cornmunism."· 

As 1 learned later. the document had been written to force SDS to take 
a more violent stand to achieve its goal of socialism in the U .S. It worked. 
The SDS split into various groups. with the Revolucionan Youth Move­
ment 1 (RYM 1) and Rcvoluúonary Youth Movement II (RYM In com­
ing out on topo RYM 1 bccame known as the Weathermen because of the 
tille of thcir documento The Wcatherman aroup supC0rted violent ac­
li2!:!. predicting that a conrlnuing show of vlolence agamst the estabhsh­
ment would ereate a revoluúonary awareness arnong the American peo­
pie. who would then turn against the government. The RYM II group 
c1aimed violence alienated workers, thereb turnin them a ainst the 
movcment be ore ey coul be mdoetrinated to join the struggle. The 
RYM 11 advocated nonviolent acrlvity to gain mass support. The Weath­
ermen quickly labeled RYM II the "Running Dogs." The two facets of 
SDS went se rate wa s. but onl after 'oinin forces Ion enou h to et 

e eSSlve La r acúon ex lled frorn SDS. Both Weathermen 
an R M 11 were angered at Progressive Labor because it did not sup­
port the black liberation movernent to their satisfaction. Other charges 
against Progressive Labor were that it had caHed Ho Chi Minh a traitor 
and that it had refused to support the N ational Liberation Front in 
Vietnam. 

hese confrontaÚons effecúvel destro ed the SDS a group ori&inally 
form 10 1 oun radical intellectuals and which b the rnld-60s 

a nabona mem rs lp o around 100.000. But when the conven­
úon brokc up on lune 22. 1969. SDS was dead.** In its place stood the 
Weathermen. a group hell-bent on violent action. The first task Weath­
ermen assigned itself was to be sure that there would be violence at the 
National Youth Action-referred to by the Weathermen simply as the 
Naúonal Acúon--scheduled for Chicago October 8 through 11. 

This is what had brought Gerry Long to Cincinnati. He was a rnember 
of theWeather Bureau. the national council that directed Weatherman 
'iJetivities. He was checking on the Weathermen in Cincinnati. and he was 

so supervising acúviúcs that were becoming increasingly important as 
the Naúonal Action drew near. 

As 1 was rapping with Long. Barry Stein joined the conversation. He 
asked me if I was going to Chicago. I said I wanted to, but was afraid lo 
take úme off from my jobo 

ned this documento as did BilI Aren. Bernardir¡¿ 
MachunRer" Itm Mellen. Terrv Robblns. Mar 

··It still exÍ5lS on sorne college campuses, but not as a national organization. 
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"1 really need the bread, man,"1 told Long. 
"We understand," Stein said, "but, hell, don't miss the action. We're 

going to tear into those f---ing pigs." 
Long looked over at Stein. "They're already tearing into the pigs in 1 

Wisconsin," he said. There was a trace of a smile on his face. Only two ¡] 

days earlier someone had placed a bomb in the Federal Building in 
Milwaukee, blowing out parts of the first and second fiOOTS. The same ¡
day, another bomb exploded at the National Guard Armory in Madison. 
Nobody was hurt in either explosion, but a lot of damage was done. 

Long and Stein talked about the bombings casually. They obviously 
were very pleased with the action, but it was clear they didn't want to say 
too much in front of me. . r 

The meeting began to break up. As it did, joyce Green carne over. 
"Helio," 1 said. She nodded her head in recognition. "Where's Out­

law?" 1asked. t 
pShe looked at Long and then Stein as if searching for an answer. Then r 

she said, "He's not with us anymore." 
1 got the feeling 1 shouldn't ask any questions, so 1 just shrugged and 

said, "Too bad." She didn't answer. 
Stein brought the conversation back to Chicago. He asked me not to 

make any decision until after the rally next Sunday. 1 agreed. 
Since the room was almost empty now, 1 decided to leave, too. 
Once outside, 1 walked down Clifton Street thinking about the 

meeting. lt had been a weird night, frightening. These people are 
crazy,l thought. They believe they can blow up the country. How many 
Weathermen were there? How many in Cincinnati? How many in other 
cities? How did they get money to Iive, to travel? The ones l'd met so far 
didn't seem to worry about money. ApparentJy most of them were col­
lege graduates, but they didn't seem to have jobs. Yet they were free to 
move around, and everything they did was politically motivated. 1 
couldn't answer my own questions, but 1sure was curious. ¡: 

During the week, 1caHed Sergeant Berry three times before 1 reached I 

him. He a 010 'zed for not returnin m caHs but 1 could teH he wasn't 
~.  As usual. Bera hstene to my escnpuon o t e meeung WI ­ 'I~ 

out much response. He did express interest in the Eden Park Rally )""
 

¡and ended our conversation with the comment, "U you RO, give me a
 
report."
 ~ 
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Eden Park i a large green area in Walnut Hills, a lower-income black 
neighoorhood. The rally was held near the reservoir at the highest pan 
of the park. From there you look over the Ohio River and across into 
Kentucky. lt's a beautifui , peaceful place. But on Sunday, October 5, 
1969 it was turned into a training site for a group of rebels. 

1 gol there about 9:45 A.M. About 15 people were already there when 1 
arnved. 1 recognized most of them; they had attended the meeting the 
week before. 1 sat down on the grass next to a guy named Mark Stiv­
ic. The morning dew had aiready been burned off the grass, and it prom­
ised to be a nice day. Stivic was a Vietnam vet, and we talked about the 
war. He hated Asia, he hated the war, and he hated the United States 
because of the war. 

"This group," he said, referring to the Weathermen, "is where it's at. 
They'Illltick it to this f ing country." 

About 15 minutes later, two cars pulled off onto a nearby din work 
road and parked, Gerry Long got out of the driver's side of the first caro 
1 recognized most of the others as Weathermen who'd been at the 
church, but there were also three guys I'd never seen before. 

Long greeted everybody as soon as he reached uso Then he staned the 
meeting. He was very businesslike, very professional. He sat us in a 
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semicircle in front of him. The three people that 1 hadn't seen before sat 
on the outer edge of the semicircle. Long made a few preliminary re­
marks about the importance of the National Action in Chicago then told 
us to line up an arm's length apan for exercises. 

I looked around at the others, but they all got up and moved into 
position. 

Long led the exercises. We began with jumping jacks, moved into 
deep knee bends, touched our toes a few times, and then did sorne sit­
ups and push-ups. Between exercises, Long reminded us that the pigs 
were fat and out of shape, and we had to be bener prepared than they 
were. Long was probably right. But one exercise session wasn't going to 
whip them imo shape to take on the Chicago police. 

After 15 minutes of working up a sweat, Long cut off the exercises and 
gathered us in from of him again. I was perspiring and breathing preny 
heavily. I hadn't worked out like that in quite sorne time. I flopped down 
on the grass and leaned back on my elbows. 

The next pan of the program was a karate demonstration. One of the 
three strangers l'd seen gening out of the cars took over this pan of the 
meeting. The guy made a shon speech about karate being an aggressive 
form of the martial arts, although he stated that most people who prac­
tice it in the United States use it defensively. This seemed to annoy 
him."To get the best results, you have to be aggressive," he said. 

He demonstrated the basic karate punch and kick and body position. 
He told us lO stand with our legs a shoulder-width apart, with our right 
foot back, our knees bem slightly, our backs straight. The toes of both 
feet should be poimed straight ahead. Then he demonstrated the 
proper way to make a fist. You open your hand wide and c10se it starting 
from the top of your fingers. This formed a tight, hard fist. Once this 
was accomplished, he told us to bring our right fist up under our arm­
pits, c10se to the body, and to hold the left fist out in hom of your eyes. 
In a fight our arms would move back and forth "as powerful pistons." We 
had to follow the instructor through the basic positions.The only reason 
I could think of for this 20-minute karate demonstration was to help 
build confidence in everybody at the rally. It gave the impression of a 
well-organiled movement. 

Then Long took over again. "1 wam everybody to pay c10se anemion 
to our next two guests," he said. "Make mental notes of everything they 
sayo It could save your life, or keep you out of jail next week." 

Long had a flair for dramatic: statemems. 
The first person Long introduced was a young lawyer. He seemed to 

be about Long's age, 28 or 29. He was fairly tall, but thin. His hair was 
cut shoner than that of most of the people in the group. Unlike the 
others who were wearing the customary blue jeans, old shirts, and engi­
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neer boots, me lawyer was dressed as if ready to play touch footbaJl with 
bis fraternity brothers in sweat shin, brown slacks, sneakers. He didn't 
advocate violence or editorialize on the National Actioft. He jüst stated 
legal faets. Fint, he emphasized the consequences of str;iking, or even 
shoving, a copo In IllinoÍ5, just touching a cop could be lVoun,ds foran 
aggravated battery charge, which was a felony. He said this was the 
charge we all had to be prepared to face. Then he went on to explain 
what would happen if we were arrested. The usual procedure is for the 
cop to take me penon arrested to the nearest precinct. Here, the person 
is fingerprinted. Tben the police records are checked to see if there are 
any other warrants out for the individual. If there aren't any existing 
warrants, and the charge is only one such as disorderly conduct, mob 
aetion, or resisting arrest--each a misdemeanor-bail can be set immedi­
ately. This usually ranges between $150 and $350, he told uso If the 
person has cash, he can go free. However, he explained that a felony 
arrest requires a bail hearing before a judge. He stressed the importance 
of calling a lawyer lO help us through any bail hearing. 

"A legal staf( will be on call in Chicago 24 hours a day," he said. "Use 
them if you have to." He said we would aH be given special telephone 
numbers so we could contact legal help when we arrived in Chicago. He 
gave a short course in riotlaw, but the most important thing seemed to 
be memorizing the phone numbers for the attorneys. 

After the lawyer, Long introduced a young doctor. He was dressed 
lik~the  lawyer. Before he began speaking, he took a smaH notebook 
from his back poeket and opened it. He sounded like a professor lectur­
ing his class. According to the doctor, our biggest problem in Chicago 
would come from the gas used by the police. This could be tear gas, 
nausea gas, blister gas, or Mace. He said we should expect a gas attack 
and be prepared to react to it for our own protection. 

The doctor pointed out that many people believe that vaseline can 
prevent gas burns. "But it doesn't work," he said. "In fact, if you use 
vaseline and the police use Mace, it can be even worse." As preventive 
measures for a gas attack by the police, the doctor suggested wearing 
heavy clothing and a good gas mask, "not a cheap one that will only trap 
the gas inside." If gassed, we should use mineral oil or alcohol to wipe off 
the gas. Water would work if used abundandy, he said. "But a litde water 
only makes it worse." 

Although the doctor was droning on in a monotone voice, he had 
everybody's attention. I'm sure there wasn't anyone in the group who 
hadn't seen newspaper photographs or television reports of police tear­
gassing a group of rioters. And since this is what we'd be facing in 
Chicago, the doclOr's rnessage was very practica!. 

After discussing gas attacks, the doctor turned to other types of inju­
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des. He began with head wounds. "Most scalp wounds bleed a lot, and 
consequently they look worse than they reallyare. If you or someone 
near you has a head wound that is bleeding profusely, don't panic. To 
stop the bleeding put pressure on the wound with a clean bandage or 
piece of cloth." He cautioned that all head wounds should be X-rayed at 
a hospital. 

Then the doctor talked about bullet wounds. This was enough to scare 
me away from Chicago. "Never try 10 remove a bullet yourself," he 
cautioned uso "Treat bullet wounds as you wouJd any bleeding injury. 
Apply pressure to the wound with a clean bandage. Then get the injured 
person to a hospital as fast as you can." He then went into treating chest 
wounds as well as stomach wounds. 

The doctor was trying to give us a crash course in street medicine. It 
was ludicrous, and !'m sure he knew it. But on the other hand, 1 guess 
he figured that if one tip saved someone's life. this session would be 
worth it. He stressed over and over that we should only apply enough 
first aid necessary to get the injured 10 a hospital. 

When the doctor finished, he asked if there were any questions. He 
got several about gunshot wounds, and somebody asked him to go over 
the gas protection suggestions. 

The doctor finally sat down, and Long tcok over the meeting again. 
He thanked the lawyer and doctor for their participation. After he did, 
the two got up and léft the meeting. 1 watehed them until they disap­
peared around the first bend in the road. 1 wondered why they had 
become involved with the Weathermen. They obviously had exceilent 
futures. In a few years they would have everything the people at the rally 
were rejecting, including moneyand position in society. It was a really 
curious situation. 

As 1 was thinking about the lawyer and doctor, Long was reviewing 
the major points made by both. He stressed that medical assistance 
teams would be on patrol in the demonstration areas and that lawyers 
would be on call 24 hours a day. "We expect to have casualties. We 
expect arrests. But this is necessary." He said that if any of us were 
injured seriously enough to require hospital treatment, we should treat 
the pigs at the hospital arrogantly. He said all we were required to do 
was give our name and address. "Don't tell the doctors anything," he 
said. "They'lI record it, and these records could be used in court against 
us." 

However, he noted that we had one advantage. We were white. "And, 
so far the pigs haven't been as tough 00 the whites as they have on 
blacks." 

Then he turned his talk back to motivation and the reasons for the 
action. "We're going to Chicago to win," he said. "This is the first of many 
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battles. But we can win. The same way the Viet Cong are beating back a 
half million U.S. tTOOpS without the aid of vast teehnical resources. The 
Viet Cong have determination and a few simple weapons. And the 
blacks in this country are battling the same heavy odds that the Viet 
Cong are. And the blacks will win. We are going to help them win. Our 
fight is against this capitalistic pig society that is invading Vietnam with 
its powerful military machine while suppressing blacks at home." 

Next, Long stressed the importance of generating the proper publicity 
from the Chicago action. "This can be a very effective propaganda 
weapon for us," he said. "We have to keep in mind thateverything we do 
has to be done for the political good of the movement." He said we had 
to weigh all situations carefully before acting. For example, if we were 
being busted on a minor charge, we should go peacefully unless there 
was a crowd around to witness our resistance. And he cautioned us not 
to harass the pigs if nobody else was aTOund. This would only result in a 
bust that would serve no purpose. 

He said that newsmen made the best witnesses for the movement. "If 
there are newsmen around with cameras, fight all busts," Long stressed. 
"For the most part, news photos, especially on television, will favor uso 
Get the pigs to strike back at you; we need the sympathy of the people. 
And nothing outrages the people as much as seeing the pigs slash at 
college kids who are just trying to hold a peaceful demonstration." 
Lon~was clear and precise on the value of propaganda. If nothing 

else, he was determined to capture headlines in Chicago. 
After the propaganda lesson, Long went through a checklist of things 

to bring with us and some things we definitely should ¡eave home. If we 
went to Chicago by car, he advised us to park it as soon as we got there 
and leave it alone. "We don't want to be stopped by the pigs unless it fits 
into our plans. Use public transportation." 

Next he told all of us to get a tetanus shot. He said the tetanus shot 
would help protect us against lockjaw, which was a common result of 
head injuries. He asked us to buy a helmet, either a motorcycle or army 
surplus model. If we wore glasses they should be shatterproof and taped 
to our heads so they wouldn't fall off easily. Contact lenses were out. 
"And don't be foolish enough to show up in sandals," he snapped. "You 
need boots or shoes with reinforced tips. And wear heavy pTOtective 
clothing." 

He told us to bring clubs, but no knives or scissors. And most impor­
tant: "Bring money. As much money as you can. We'll all need it for bail. 
If you don't use it, a brother or sister will." Money was also essential so 
that we wouldn't be busted on a vagrancy charge. Then Long cautioned 
us about Chicago's curfew laws. Everybody under 18 had to be off the 
streets by 10:30 P.M. on week nights and by lI P.M. on Friday and 
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Saturday nights. "Have sufficient identification," he said. "Don't give the 
pigs an excuse for busting you just because you can't prove your age. 
Even if you look well over 18, be prepare<! to prove it. If you can't, the 
pigs sure as hell will bust you. They'lI use any excuse they can to keep us 
off the streets at night." 

As a last note, Long warned us not to bring any grass to Chicago. "If 
one brother or sister in a group is found with gra~,  the pigs will bust 
everylx>dy in the group, which will keep you out of aetion. No grass. 
Leave it home." 

The sun was beating down on uso 1 was getting hungry. but nobody 
mentioned anything about a lunch break. In. fact, while I was thinking 
about my stomach, Long called for another exercise session. This time 
we incorporated the karate movements we had learned earlier into the 
program of juroping jacks, sit-ups, and push-ups. 

After this round of calisthenics, we had a few more political speeches. 
But most of it was rhetoric I'd heard before. Barry Stein reemphasized 
the need for "bringing the war home," and how the "Red Army" will 
march in Chicago beginning on Wednesday. Rebel Callahan promised 
that several thousand demonstrators from all over the country would be 
in Chicago. When these speeches were finished, we broke up into small 
groups for more political discussion. 

About 2 o'dock the meeting disbanded. Longoffered to drive me back 
to the Clifton area. 1 accepted. AII the talk in the car centered on Chi­
cago. 1 told thero 1 would try to make it, at least for a day. This pleased 
them, although 1 had no imention of going. Berry's request to repon on 
the meeting didn't indude getting clobbered in sorne violent confronta­
tion at Chicago, and 1 wasn't about to volunteer. When we gOl back to 

Clifton, Long pulled the car over to let me out near Calhoun Street. He 
was living with the rest of the Weathermen in a house on Hollister 
Street, but they didn't invite me to go with them. 

1 stood on the sidewalk and watched them drive away. They really are 
fanatics, 1 thought. WiII the Chicago police be ready for what they're 
planning? 

The attack on Chicago was scheduled to begin on Wednesday, Oeto­
ber 8. But sorne of the Weathermen couldn't wait. Late Monday night, 
when most of Chicago was trying to sleep, an explosion rocked Haymar­
ket Square. A ten-foot-high statue commemorating seven Chicago pol­
icemen killed by a bornb blast during a labor riot in 1886 was dynamited. 
When the dust settled the nation's most famous police monument lay 
scattered in a thousand pieces around the park. I could picture Gerry 
Long and Barry Stein allowing themselves a smile when they heard 
about the bornbing. The Weathermen had to be gaining credibility as a 
revolutionary rnovernent. . 

The bombing certainly generated response from the establishment. 
FiTSt Mayor Daley declared it an "attack on all dtizens of Chicago." Then 
Sergeant Richard M. Barrett, president of Chicago's Police Sergeants 
Association, was quoted in the newspapers as saying the dynamiting was 
"an obvious declaration of war" on the police by the young radicals. 
Lieutenant O'Neill called for the dtizens of Chicago and the nation to 
"wake up" to the true nature of these radicals. "We're not dealing with a 
group of harmless kids armed with firecrackeTS," he said. He was right, 
but as I read the lieutenant's remarks, 1 wondered if he really knew how 
dedicated to urban guerrilla activity the Weathermen were. 

As it turned out, blowing up the stame was only a mild introduction to 
the week's events. At 8 P.M. on Wednesday, 400 Weathermen gathered 
in Lincoln Park to honor "Heroic Guerrillas" from all Third-World 
countries. Two of these guerrillas singled out for spedal praise were 
Ché Guevara, who was "murdered by CIA pigs in Bolivia," and Nguyen 
Van Troi, a Vietnamese who was hanged after he tTÍed to assassinate 
Defense Secretary McNamara in Vietnam in 1964. 

Around 10 P.M., the Weathermen marched from Lineoln Park. The 
he1meted mob moved down Ciark Street carrying clubs, bats, bricks, and 
Viet Gong ftags on the way to the wealthy Lake Shore Drive section of 
the city. As the mob passed the NoTth Federal Savings and Loan Bank, 
someone hurled a brick through the window. 

The so~d  of glass shattering sent the mob running through the 
streets smashing windows and busting up can. In sorne cases, private 
homes were attacked because they belonged 10 the wealthy eapitalistic 
establishment. A RolIs Royce was destroyed; when another man carne 
out to protect his Cadillac, he was beaten to the ground. 

As the mob ran on, a line of police formed at State and Division streets 
to stop the rampage. Without hesitation, the Weathermen ran right into 
them, swinging clubs and fists. As the police fought to control the attack, 
many of the demonstrators turned and ran down other streets toward 
Lake Shore Drive. On the way, they armed themselves by picking up 
bricks and wooden planks from a nearby construetion site. More police 
arrived, and the fight continued. At one point, a cop shot one of two 
demonstrators who had jumped him. But the battle continued under the 
rallying cry, "Tear the f---ing state down!" 

Police swarmed into the area, cutting off side streets in an attem pt to 
contain the mob. By midnight, they had succeeded. One hundred were 
arrested, and dozens were injured, while 21 policemen needed hospital 
treatment. The area was filled with shattered glass and ruined automo­
biles. The next day the battles were headlined in the Chicago news­
papers, while the newswires and te1evision told the story 10 the Test of the 
nation. I knew Gerry Long would be pleased with the coverage and 
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delighted with a statement by Stephen Zicher, an assistant corporation 
counsel in Chicago: "We didn't expect this kind of violence. In the past, 
there was always a big diflerence between what the young radicals said 
and what they actually did." 

While the citizens of Chicago were reading about the riots in either 
The Tribune or The Sun-Times, the Weathermen were gathering at GraOl 
Park. This time the focus of attention was the women's militia. Bernar­
dine Dohrn, a graduate of Chicago Law School, a founder of the Weath­
ermen, and a member of the controlling Weather Bureau, began a short 
speech by saying: "We are born in 1969 in America behind enerny lines." 
An hour later, Miss Dohrn and ten other women were arrested for 
assaulting policemen who were standing in their line of marcho 

At noon, the Weathermen joined RYM 11, the Young Lords, and the 
Black Panthers in a demonstration in front of the federal courthouse 
where the Chicago Eight trial was taking place. Three of the demonstra­
tors held a large banner that demanded the immediate release of Bobby 
Seale, chairman of the Black PaOlher party, who was one of the eight on 
trial for conspiracy. Another demonstrator held -a sigo that read: "Racist 
Pig Daley, Stop Racist Raids." 

Following the courthouse rally, several hundred demonstrators went 
to the International Harvester Plant to join workers who had gone on 
strike that morning. The Weathermen's plan to invade high schools that 
afternoon was cancelled because of the number of police assigned to the 
schools as guards. According to the Weathermen, the high schools were 
"prisons, and prisons must be liberated." 

Thursdayafternoon, Illinois Governor Richard B. Ogilvie announced 
that he was sending 2500 National Guardsmen to Chicago. Weatherman 
activity also received criticism from an ally. Fred Hampton, a leader of 
the Black Panther party in IIIinois, publidy condemned Wednesday 
night's violence. When I read this, I wondered how Gerry Long and the 
other Weathermen reacted. My guess was that they shrugged it off, 
saying that Hampton didn't know how to create a revolution. 

In an attempt to prevent further bloodshed, the police tried to round 
up Weathermen who were wanted for Wednesday's demonstration. 
They arrested 43 in a raid on the Covenant Church. Others attending 
the meeting escaped from the police. But one news story, more than 
anything else I read about the violence, reflected Weathermen hatred 
for the establishment. A police undercover agent talked his way iOlo a 
Weatherman meeting at the Emmanuel Methodist Church early Friday 
morning. But once inside, he was recognized by a demonstrator who had 
been arrested Wednesday night. As soon as the agent was identified, he 
was punched and kicked to the floor. According to the anide, which had 
a banner headline in The Chicago Tribune, the pastor of the church ar­
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rived in time to prevent continued beating of the copo After the pastor 
stopped the assault, two Weathermen carried the cop out of the building 
and threw him iOlo the street. Then all of them split. The pastor calIed 
an ambulance, and the cop was taken to the hospital in critical condition. 

On Saturday, the Weathermen met at noon in front of the blown-up 
police monument in Haymarket Square. JefE Jones, a member of the 
Weather Bureau, led this rally. When about 300 Weathermen gathered, 
they marched from the square to Randolph Street and then onto La 
Salle. Suddenly, someone screamed, "Break!" The orderly demonstra­
tion turned iOlo another mob action. The Weathermen charged down 
Madison, smashing windows and fighting police. A cop was thrown 
through a Railway Express office window. Shortly after that, Assistant 
Corporation Counsel Richard Elrod was knocked to the ground by a 
group of Weathermen, then kicked in the head and back. He was res­
cued by police and rushed to the hospital with a broken neck. In addi­
tion to the street fighting both the local air force and navy recruiting 
stations were fire-bombed. 

As the Weathermen battled the police, 2500 other demonstrators, 
including RYM 11, the Young Lords, and the Black Panthers, marched 
five miles from People's Park to Humboldt Park on the west side in 
honor of Manuel Campos, a slain Puerto Rican independence leader. 

By Saturday night, at least $1 million in property damage was re­
ported to the police, three demonstrators had been shot, one city official 
lay paralyzet!, 250 Weathermen had been arrested on charges including 
felony and attempted murder, and 57 policemen were hospitalized, at 
least one criticalIy. 

1 Three weeks earlier, Sergeant Berry had asked me a question: "Do 
you think the Weathermen are serious?" He had his answer. 

And this, according to the Weathermen's own statements, was only a 
beginning. 
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By Friday, Oetober 17, 1 was sure the eountry had forgotten the inci­
dents in Chicago. The New York Mets had won the World Series. Who 
had time to worry about a group of young radicals? 1 had a few beers at 
the Seene that night, and most oC the talk was about the Mets. I was 
looking for Brewer, but he didn'tcorne in. 

After 1 finished my seeond beer, 1 left the bar and walked over to 
Calhoun Street. 1 saw Outlaw plodding down the street in front of me. 1 
don't think he had ehanged sinee 1 rnet him a rnonth ago. When he carne 
doser, I stopped him. "How ya doin', man?" 

He looked at me with a quizzical stare. He seemed high or drunk. "Got 
a cigarette?" he said. 

1 reaehed into rny poeket. took out a Marlboro, and gave it to him. He 
shoved it into his mouth and, without thanks, asked, "What the f--­
do you want?" 

1 reminded hirn how we had rnet and asked him if he had gone to 
Chieago. "Those bastards are erap," he said. "They thinkthey ean TUn 
your life. You have to take orders or e1se." 

Outlaw was rarnbling. He told me the Weathermen kicked him out of 
the house, or eolIeetive, they were living in, because he refused to go to 
work and turn all the money over to them. "They needed sorne bread 
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and wanted me to go dig a ditch or something for a few days to get it. 
'F--- you,' 1 said. 'When I work, 1 work for me.' So they threw me the 
he)) out." 

i· Oudaw was the type of person who appreciated the violence and goals 
! of the Weathermen, but couldn't be restrieted by rules. He was a social 
~ misfit, regardless of the society he lived in. 
;r "Those bastards are crazy," he said. 
~ 1 asked him if he'd seen Joyre Green or any of the others recendy. He 
~ thought I was asking about Joyre for personal reasons. 

"She's jail bait, ya know. Hell, she's only 16, and she's a runaway. Her 
old man's got a lot oC bread, and she hates him. Somebody in the group 
conned her into joining up with them. But she don't mind it. She takes 
orders." 

He asked me if 1 wanted to go for a drink, but 1 refused. I didn't want 
to get stuck paying for him. He took the half-smoked cigarette out of his 
mouth and flipped it into the street. "F--- you," he said, and walked 
otT. 

1 then went to visit Donna. While she was in the kitchen making me a 
sandwich, 1 looked through the newspaper. A short artide near the 
bonom of one of the pagesca~yattention. The U. S. Senate had 
started an inguiry into the activities of the Weathermen. The amele said 
the ¡ustice Department would handle the details. 

When Donna carne back with my sandwich, I put the newspaper aside. 
She wasn't 1nterested in the subject of the Weathermen, so we didn't 
discuss it. 

I thought about the Senate inguiry a lot over the weekend. I changed 
m mind at least a dozen times beCore I decided to call the uSUce 
Department's office in Cincinnati and tell t em w at I new a 
Weathermen. 

I made the call during my cotTee break on Monday. One oC the depart­
ment lawyers listened to what I had to sayo He told me to call the FB!. It 
sounded like the beginning oC a TUnaround, so I went back to work. But 

i. later in the afternoon, I dialed the FBI office. When I was finally con­
nected with one oC the agents, I started the conversation abTUptly. I was 
sure they must get 100 calls a day from all types oC kooks. I didn't want to 
be putin thatcategory. 

"Look," I said, when 1 heard a voice on the other end oC the line. "1 
read that the Senate is conducting an inquiry into the Weathermen. 1 
have sorne information. Do you want it or not?" 

My opening took him by surprise. He told me to slow down. 1 outlined 
my story. 

"Why not come over and see me tomorrow?" he said. "My name's 
Murrish---elark Murrish." 
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1 made the appointment for Tuesday, October 21. 1 got to the Federal 
Building about 5:30 P.M. !t's a sterile-looking strueture with a wide lobby 
that opens onto two streets. The FBI office is on the sixth floor. 

1 stepped off the elevator into a waiting area. A counter crossed the far 
end of the roomo- and behind it there were two desu with covered 
typewriters on them. There was a large picture of J. Edgar Hoover on 
the back wall and an American flag in the cornero A young girl sat 
behind the desk on the left. When 1 reached the counter, she asked if she 
could help me. 1 told her Clark Murrish was expecting me. She picked 
up the phone and dialed a number. 

Soon the door behind the counter opened and a taO man, bald on top 
with salt and pepper hair on the sides, stepped into the froOl office. 

"Larry Grathwohl?" he asked, looking at me. 1 nodded, and he un­
locked a door in the counter and told me to follow him. 

The office looked more like a place for insurance salesmen than the 
FBI. 1 had expected to see more than a few rows oí desks pushed one 
next to the other. Each desk was very neat with only an in-and-<>ut basket 
on top and a chair beside it. There were a few agents in the office; all the 
rest had gone home. . 

Murrish had a holster strapped to his belt, but it was empty. He 
reached one of the desks in the line and motioned me to sit down on a 
chair beside it. He had a file folder on his desk, which he opened as 1 sat 
down. He glanced through sorne papers inside. 

"You have a good service record, Larry," he said without looking up. 
He obviously had run a quick check on me. "You still at the university?" 

"Yes and no," 1 said. "I'm staying out this semester to earn sorne 
money, but 1 plan to return in the spring." 1 explained that the semester 
break would also give me more time to think about what 1 really waOled 
to do with my life. 

Murrish studied the papers a momeOl longer before dosing the 
folder. He asked me to teH him the story from the beginning. He lis­
tened without commenting, but 1 could sense he had a genuine interest 
in what 1 was saying. When 1 finished, he reached back into the file 
folder and took out a group of photographs. He put them on the table 
and asked me if 1 knew any of them. He had photographs of Gerry 
Long, Barry Stein, and Rebel Callahan. 

We talked for about an hour. He asked me why 1 didn't go to Chicago. 
"1 didn't want to get my head busted for no reason," 1 said. 
"1 don't blame you." 
1 told him what 1 had read about Chicago and waited for his commeOl, 

but he didn't volunteer any information. He just repeated that the gov­
ernment had an interest in the Weathermen. He asked me if there was 
anything else, and when 1 said no, he thanked me for coming in. He 
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picked up the file folder, pulled open the desk drawer, and shoved it 
iOlo place. Then he removed a key from his pocket and unlocked the 
middle drawer of the desk. His snub-nosed .~8  was lying inside. 

"U you remember anything else, Larry, be sure to let me know." 
"1 will," 1 said. He picked up the revolver and shoved it into his 

holster. 
1 stood up, and he held out his hand. "Thanks for coming in," he 

repeated. "1 appreciate it." We shook hands, and 1 left. 
Another week went by. 1 thought about the Weathermen a few times, 

but 1 was busy with work. Anyway, 1 had passed on all the information 1 
had about the movement to the FBI. 

When 1 got home from work on Tuesday, Oetober 28, 1 had a message 
from Murrish. It just said, "Please call." The next morning 1 did, and 
_Murrish told me the Weathermen were meeting that night at the Stu­
dent Union Building on campus, and he asked me if 1 would attend ...!. 
was glad he asked me to go. At least it pTOved somebody was trying to 
ánalyze what threat the Weathermen were. 

The meeting was heId on the second floor of the Student Union Build­
ing. 1 went upstairs and down the hall to a classroom. About 20 people 
were seated behind the desks when 1 went in. The meeting was getting 
ready to start, s~  1 took a seat in the back. 

A guy named Arlo jacobs condueted the meeting. He was an imposing 
person, whose choice of words and delivery were almost perfecto He had 

- graduated from Princeton in three years and won a Fulbright scholar­I
I ship. He began the meeting by discussing the events in Chicago, which 

he considered a victory. It was a political success because the Weather­

1 men proved to Chicago and the nation that it was a force to be reckoned 
with. The television and newspaper coverage alone was worth the action. 
jacobs said Chicago could be considered a military victory because of the 
number of pigs who were hospitalized. He reminded the group that 
Chicago was the Weathermen's first action, but that it provided invalu­
able experience. He said the state could be brought down only by armed 
struggle conducted by urban guerrillas. He said that this type of warfare 
could be successful only if the participants were tenacious. To emphasize 
his point, he noted that Simón Bolívar was constantly ridiculed, called 
insane, and actually expelled five times before he returned to win his 
first battle in South America. He also cited the success of Fidel Castro 
after nine years. This country can and will fall, he sald. It will take time, 
but it is inevitable. Chicago was our first step. He said it showed that a 
bTOad base for the revolution was developing because white youths took 
to the streets to support the blacks in their struggle against suppression. 

jacobs opened the meeting for debate, and all the speakers were full 
of revolutionary rhetoric, all aimed at proving Chicago was successful. 1 
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decided to make myself known. It took. a few minutes until 1 finalJy got 
the floor. 1 felt 1 had to make a short speech in order lO pin their 
confidence. If 1 just sat quietIy in the background listening lO everything 
being said without participating, they might get suspicious of my mo­
tives. 1 didn't know if Murrish would want me to attend more Weather­
man rallíes, but if so, obviously it would be better if 1 looked lik.e an 
active participant. 

"1 know you people think you did a great job in Chicago. In fact, 
you've spent the better part of an hour convincing yourselves of this." 
Then 1 raised my voice and added, "But 1 don't." 1 paused at this point, 
as the heads of those people sitting in front turned around to loolt at me. 
"1 think the Salvation Arrny is better prepared to talte over a country. 
While we're sitting here debating Chicago's success, there's a war going 
on in Southeast Asia. Guys are getting killed. And what are you doing 
about it? N othing. That's w hat you're doing. You're all full of erap." 

If nothing else, 1 got their attention. 1 would be known. Jacobs just 
stared at me. 1 saw Barry Stein and Joyce Green staring also. When 1 was 
through with my statement, Mike Spiegel, one of the guys who had been 
at the first meeting 1 attended, jumped up and agreed with me. 

"He's right. We haven't done enough. We carne here to plan more 
action, and aH we've done so far is talk about Chicago." 

Jacobs finaHy got the meeting back to order and explained its main 
purpose. Sarcastically, he said he hoped the plans "would meet with the 
approval of our friend in the back." He said a special seminar on inter­
national trade was scheduled the next day between students and busi­
nessmen on the same floor where we were holding our meeting. The 
plan was for us to take over the seminar, which was a perfect forum lO 

air Weathermen political thought on worldwide suppression by the U.S. 
It would demonstrate that Weathermen were not confined to Chicago, 
but were active in all cities. 

As Jacobs was speaking, 1 made it a point to look at everybody in the 
room. Most of them were familiar, and if my guess was right, only one or 
two were students at the university. The rest were either Weathermen 
who had come to Cincinnati to recruit or contaets like myself and Mark 
Stívic, the Viet vet 1 had met at the rally in Eden Park. 1 also met another 
Vietnam veteran, Eddie Schaeffer, at the meeting. 

Jacobs ended the session and walked down the aisle to talk to me. 
Spiegel joined us at the same time. "U you want action, Grathwohl," 
Spiegel said, "you can get it tomorrow." 

Spiegel suggested we talk as we walked outside. While we were leav­
ing, Joyce Green and Mark Stivic joined uso After talking for a while, 
we walked up toward Calhoun Street. The others were going back to the 
collective, but they didn't invite me along. Before they left me, Jacobs 
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reminded me to repon behind the Student Union in the morning at 10 
sharp. 1 told him l'd be there. 1 had to pretend to be anxious to join in 
demonstrations. Otherwise they would lose confidence in me, and 1 
wouldn't get any information. 

1 called Murrish in the morning, but he was out of the office. 1 left a 
message and then called McAlpine's and told the dock foreman 1 had a 
toothache and was going to the dentist. He was annoyed that 1 didn't 
give him more notice, but 1 told him it was difficult to plan a toothache. 

It was a poor day for a revolution. It was raining like hell. Stíll, 16 of us 
were there on time. As we gathered outside in the' rain, Joyce Green 
unfolded a long canvas wrapping. Inside were six Viet Cong ftags. She 
passed them out. Arlo Jacobs sent Eddie Schaeffer into the building to 
make sure the meeting was in progress. 1 was glad to see Schaeffer 
return with a positive report. At last we'd get out of the rain. 

Jacobs gave the order to start. We Tan into the búilding, stormed up 
the stairs to the second ftoor, and down the corridor chanting: '''Ho, Ho, 
Ho Chi Minh, the Viet Cong are going to win." We chanted it over and 
over as we Tan along. The few students who were in the hall jumped 
aside as we went by. At the end of the corridor we yanked open the 
double doors to the smaH auditorium and raced inside. 

A group of students and businessmen were sitting on chairs in a large 
árcle. They ~ere  conducting an informal discussion as pan of an eco­
nomic seminar class. We were circling the group like a bunch of wild 
Indians around a wagon train, shouting OUT aHegiance to Ho Chi Minh. 
As we circled, one of the students started to stand up, but as he did, 
Schaeffer turned his chair over, and he feH iOlo the middle of the group. 
When we stopped and took stationary positions, one of the businessmen 
demanded to know what was going on, but Mike Spiegel told him to shut 
the f-- up. He did. 

My job was to protect the speaker, who was supposed to be Nancy 
Chiara. She looked more like a beauty queen than a revolutionist. But 
Nancy took too long getting started. So Spiegel jumped forward and 
gave a short lectUTe on the evils of our capitalistic society. Nobody tried 
to stop Spiegel from speaking. 1 think they were aH too astonished. 
When Spiegel finished, we aH Tan out of the room again and down 
through the halls shouting, "Ho, Ho, Ho Chi Minh, the Viet Cong is 
going to win." Nobody tried to stop us. 

We raced down the stairs and out the back door. Then we split. 1 
ended up with Barry Stein and Hal Lincoln. When we saw nobody was 
chasing us, we decided to go back to the Student Union to see if we got 
any reaction from the students. We weOl down to the cafeteria in the 
basement. 

Stein was pleased. "At least that wiH let the students and administra­
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non know we're alive," he said. Lincoln went over 10 the food counter 
aod got three cups of coffee. 1 watched a long-haired girl earrying an 
armful of books come ioto the cafeteria and look. around. When she saw 
our table, she came overo Barry knew her. I started 10 Ft up when she 
arrived, but oobody else did, so 1 satdown apin. 

She sat with uS. "How did it go?" she said 10 Barry. '·Good reaetion?" 
"There will be." 
Stein didn't introduce her to me, but he did call her Mary. His conver­

sanon seemed more guarded than usual, but I remembered that when 1 
had first met him he had said very little. Mary then 80l up 10 leave as 
abruptly as she had appeared. 

Ste.in turned to Lincoln as she left. "1 don't k.now about that broad," he 
commented. Two male students walked by our table carrying coffee. 
They were talking about the demonstration because we heard them say 
something about Viet Coog flags. Stein was picase<! to hear it. 

"They'Hlearn we're here," he said. He sipped his coffee. When he pUl 
the cup down, he looked at me. "You missed Chicago." 

"1 couldn't get away, but 1 won't miss the next one." 1 paused a mo­
ment and, when nobody said anything, 1 continued: "Shit, 1 read aH 
about it. 1 liked the way you guys treated that pig who got into the 
meeting." 

Stein looked up from his coffee. "Which one?" 
"The one at the church meeting." 
Stein smiled. "That mother. He proved how stupid the pigs really are. 

He comes to the church and gives us a lot of bullshit at the door. So we 
let hirn in. We can always use another guy. Then he stood in the back of 
the room and started looking aH around. 1 noticed one of our guys 
sittiog in the corner looking at him. Then this guy geu up and walks 
over to the pig. He stood in front of him and yelled: 'This guy's a pig. 1 
saw hirn at the pig station last night when they were busting us.' 

"Of course the pig denied it. He started talking fast and making a lot 
of excuses, when aH of a sudden the brother standing in front of him hit 
the pig on the side of the head with a hard right. The next thing 1 knew, 
a few more brothers were punching him, and he tumbled to the floor 
screaming for us to leave him alone. Then the pastor who runs the 
church carne running in. He started ranting about how he didn't know 
what type of people we were or he wouldn't have given us the church 
and aH that bullshit. Sorne brother wantecl to stomp him, but we held 
him back. To keep the pastor quiet, we laid off the pig. A couple of guys 
picked him up and brought him outside and tossed him into the street. 
Then we aH split. You could oever tell what the f ing pastor was go­
ing to do next." 

Stein got great pleasure from telling me the story. although he was 

48 

very careful never to mention names and never to aetuaHy say he took 
part in the beating. 

"These pigs thought they were dealing with sorne panty-ass white kids 
out on a lark," Stein added. "but 1 think sorne of them believe us now. 
Look at that Daley's lawyer. He was a big shot last year at the convention, 
but he's not saying much now. is he?" Stein was talking about Elrod, the 
assistant corporation counsel whose neck was broken. 

"1 read where they got someone locked up on that," 1 said. 
"Yeah, but they can't prove a thing. The charges will be dropped. We 

got good lawyers working on it." 
When Lincoln and Stein finished their coffee, they stood up. "We 

gotta get back, mano You did a good job today. We'H be in touch." Then 
they left. 

It was almost noon. 1decided to get a sandwich and then go to work. 
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Mo,atoduln 

Before reporting to work at 1 P.M., 1 telerrchoned Murrish. When 1 told 
him about my pan in the demonstration. e got angry. 

:'1 didn't ask you to start a revolution," he barked. "AH 1 wanted Was a 
repon. A simple reporto 1 don't need you running around town playing 
Trotsky." 

1 lis tened without uttering a sound, but 1 was thinking how the hell did 
he think 1 was going to get the information. He'd probably teH me to go 
to the meetings, take notes, smile politely, and then leave. But if 1 was 
needed to find out how far the Weatherman group would reaHy go in 
supporting their rhetoric, 1 couldn't find out anything without gaining 
their confidence. Of aH people, Murrish should understand that. When 
he calmed down, 1 explained my reasoning. He agreed. Before 1 hung 
up, we made a date to meet. Murrish said he would pick me up in front 
of McAlpine's at noon the foHowing Tuesday. 

When 1 got home that night, my mother gave me a message from Arlo 
Jacobs. He wanted me to meet him on Calhoun Street around 9 o'dock. 
lt was important. My mother wanted to know who Arlo Jacobs was and 
what kind of business had to be conducted on a street corner on a Friday 
night. 1 told her Arlo was a former classrnate who had a flair for the 
dramatic, and that he probably wanted to borrow five dollars. 
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When 1 got to Calhoun Street, Jacobs and Barry Stein were selling 
copies of the latest issue of 71t4 Fire Ntxt Time. for short, Fire. But 
making sales was secondary. Rapping with anyone who would listen was 
the major reason for being on the street. They had a guy backed against 
a store window and were firing off the litany of indictments against the 
U .S. from its involvement in Vietnam to its suppression of the blacks. 

Once the guy had gone, Stein asked me if 1 was going to Washington. 
"Probably," 1 said. By Washington, 1 was sure he meant the morato­

rium scheduled for November 13 through 15. A group that called itself 
the New Mobilization Committee to End the War in Vietnam (MOBE) 
was organizing mass demonstrations in Washington, D.C. and San Fran­
cisco. Actually, the moratorium concept was created by the Vietnam 
Moratorium Committee as small peaceful demonstrations in cities and 
on campuses throughout the country. The first Moratorium Day was 
held October 15, and judged a success by its organizers, as well as by 
political and religious leaders. But as MOBE got into the act, the concept 
expanded to mass demonstrations in the nation's capital and on the West 
Coast. Attorney General John Mitchell showed his displeasure by delay­
ing permits to MOBE organizers. He questioned whether the plan was 
Communist-inspired and calculated to cause violence. Sorne formerly 
sympathetic \J. S. Senators withdrew their support, but others remained 
loyal to the moratorium concepto 

I should have given Jacobs and Stein a more positive answer. I hadn't 
done myself any good in their eyes by not going to Chicago. If I was 
going to get anywhere with them, I had to say yes to Washington. Stein 
didn't wait for a more detailed answer. 

"The assholes who are organizing these demonstrations are creeps," 
said Stein. "They call themselves liberal humanitarians. The only thing 
they'll accomplish will be organizing long dull marches and boring 
speeches. They're as bad as the shitheads who are running the country. 
AIl they do is talk." 

As I listened, it became dear that the Weathermen were going to take 
advaJ11age of the demonstrations. They had had to organize the Chicago 
National Action. This time they could capitalize on somebody else's 
work. 

Finally they got around to asking me if I was available to help out. I 
knew they were testing me, to see if I was willing to go along with them. I 
had to say yes. The only way 1 could investigate the Weathermen was to 
be accepted by them. Therefore, 1 had to be prepared to participate in 
demonstrations and rallies and speak out for the overthrow of the gov­
ernment, even though I didn't believe in it. As long as 1 didn't provoke 
any Weathermen into action, 1 felt perfectly justified. They wanted to 
tear down the government. 1 didn't know any other way to stop them. 1 
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knew 1 would be acting on rny own, without Murrish's form.aI approval, 
but 1 figured the results would be worth the risk. 

"What do you want me to do?" 1asked. 
"We have sorne other friends coming int,q Cincinnati," Jacobs laid. 

"We were hoping you could take care of them. Maybe gel them a ride 
from here to Washington." 

"Who are they?" 
"We'lI give you the details later," Stein said. "We'U call you." 
1 stayed with them for a while. They returned lO selling newspapen 

and rapping about politics. By now 1 was familiar with m.ost of their 
rhetoric, so 1 joined in. 1 felt Hke a carnival pitehman, but my eflort 
impressed Jacobs. After an hour or so, 1 asJt.ed thern if they wanted to go 
for a beer. They refused. There was too much work still to do. Tbey had 
no time for drinking beer. 

On Tuesday, 1 decided to conduct an "awareness" polI of the Weath­
ermen. It wasn't as scientific as Gallup's or quite as extensive. Aetually, 
rny polI consisted of interviewing Tommy Cash during our coflee break 
on the loading platform at McAlpine's that morning. Tommy was about 
my age. He was a navy veteran and had been working at McAlpine's 
about nine months. 

If the Weathermen were interested in me, they had to be interested in 
Tornmy and others like Tornmy. Both of us were from the workingclass, 
and we were young. According to the Weatherrnan philosophy, "young 
people have less stake in a society (no family, fewer debts), are more 
open to new ideas (they have not been brainwashed for so long or so 
well), and are therefore more able and willing to move in a revolutionary 
direction." Those were sorne of the conclusions 1 carne to after analyzing 
the situation. But 1 was interested in knowing if any of their philosophy 
was getting through to the workingyouths. Tommy would telI me. 

1 waited until we loaded the last car, then we walked inside to the 
vending machines. Tommy was taller than me and very husky. AlthougH 
he had been in the navy four years, the c10sest he got to the war was 
Hawaii. As he punched out two light coflees in one machine, 1 pulled the 
lever a couple of times on another to get two small coffee cakes. We 
ad journed to the side of the room to enjoy a brief break. 1 got right into 
my poli. 

"Ever hear of the Weathermen?" I'm sure Gallup would disapprove of 
such an abrupt beginning, but 1 didn't have time to lead up to the 
question. 

Tommy took the cup of coffee away from his mouth and looked at me 
like 1 was nuts. "Sure," he said, "What's the matter with you?" 

His answer startled me. "Whatdo you know about them?" 
"1 don't know anything about them, except that guy on Channel 5 

never gets the weather right." 
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Tommy filled his mouth with a large bite of the cotIee cake while l 
held back a snicker. 1 wasn't laughing at Tommy; 1 was thinking ho.w he 
had just pierced Barry Stein's ego without either of them knowing it. 

i "1 don't mean the television weather dods." 
~ 

.:¡,; ''Then who the hell do you mean?" 
~ 
 

~
 1briefty described the Weatherman organization. 
J! Tommy was only vaguely aware of the violence in Chicago and had no 
j:: idea of who started it, except that they were a bunch of long-haired fags
'~.~·.Z who deserved a rap in the mouth. "College pissheads," he said. "How the----;:­I hell can they start a revolution? 1 could kick the shit out of half of them"',,'
1
'. myself." He paused a moment, then added: "Even you could probably 

L take out a few of them." 
He enjoyed his own remark so much that he almost choked on the 

coffee cake. 
Before we could continue our discussion, the supervisor yelled at us: 

"There's a car outside. Take care of it, will ya?" 
l stutIed my empty coffee container in the trash can and went out to 

get the merchandise slip from the customer. 
Murrish picked me up at noon. His plain gray car was sitting in a no­

parking zone near the buidling. When he saw me coming, he got out of 
the car, and we walked around the comer to a small cotIee shop. A back 
booth was empty, so we took it. Since the government was buying, 1 
ordered a ~ot  meat-loaf sandwich with whipped potatoes. Murrish had 
only a cup of cotIee and a Danish. While waiting for the order, 1 filled 
him in on my Friday night meeting with Stein and Jacobs. Be didn't like 
the idea that 1was planning to go to Washington. He didn't want me to 
get so involved. 

"We'lI have enough people there without rou," he said. 
During lunch, 1 went over the demonstration at the college again, step 

by step. Murrish jotted a few things down in a small notebook. He 
wanted to know if there were any new faces in the crowd. l told him no. 
He asked if l knew the exact number of students who took parto l didn't, 
but there weren't many. Most of the protestors were Weathermen. Fi­
nally. he removed an envelope from the inside pocket of his jacket, 
opened it up, and took out several photographs. Most of them showed 
somebody speaking to a crowd. He had a photograph of Gerry Long and 
another of Rebel Callahan. Neither had been back to Cincinnati as far as 
1 knew. 1 ftipped Callahan's photo over. There was a brief biography on 
the back. His full name was Matthew J. Callahan. According to the 
caption, he had been arrested in February 1969 at Kent State. l shufRed 
through the other photographs, but 1didn't recognize anyone. 

"lf you see any of them around,let me know." 
1 assured Murrish 1 would and turned the conversation back to the 

t Washington protesto 1 explained my reasoning: that only by taking an 
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active part in their activities could 1 gain access to Weatherman str'ittegy. 
But Murrish remained adamant. He didn't want me lo go. However, he 
did concede that he couldn't prevent me from going. "Just try to stay out 
of trouble." 

The waitress returned. "Anything else, hon?" she asked. not rcal1y 
caring which one" of us answered. We told her no, so she scribbled out a 
check and dropped it on the tableo Murrish left a tip, then paid the 
cashier. I lold him that if I did go to Washington, it wouldn't be before 
Friday the 14th, which was ten days away. He asked me lO keep in touch, 
especially if I heard any specific detail. about the demonstration. 

Even as Murrish and I were discussing the Cincinnati Weathermcn, a 
Weatherman group from Boston was joining other demonstrators in a 
wild rampage at MIT. They carried Viet Cong Hags and marched 
around the campus, eventually forcing the Center for International 
Studies to close. Then they took over the administration offices, shouting 
"Let's smash MIT." Then, the next day the same group caused a work 
stoppage at the school's Missile Guidance System in the Instrumentation 
Laboratory. 

On Monday, November 10 Arlo Jacobs called me again. He asked me 
to come over to Calhoun Street. When I met Jacobs. he got right down to 
business. Most of the Weathermen were leaving by car for Washington 
Wednesday night. But most of the university students who were going lO 

support the MOBE-organized demonstration were leaving by bus from 
the caDlpUS on Friday. He said this group was planning a brief delDon­
stration prior to boarding the buses. "You can imagine how half-assed 
that will be," he said. "We want you and a couple of other guys to liven 
up this demonstration if you can." 

The other two guys were Weatherman contacts from the University of 
Dayton in the northern part of the state. Arlo told me to meet thelD on 
the Cincinnati campus and go down to Washington with them. It was an 
obvious test to see what we could or would do. Jacobs didn't say so, but I 
knew at least one of the Weathermen would be around to watch uso 

"That sounds easy," I said. "What do you want us to do?" 
"Nothing. Just make sure everything goes all right on the campus and 

then come down to Washington:' 
"Where wil1 we meet?" 
"You'l1 find us when you get there. We'll be where the action is; the 

jerks from MOBE will be runningthe dull stuff:' 
I put in for another half day's work on Friday. I told them 1 had t.o go 

back to the dentist. The supervisor gave me a caustic look. but grunted 
approval. 

As the week unfolded, it turned out that not all protestors were con­
tent with marching to Washington. To begin with, a munitions plant in 
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Hanover. Massachusetts was set on fire. Next. a bomb exploded in the 
yard of the Municipal Electric Power Company in Seattle, Washington, 
while another bomb was discovered in the city's First National Bank 
Building. While no one was injured in Seattle, ten people were hun 
when a bomb exploded in the Frank1yn County Courthouse in Missouri. 

i In New York. City. bombs were exploded at the offices of Chase Manhat­
! ... 

tan Bank. Standard Oil Company. and General MotoTS and at the Crimi­
nal Courts Building. 

The New York. bombings were we11 adverused. The news media and 
the building authorites were wamed about a half hour in advance of 
each bombing. Then a letter was delivered to United Press lntemauonal 
explaining the reasons for the attacks. The letter read in pan: 

... the Vietnam war is only the most obvious evidence of the way this 
country's power destroys people. The giant corporations of America have 
now spread themselves aH over the world, forcing entire foreign econo­
mies into total dependence on American money and goods.... 

Spiro Agnew may be a household word, but it is the rarely seen men like 
David Rockefeller of Chase Manhattan, James Roche of General Motors, 
and Michael Haiden of Standard Oil who run the system behind the 
scenes.... 

The empire is breaking down as peoples aH over the globe are rising up 
to ch~enge  its power. From the inside, black people have been fighting a 
revolution Íor years.... 

1 didn't know whether the Weathermen had anything to do with the 
bombings, but the wording of the letter certainly sounded like their 
philosophy. However, whether they were actually involved or not was 
academic. The incidents proved that insurrection was increasing. The 
Weathermen didn't need a large organization as long as others followed 
them. When 1 ca11ed Murrish on Friday to fi11 him in on my plans, 1 
asked about the bombings. He was reluctant to talk. He did say there 
wasn't any reason to believe they were connected. 

lt was after 4 o'dock when 1 got to the student union building to meet 
the two contacts from Dayton, Jim O'Hara and Tom Klein. They were 
sitting on the wall in front of the building. They were easy to spot. Jacobs 
told me to look for a guy with bright red hair-that was O'Hara. lt was 
starung to get cold. 1 was wearing a Levi jacket, but 1 didn't have a hat or 
gloves. I introduced myself to O'Hara and Klein, and we rapped for a 
few minutes before going up the street where the student buses were. 

A mock burial ceremony was just beginning as we got there. The 
funeral services were for the innocent Vietnamese who were ki11ed dur­
ing the war. Cardboard tombstones lined the grass along the sidewalk. A 
large banner hanging from a tree prodaimed that the Viet Cong were 

t:. going to win. The students had a silent procession around the tomb­

54 55 ,
 



? 
~  

stones. As soon as it was over, O'Hara started shouting: "Ho, Ho, Ho Chi 
Minh." Others joined in. Klein tipped over a nearby trash can and lit it. 
Soon other fires were going. Then 1 ripped the banner from the tree 
and told O'Hara to grab one end. A few other students also took hold, 
and we raced out into the street, blocking traffic. Other students fol­
lowed, jamming the street. A traffic cop came running down from the 
corner, but he couldn't do anything alone. A few newspaper photogra­
phers who had been standing around started snapping pictures. 'Then 
we ran back and forth across the street as if we were in a snake dance. As 
we raced past the buses, the students began boarding, chanting as they 
climbed in. We spent so much time carrying the banner around that we 
missed getting on the last bus. 

Fortunately,one of the coeds who had just taken part in the demon­
stration was driving to Washington with a girl friendo She offered to take 
us with her. We accepted, but we should have looked for someone else. 
The girl was driving a Volkswagen. Not only was it crowded in the back, 
the heater didn't work. But the girl did have a large supply of grass that 
she passed around freely. It didn't help. 1 froze all the way to our 
nation's capital. What a way to go to a revolution! 

When we arrived Saturday morning, the sun was up. We abandoned 
the car on a side street and found a donut shop for breakfast. An old 
counterman grumbled as we sat down. "Freaks. Nothin' but freaks all 
over the place this weekend," he was mumbling to anyone who would 
listen. 

We ordered five coffees, and he splashed them down in front of uso He 
said he had only plain donuts left. We took one each. It was going to be a 
longday. 

The counterman continued to grumble. A morning paper was open in 
front of him. The moratorium had begun at 6 P.M. two nights before, bn 
Thursday, November 13, 1969, with a "March Against Death." Begin­
ning in Arlington National Cemetery across the Potomac River in Vir­
ginia, the protestors marched back to the Distriet of Columbia past the 
White House and down to the Capital, alrnost five miles. Forty-six thou­
sand people took part, each carrying the name of a soldier killed in the 
war on cardboard signs. As they reached the Capital, the signs were 
deposited in coffins lined up across frorn the Capitol steps. The protes­
tors marched in silence with only fue funeral drum roll breaking the 
quieto The peaceful march took 36 hours. 

But on Friday night, the peace had been shattered. Sorne 150 Weath­
ermen, along with 1000 members of other radical groups, rallied at 
DuPont Cirde. They heard speeches and shouted chants. Then they 
burst from the circ1e and raced for the South Vietnamese Embassy, only 
to run into the waiting District of Columbia police. The police were well 
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prepared. The 3800-man force was put on emergency-duty notice, while 
11,000 National Guardsmen and paratroopers had becn sent lO back 
them up. The rioters and police batded for about three hours. 

The counterman shook his head as he continued lO read about the 
demonstration in the newspaper. "Freaks. The cops should have thrown 
them all in jail." 

We walked over to Pennsylvania Avenue and then down to the Capi­
tol. A crowd was gathering near the coffins that contained the names of 
the dead American soldiers. Aceording lO MOBE plans, the coffins 
would be carried from the Capitol to the Washington Monument. Later 
in the day, ceremonies would be held at the monumento 

When we got to the Capitol, the two girls left us to look for the group
 
from Cincinnati. Soon we were immersed in a sea of humanity, mosdy
 
young people, but many of them were in their late 20s or early 30s. They
 
could have been lawyers, accountants, junior executives, or advertising
 
writers, and they had given up a Saturday in suburbia to protest the war.
 

Before the march began, Senator Eugene McCarthy made an appear­
ance. He was cheered wildly. He responded with a short lecture. He 
reminded us that the burden of America rested on our shoulders and 
that w, had to carry it. 

O'Hara, Klein and 1 pushed out to the edge of the crowd and headed 
on our own to the Washington Monument. 1 saw sorne Viet Cong ftags 
and even a few pictures of Vncle Ho, but they were outnumbered by 
American ftags, which were being sold along the way. At the monumento 
Pete Seeger and Arlo Guthrie were taking part in the ceremony. Then 
there were speeches by Coretta King, as well as by Senators Goodell and 
McGovern. They were predictably boring. 1 wasn't sure what 1 expected, 
but it was more than what 1 was getting; their words were tired. It all 
seemed to be a mass happening without any meaning. 

As we moved away from the monumento we heard other shouts: 
"F--you, Agnew," and "Two, four, six, eight. Now's the time to smash 
the state." We moved toward the chanting. A mob of about 5000 was 
converging on the Justice Department. Many of the protestors wore 
knapsacks to hide their rocks and bricks. Viet Cong ftags were bobbing 
up and down all over the place. The poles made excellent weapons. 1 
joined in, but it seemed as silly as listening to speeches near the monu­
mento A cadre of police were at each side, but they made no move to 
close in. We chanted sorne more. Faces appeared in various windows of 
the building, and with each one, someone recognized Agnew. He was 
reputedly inside coordinating all the inteIligence data on the 
demonstration. 

The mob didn't stay inactive long. A bottle was hurled at the building. 
Other bottles, bricks, and rocks started ftying. Someone shinnied up the 
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Ragpole in front of the building and cut down thc American ftag amid 
cheers and whistles. In its place, he raiscd a Vid Cong ftag. As be started 
down the pole, the MOBE marshals rushed over 10 capture him. butgirls 
in helmets screamed and kicked at the marshals, and guys in belmets hit 
them with sticks. "Pig lovers:' they shouted al thc marshals. "You aban­
doned the people for the pigs." The attaek. on thc marshals brought the 
police into action. They fired tear gas cannisters inlO the area. quickly 
overcoming the mob. The police wore gas masu. The gas tbat was 
curling around us was sickening. I started 10 run from thc area. Jim 
O'Hara and Tom Klein were with me and, along with hundreds of other 
protestors, we headed up Constitution Avenue. Windows were broken 
along the way. Bricks were thrown at cars, windshields smashed. Anyone 
who had cans of spray paint began writing slogans on sidewalb, stores, 
buildings. Trash cans were grabbed, turned over, and sel afire. The mob 
grew more unruly as it moved along. It had becn scattered in rnany 
directions, but that seemed only to present more problems for the pol­
ice. It would have been easier to contain us if we were in one area. 

O'Hara and I were still together, but Klein had disappeared. We 
turned up one street only to see a group of six helmeted people running 
toward uS. Behind them two rnotorcyde cops were gaining rapidly. The 
cops soon whirled past and cut in front of the six, as if heading off 
runaway steers. The six turned, split up, and Tan for the eover of the 
buildings. The cops jumped off their motorcycles and moved in. As they 
did, two demonstrators ran frorn a building aeross the street and banged 
the motorcycles to the ground. The eops turned. Two other demonstra­
tors were going to throw matches near the gas tanks, but the eops started 
back. As they did, the original six escaped. O'Hara and I ran off with 
them. 

Two blocks down, a police car carne screaming around the cornero 
Somebody hit it with a brick, and it went into a spin. "Off the pigs," carne 
the cry as the car bounced up over the curb and carne to a sudden stop 
just before crashing into the building. "Pigs!" carne another shout, fol­
lowed by a fusillade of rocks aimed at the patrol caro Other police carne 
up the street, and we were off again. 

Broken glass was everywhere. Fires were burning wherever there was 
a trash can. Walls were covered with paint. I felt like I had been running 
forever. 1 also felt like a (001, a very tired foo\. Right now, Murrish 
looked like a genius. Why hadn't 1 listened to him? 

1 didn't find Arlo Jacobs or Barry Stein or any other Weatherrnen 
from Cincinnati. But 1 had found the action. 

r 
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6.� 
Joiningthe� 

• Collective 

It was a long ride back from Washington, and 1 got home late Sunday 
afternoon. 1 looked like a bum and probably smelled worse. Nobody was 
home when 1 got there, so 1showered and went straight to hed. 

But 1 couldn't fall asleep. 1 tossed around, thinking about the demon­
stration. Mayhe 1 was an idiot for running around Washington like 1did. 
The FBI probably had more people involved than did the Weathermen. 
What was my part? Nothing. What could 1 tell Murrish? That 1 saw a lot 
of people throw bricks through windows, set garbage cans on fire, turn 
motorcycles over? 1 didn't have an overall perspective; 1 didtl't know 
what effect, if any, the demonstration hado It was certainly violento But 
Murrish would know that without me. Why the hell was 1 going on with 
this, anyway? So the Weathermen bomhed a few buildings. So what? 
Nobody was killed. Not yet, anyway. They'd be stopped. 1wasn't needed. 
Christ, I was tired. Finally 1 got sorne sleep. 

1 was a haH hour late for work on Monday morning. When 1 walked in 
at 8:30 A.M., the supervisor was angry. He stuck his head out of his small 
glass-partitioned office and bellowed to me. "Grathwohl! What do you 
think we're running here, a country club? You leave early on Friday and 
stroll in late today. You think we're on the four-day work week or 

sornething?" 
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1 apologized. 
"Oby,okay," he said. Then he pointed to a11 the pacltages piled up in 

the back oC the romn. "You'd better get to work." He turned back into 
bis office, hut then popped out again. He looked al me like he was 
studying a photograph. "You got a relative over at the university?" he 
said. 

"No," 1 answered, "but 1'11 be going back in the spring." 
"You see the television news Friday?" 
1 shook my head. 
"Sorne punk college kids ran around with some signs saying they 

backed the commies in Vietnam instead of our hoys. One oC them looked 
like you." 

1 didn't say anything, and he turned and went away again. 
At lunchtime 1 called Murrish. 1 made an appointment to see him the 

next day, N ovember 17, after work. 1 felt dejected, frustrated. The only 
thing 1 seemed to be accomplishing was angering my hoss. 

Murrish appeared glad to see me. He had left word with the c1erk at 
the front desk to show me right in. I sat down on the chair next to his 
desk. He swung around and pushed his chair back. There was silence for 
a momento Then he said: "Well, whatdo you have?" 

"Probably not much more than you aIready have." 
'']'11 make the judgments. You just give me the information." 
1 went through the entire weekend, step by step. Murnsh stopped me 

occasionally to e1aborate a detail or to expand an observation. I con­
duded my repon by saying: "Maybe you were right. You didn't need lOe 
in Washington." 

He ignored my remark, and asked me if 1 had heard from any of the 
Weathermen since 1 got back. When 1 told hilO no, he asked if 1 could 
get in touch with them. 

"1 think so. Barry Stein gave me a telephone number before the delD­
onstration a few weeks ago at the coHege. He said to call the number if 1 
got into any trouble." 

"You still have it?" 
"1 think so." 1 looked through IDY wallet and found it. 
Murrish leaned forward. "If you're still serious about continuing, we 

can use your help. Do you think you can push a Hule harder to get in 
with the Weathermen? To be accepted, so that they'lI talk to you more?" 

1 looked at him in amazement. Up to now he had taken information, 
but he had never asked me to do anything except to auend a couple of 
meetings. Now the FBI was actually asking me to infiltrate a revolution­
ary group. How could 1 refuse? 1 had gone this faro Don was taking care 
of Donna and Denise, and my job was enough to keep me in spending 
money. 

''I'H work on it."� 
"Very good. 1'11 be expecting to hear from you 5OOn."� 
The next day 1 dialed the number Stein had given me. A girl an­�

swered. 1 asked for Arlo Jacobs because he had been the one who called 
me to go to Washington. After a pause, Jacobs goton the phone. 

"Where were you in Washington?" 1 asked. "l'm running around 
trashing the city while you're hiding out someplace. What are you 
guys .. ." 

"Not on the phone," he snapped, almost in panic. ''1've been meaning 
to call you, but most of us just got back yesterday. We had things to do." 

"Bullshit." 
There was a slight pause before Jacobs said: "Meet me tomorrow 

night. We'lI talk more specifically then. Be at the Gold Star Chili Bar at 
eight." • 

"AH right," 1 said, and hung up. 
The Gold Star Chili Bar was a smaH restaurant on Calhoun Street with 

about ten tables in the small back room at the end of the counter. lt 
specialized in a spicy chili sauce concoction poured over hot dogs. If you 
didn't like hot dogs, you could buy another chili concoction that had 
onions and cheese in it and was served on top of spaghetti. lt looked 
terrible, tasted fine, and cost only 95 cents. lt was also the basic diet for a 
lot of college students who hung out there. 

When 1 got to the Gold Star that night, Barry Stein and Nancy Chiara 
were waiting for me in the last booth on the far side of the room. 1 
ordered a Pepsi and joined them. Two chili-stained paper dishes with 
small pieces of hot dog rolls were on the table in front of them. 1 stared 
at Nancy on the way to the table. She was a beautiful girl. 

"Where's Jacobs?" 1 asked, playing out the arrogant role I'd begun 
with Jacobs. . 

"He had something else to do," Stein said, moving over to give me 
room to sit down. 

We talked about Washington. Stein was pleased that 1 had taken parto 
Without specifically saying he was answering my question to Jacobs, he 
told me how busyeverybody had been in Washington--<liscussing it like 
a businessman talking about a successful deaI. "We're moving, mano The 
revolution is now. lt's going on aH around uso We've come a long way in a 
few short months." 

llooked at Stein. ") still think you talk more than you act." 
"Was Cambridge just talk?" Stein asked angrily. A sniper had put a 

few buHets into a police station waH in Cambridge; in retaliation, the 
cops raided two Weatherman collectives in Boston, arresting 26 people 
on charges ranging from attempted murder to criminal sedition. 

¡" 
Stein must have realized that he shouldn't have sounded as if he knew 
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ing angrier. "Just when 1 find a group that claims they're really going to 
tear this country apart, they go softon me." They knew 1 meant them. 

"We're going to tear it apart," Stein said. "But you have to know how 
we move. How we work." 

''1'11 be dead by thal time," 1 said sarcastically. 
Stein didn't answer me. Instead, he asked me to get up so he could get 

outof the booth. "Waithere," he said as he left. 
Naney continued the questioning. She was as dedicated as Jacobs and 

Stein. Political philosophy fascinated her. She hated the American sys­
temo "1 want to go to Cuba," she said. "Maybe it will be soon." 

Stein retumed. "Let's go," he said.� 
"Where?"� 
"Over to YJ.e house."� 
1 had evidently made it past step one. Stein must have given me good 

grades on my oral examination. 
The collective was in a three-story wooden frame house on Hollister 

Street. It was the second house from the end of a block in which all the 
houses looked alike. Fifty years earlier it was probably a fashionable 
neighborhood, but now two of the houses were vacant, their windows 
broken. We walked up the front steps, opened a large door, and stepped 
into a hallway with a staircase on the right. Stein led the way up the 
stairs. 1 wondered if the people who lived on the first floor knew who 
their neighbors were. 

A door at the top of the stairs opened iOlo a large, almost empty room. 
o Two old sofas, without legs, were pushed against the wall with an old 
easy chair across from them. The wooden floor was bare. 1 could see a 
sink and stove in the kitchen in the back of the apartmeOl. A dining 
room was on the right. It contained a scarred kitchen table and two 
straight-backed chairs. The only light in the living room carne from a 
bulb hanging from the ceiling. 

Stein ushered me iOlo the living room and told me to sit down on one 
of the sofas. 1 stretched my legs out in froOl of me and fdt very comfort­
able. A well-worn copy of Régis Debray's Revolution in the Revolution was 
Iying on the floor near me. 1 didn't see any other books, but there was a 
pile of newspapers, inciuding Fire and The Beruley Tribe in the comer. 
Stein left the room, and Nancy continued to talk about the revolution. 1 
could hear other voices upstairs. 

Stein relurned soon, and we continued talking about Vietnam and 
American transgression in other countries such as Bolivia and Argen­
tina. He praised the Tupermaros in South America for their terrorist 
activities against U.S. imperialist-sponsored government. Our conversa­
tion was beginning to become repetitious. "It takes an armed struggle to 

who eonducted the attack, because he quiekly added: "The pigs will 
never learn. They can't make those charges stick. Nobody knows who 
took the shots. but whoever did it believes in the revolution:· 

"Our lawyers will make fools out of those pigs;· Naney added. "They'lI 
rip the case aparto It's a frame-up, anyway. The pigs are so scared of us, 
we're getting the blame for everything." 

80th of them daimed the actions in Chicago and Washington were 
developing a broader base among the youth. "We haven·t gotten the 
masses yet;· Stein said. "but it's only a matter of time:· 

Soon they turned the conversation around to Vietnam and me. 1 told 
them the war was a horrible scar on the American iOlage: women and 
children being blown apart, butehered for no reason. This impressed 
them. 1 said 1 was tired of the pigs pushing people around. "When 1 was 
a kid in Cincinnati. the pigs pushed us around just because we were 
poor." 1 told them the storyahout being busted by the cops for what the 
city workers had done. They were intrigued because it fortified their 
reasons for being part of the movement. According to their philosophy, 
the Weathermen existed to liberate me from the suppression of the pig 
establishment. The more 1 talked ahout running with gangs and away 
from cops, the more interested they got in me. They took turns grilling 
me about my childhood. 1 told thero the pigs pushed Ole around when 1 
was a kid the same way the pig arrny was pushing the Vietnamese 
around. 

"Why did you go in the army if you felt that way?" Nancy asked. 
"At that time, the army was an escape for me. A way out of Cincinnati. 

But once 1 got over to Vietnam, my outlook changed. 1 hated the de­
struction we were causing." 

1 watched their expressions as 1 talked. What 1 had said was partly 
true, but my reasons were different. 1 got to hate the war all right, 
because 1 was tired of watching guys 1 carne over with die for no reason. 
One time we chased a VC unit over the border into Cambodia, but the 
captain wouldn't let us go after them. So the VC turned around and 
fired at us from the other side, killing a eouple of guys. AH we did was 
pull back. It was ludicrous. 

Nancyasked another question. "After you got disgusted. why did you 
stay in the army? Why didn't you split?" 

"1 wanted money for an education, so 1 figured. why not let the pigs 
pay for it. 1 got my high school diploma in the army, and 1 was going to 
let Unde Sam help me through coHege." 

"Right on," Nancy said, delighted that 1 was ripping off the 
establishment. 

As 1 continued lO talk about Vietnam, 1 gave the appearance of grow-

I� 
JíM;. 

f'::~: 

~ ~>" 

,~  ,-- ,. 

\� 

6362 



bring down an armed state," ~in  was saying as 1 got up and walked 
across the room to the pile of newspapen. 

1 turned from the newspapen and looked across at Stein. "Why did 
you ask me up here? There's nobody around." 

"Don't be so impatient." 
We were waiting for somebody; 1 was sure of that. so 1 walked back 

across the room and 80pped back down onto the sofa. They asked me 
many of the same questions they had raised at the Gold Star Chili Bar. 1 
gave the same answers. 1 knew 1 was passing step two. About a half hour 
later,I heard the front door open and clase and footsteps on the stairs. 1 
watched the living room doorway. 

A short girl bundled up in a stoeking cap and parka carne through the 
door, followed by a tall guy in an arrny fatigue jacket. The giTl removed 
the cap. and her hair fell down almost to me buckJe of the belt on her 
jeans. As she carne into the living room. 1 got a good look at her. She was 
very attractive. 1 guessed her age to be about 26. The guy behind her was 
a couple of years older. 1 had never seen either one of thern. 1 turned 
back to look at the girl. 1 was really taken by her. She wasn't as pretty as 
Nancy, but she was much more appealing. 

Stein got up from the old easy chair and went over to talk with the guy 
who had just come in. Their voices were low, but 1 could teH they were 
talking about me. Then Stein called to me. "Larry. come on over here." 

1 got up and walked across the room. Stein rnade the introductions. 
"Larry Grathwohl. this is Corky Bennett and Naorni Jaffee. They just got 
in from Chicago." 

1 shook hands with both of them. 
"We've heard a lot about you, Grathwohl," Bennett said. "rm glad you 

could make it over here tonighL" Then he turned to Stein. "Anybody 
else here?" 

"Spiegel's upstairs." 
"Ask him to come down." 
Stein went down the corridor. Bennett had to introduce Naomi to 

Nancy, so 1 knew she wasn't from this collcctive. 
When Speigel carne into the room, Bennett said: ··Naomi is joining us 

here. 1 want you to tell everybody she's with us." 
Naomi had just gotten out of jail in Chicago, where she'd been since 

the Chicago action on October 8. She describcd the horrors of the Cook 
County jail. "It's almost all black or Puerto Rican," she said. "It proves 
everything we've been saying. The white pig establishment keeps the 
blacks and browns and poor whites suppressed." 

She discussed the conditions in the jail for half an hour more. "The 
pigs couldn't break us," she said. ··We all stuck together. We sang songs. 
We even got the others, the supposed criminals, to join in with uso The 

pigs didn't know what to do with uso They know now they have people 
working for the suppressed. People who care." As she was speaking, 
Stein brought a couple of jugs of red wine in from the kitchen and 
passed them around. He also had a loaf of ltalian.bread. 

After Naomi finished reporting on her experiences, Corky Bennett 
turned lo me. "You grew up in Cincinnati, Larry. How do we reach the 
young people here? What do we do?" 

1 took my time answering. 1 tried lO figure out what he was looking 
foro 1 wanted to come on strong. "For one thing, you people spend too 
much time talking," 1 said. ''Take me, for example. You call people with 
my background 'greasers,' but you need us greasen lo make the move­
ment work. Yet your basic method of operation, as far as I've been able 
to determine, is to plan an action to death with meetings. The guys in 
Cincinnati that 1 know are too impatient for all that discussion and 
planning. Th~y  don't wan~to  stand around talking. Hell, I've been fight­
ing all my life. Fighting is nothing new to me. But all this talk is. I'm 
ready to fight, and so are the kids on the street if you give us something 
solid to fight for, something we know will benefit us and not the pigs who 
are chasing us around." 

I told them their actions in Chicago and Washington were building an 
awareness of the Weathermen, but 1 didn't agree with the belief that 
they were successful. The Weathermen had a long way to go before the 
general public took them seriously. 

"Bullshit," Spiegel shouted. "The pigs know goddamn weU how seri­
ous we are. And they're going to be taking us a lot more seriously in the 
future or they'U be dead." 

My remark opened up a round of discussions on how violent any 
future action should be. I detected a slight hesitancy by Bennett to 
commit himseIf to agreeing with an aU-out campaign of violence. Spiegel 
and Naomi were for it. 

"Cincinnati has been rather quiet," she said. 
"We haven't been working here that long," Bennett snapped, almost 

in defense. "Michigan and New York had a head start." 
Naomi didn't dwell on that particular remark. She had made her 

point, which seemed to come across quite clearly, even to me. She had 
been sent to Cincinnati to evaluate its effectiveness. "Maybe we need 
more bread to carry on our operations here," she added. "What plans do 
we have for getting more?" she asked. 

"That's not a topie to discuss now," Bennett cut in. 
"You're right," she apologized. 
At first I thought they were backing off the subject because 1 was in the 

room. But then I rmembered how Jacobs didn't want to discuss Wash­
ington on the phone when I called him the other day. 1 put the two 
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together and figured they thought the telephone and house were 
bugged. 1 was sure the only bugs in the place were the roaches 1 had 
seen. By now a number of others who Iived in the colleetive had re­
turned. Arlo Jacobs carne in and apologized for not meeting me at the 
Gold Star Chili Bar. 1 had seen most of the people in the room either at 
the demonstration at the campus or at the early meetings 1 had at­
tended. From the appearance of most of the people in the room, it 
looked Iike a convention of hoboes in training. 

The conversation centered on a meeting scheduled for the student 
union building the next night. It was easy for them to get the use of a 
meeting room, because SDS was a registered student group, and the 
Weathermen were technically pan of SDS. A large crowd was expeeted. 
It was the first official meetingof SDS this year. 

"We want Naomi to teH the meeting about her experiences in jall," 
Bennett said. 

A former SDS district leader who was a student at the university also 
was expected at the meeting. 

"She's living in a dream world," Bennett said. The girl had opposed 
the ouster of the Progressive Labor Pany and the split of SOS into two 
revolutionary youth movements. 

"She's a typical running dog," Spiegel remarked. Then he turned to 
me, "She's the one who does nothing but talk, Grathwohl." 

An agenda for the meeting was drawn up. 
"We passing out any song sheets?" Stein asked. 
"We got a new one for the book," Naomi said. 
This was the first time 1 had heard about a songbook. Somebody 

produced a black-covered loose-Ieaf notebook. It was passed over to 
Naomi, who held it for a moment, and then gave it to lIle. "You might 
want to look at this." 

1 took the book and flipped through the pages. The latest entries were 
about the riots in Chicago. One read: 

y ou thought you could stop the Weatherman 
But up-front people put you on your can. 

Then the verse turned to Richard Elrod, the city's assistant corpora­
tion counsel whose neck had been broken during the Weatherman at­
tack: 

A very compassionate poet, l thought. Another song had instructions 
to sing it to the tune of While ChrislmaS. It began: 

a. I'm dreaming of a White Riot� 
Just like the one October 8� 

When the pigs took a beating� 
And things started leading� 

To armed struggle against the state. 

Sorne of the songs were typed on regular three-ring loose-Ieaf paper, 
while othen had been cut out of a newspaper, probably Fire, and pasted 
in the book. There were also a list of slogans and a few passages from 
Revolulion in It&e Revolulion. 

1 handed thr book back to Naomi after a few minutes. The discussion 
about the SDS meeting continued until 2 A.M. Then the group started 
drifting upstairs to the third floor. Bennett told me he would see me the 
next night at the meeting, so 1 took this as a cue that 1 could leave. 1 had 
to get up for work in the morning, and 1 didn't want to be late again. 1 
said good-bye and left. 

The SDS meeting at the studeOl union building drew about 50 stu­
dents. 1 was surprised. Evidently the demonstration had done sorne 
good for the Weatherman image. As Bennett predicted, the former SDS 
leader who had supported the Progressive Labor Party began an argu­
ment about the violeOl tactics used by the Weathermen. She daimed the 
same goal could be reached without violence. Spiegel and Naomi did 
most of the arguing against her. After the meeting, 1 asked Naomi if she 
waOled to go over to the Gold Star Chili Bar for sorne spaghetti. She 
accepted. 1 had two very valid reasons for asking her. First, 1sensed that 
1 would need her on my side if 1 was going to get any place in the 
Weatherman group. Secondly, if 1 needed a sponsor iOlo the movemeOl, 
it might as well be someone who looked like her. 

Naomi wasn't satisfied with the way the meeting had gone. She felt it 
had gotten out of control and that she hadn't done enough to bring it 
around to the Weatherman viewpoint again. She was probably right. 
The argument with the SDS leader took the spark out of the meeting, 
and most of the people left. During the dinner Naomi asked me many of 
the same questions 1 had been asked by Spiegel, Bennett, and Nancy 
Chiara. 1 poured on the part about the poor kid from the other side of 
the tracks, and 1 added a little more bitterness to my remarks about 

Stay, Elrod, stay 
Stay in your iron lung; 

Play, Elrod, play 
Play with your toes for awhile. 

"'!' Vietnam. Otherwise, my answers were the same. 
1 saw the Weathermen on a daily basis after that. 1 met with them at 

the house, in the Gold Star Chili Bar, or on the street. Another demon­
stration was being planned for the campus. There was an internal fight 
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over how violent it should be. Onc faetion, led by Spiegel. was in favor of 
using dynamite. Bennett resisted this as bcing too extreme. Hc wanted 
to build a larger following before adding violent measures. As a prelude 
to the demonstration. they were painting slogans on buildings. fences, or 
any place there was room. 

Even though 1 was in daily contact, 1 didn't seem to be any closer to 
aetually being invited to join the group. 1 was still considered a contact, 
along with Eddie Schaeffer and a few othcrs. This was disappointing. 1 
decided I had to do something more drastico 1 settled on conducting my 
own night action by paintingslopns on buildings near Calhoun Street. 

1 went to a hardware store and gol a fcw cans of spray paint. There 
was a side wall of a building off Calhoun Street that was perfecto It was 
near the Gold Star and sure to be seen by the Weathcrmcn. 1 was off on 
Tuesday. so 1 decided to strike late Monday night. 

1 shoved the spray cans in my coat pocket and went off to rap on 
Calhoun Street with the others. 1 found Naomi and spent aboutan hour 
with her. She invited me back to the collective. but I made an excuse. 
Then 1 went off for a few beers. It was easier going out on night patrol in 
Vietnam than getting ready to paint a building. 

About 1 o'dock in the morning, I moved in on Oly target. It was a 
beautiful walI. Unmarked. I advanced on the objective, shielded from 
the street by the shadows. 1 staned with "OFF THE PIGS!" Then 1 
added: "UP THE REVOLUTION1" Then I stepped back to admire my 
work. It was beginning to be fun. Then 1 checked the street to see if 
anyone was walking around. AII was quieto 

1 decided to add one more signo Something a liule different. 1 got out 
the second spray can and began working. Slowly, so it could be perfecto 
This one was definitely more creative. "UNCLE HO W ANTS YOU!" it 
said. Then, underneath, 1 had drawn a finger pointing out toward the 
street with a Viet Cong flag draped from it. A masterpiece in revolution­
ary slogan painting. As 1 admired my work. 1 heard voices coming down 
the street. Cops, 1 thought. 1 couldn't be caught painting walls; Murrish 
would never forgive me. 1 put the spray can quietly on the ground near a 
trash barre! and moved back into the dark pan of an alley on the side of 
the building. The police paused near the building. I held my breath. 
The voices Oloved on. 1 breathed out and went horne to hed. 

1 waited until Tuesday afternoon before going to look for Bennett. 1 
found hiOl and John Harmon at the Gold Star. Harmon was in his late 
20s, like Bennett. He was a former minister of sorne kind, but had 
dropped his church affiliation and joined the WeatherOlen when he was 
in college. 1 joined them at the table. 

"Who the hell needs you, Corky?" 1 said. "1 Olay start Oly own move­
mento Schaeffer is as anxious to ~t  going as 1 aOl, and rOl sure there are 
other vets around who'lI support us." T~en  1 told them what 1 had done. 
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"That was only a start," 1 added. "We followers of Uncle Ho will get 
things moviog." 

Benncttwas furious. "You cao'tdo that. You can't go outand conduet 
an aetion 00 your own." 

Then Harmon explained. "1 don't think you understand. We don't 
paint walls just for the fun of it. That would be childish. And our main 
goal isn't to annoy the pigs. It's lo get a quick message across to the 
publico Just the way Schick does by using billboards aJong a highway. 
Last night you did what you thought was necessary. And we approve of 
individuals acting alone. But they have to aet under an overaJl plan. A 

•� framework. We don't want to suppress your enthusiasm, but we do want 
to channel it so we'l1 a11 benefit." 

He explained that wall painting was a vital pan of the communication 
system. The newspaper, FiTe, reached a11 the individuals who were in the 
movement or in sympathy with it, but the only way to reach the general 
public was by putting slogans on walls. 

"We have to compete against hundreds of thousands of capitalistic 
phrases that go out to the public every day on everything from cereal 
boxes to television commercials. One method we have of standing out is 
through sign or poster painting. People aren't going to fight for us if 
they don't even know we're around. 

"We use short phrases so that people will remember them. And 
they're faster to paint. A11 we're trying to do is get people to start think­
ing about what they see painted on the walls. Once we get their attention, 
they may come looking for more literature." 

Harmon was making sense. 1had never thought about wall painting in 
that context before. My aggressiveness had impressed them, though. 
Two days later, 1 was assigned to a subcollective in a house on Vine 
Street. 

~  
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7.� 
Movingln� 

Hal Lineoln eal1ed me at work on Tuesday, DeceInber 2, to teH me to 
bring my things over to the house on Hollister that night and 1 would get 
further instruetions about the subcoHective on Vine. After talking to 
Lineoln, 1 ealled Murrish and told him 1 was Inoving in with the Weath­
erInen. 1 said 1 would keep him informed. 

M y mother thought 1 was erazy when 1 went horne after work, packed 
SOIne clothes in a torn army duffle bag and said that 1 was Inoving out. 1 
told her I'd keep in touch, but not where 1 'was going. 

"This has something to do with those strange phone calls 'you've been 
getting," she said. "1 know it does, and 1 don't like it. Whatever you're
doing, 1 don't like it." 

1 told her not to worry, knowing it wouldn't do any good, and left. 
Barry Stein and Naomi Jaffee were waiting for Ine when 1 got to 1Hol1ister Street. Naomi explained that we were all going to an irnportant #. 

meeting aeross town, but that I'd be able to drop off InY things at the t 
i

subcolleetive on the way. She said Barry Stein was in charge of the i' 
people working out of the subcollective. íThe subcolleetive was a smal1 three-room apartment in a three-story 
wooden-fralue house on Vine Street that reseInbled the house on Hollis­
ter. Exeept for five mattresses scattered throughout the room and three 
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old wooden chairs. the apartment was barren. Stein carne into the 
apartment with me. 1 tossed my duflle bag into a doset in the front hall, 
took a quick look around, and left. There weren't any other signs of life. 

We drove into a well-kept residential section of the city. Stein 
parked the car in front of a long, ranch-style house. lnside, there was 
expensive Danish-modern furniture and wall-to-wall earpet. The White 
Panthers were an extremely violent group, organized in Detroit, and 
they were trying to expando However, they lacked the natural base that 
the Weathermen had in the SDS, a registered student organizaúon on 
manyeampuses. 

The meeúng was called to try to arrange a working agreement be­
tween the two groups. Naomi said there wouldn't be any talk about 
merger, but that there should be joint operaúons to show strength. 
White Panthers had taken part in the demonstraúons in Chicago and 
Washington. Naomi said strong revoluúonary groups can seek alliances 
for the benefit of the overall struggle. "Only weak groups should mis­
trust alliances," she warned. 

We held the meeúng in the family room, which was right off the large 
living room. The house was chosen for the meeúng because it wasn't 
bugged by the police. Since we weren't in the collecúve, it was permissi­
ble to smoke grass. A number of eigarettes were passed around, but 
sorne preferred water pipes. 

The primary objecúve of the meeúng was to coordinate a demonstra­
tion on the campus the following week. Mike Spiegel was displeased with 
the raid we pulled on the campus when the businessmen were meeting 
there in October. "We should have smacked a few heads," he said now. 

,Spiegel was in charge of the collecúve, although he was usually pyer­
ruled by Corky Bennett, lohn Harmon, and Karen Bittner. The tour of 
thc;m made uD the orimary leadership couneil. They ran the Weather­
men acúviúes in Cineinnaú, but they had to repon to members of the 
Weather Jlur.eau. the naúonal WUtrolling unit. Bureau members 
stopped by occasionally, as did Gerry Long prior to the Chicago riots. 
The bureau could also reassign individuals or purge those they thought 
were not doing the proper jobo 1 had the feeling Naomi had been sent by 
the Weather Bureau to upgrade Cincinnati's acúvities, although this was 
never said. However, 1 was willing to bet that Bennett and Harmon had 
the same fecling. 

Naomi Jaffee was immediately assigned to the secondary leadership of 
the collective, along with Arlo Jacobs and Nancy Chiara. When members 
of the primary leadership were out of town or not available, the second­
ary leadership took overo Then carne three important action groups. 
They were the Street Collective, Travel Collective, and High School 
Collective. Members of these smaller colIectives had particular assign­
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ments. For example, the street co11ective memben worked on recruiting 
youths from campus and the greaser, or working class, areas. The high 
school collective was responsible for high school and private school stu­
dents. The travel co11ective covered other collega and schooIs in the 
area. As a member of the subco11ective, 1 could be called on lo help a 
member in any group who needed assistance. 1 was a trainee. By assist­
ing memben from a11 groups, 1would get lo know how the entiTe organ­
izalion worked. Then, when my training period was over, I'd be pro­
moled into either the high school, travel, or streft coltective. 

Mike Spiegel had one goal during the meeting: convince us mat we 
should stop "f--ing around and go out and bIow up the ROTe 
building." 

THs brought on various degrees of dissent from Bennett and Har­
mon and raves of approval from Naomi Jaffee and the White Panthen. 

"Violence may turn too many against us," Harmon snapped. "We 
want a demonstration the other students can join in with us. We can't 
invite them to join in a bombing." 

"We need the students, the workers, the military. We need everybody. 
As nany followers as we can get if we expect to tear down this 
motherf---ing country," Bennett said, raising his voice. 

"1 agree with Corky," Naomi said. "We can't afford to turn the stu­
dents against uso But, at the same time, we have to show them we're 
deadly serious when we talk about revolution. Why did we take over the 
SDS? 1'11 te11 you why. Because they had too much talk about a revolution 
and not enough action. Therefore, we need more violence in the dem­
onstration. Maybe the campus isn't indoctrinated enough yet to suppon 
a bombing of the ROTC building, as Corky daims, but we should do 
more than just talk." 

The argument continued to rage. Finally there was a lu11 as everybody 
took turns puffingon cigarettes. Naomi then turned the meetingover to 
other specific aspects of the university demonstration, such as time, 
place, and theme. She said we could discuss the degree of violence again 
later, but that she didn't favor any action that the poIice could bust them 
for immediately, like blowing up the ROTC building with 100 witnesses. 
"If we decide to blow it up, we have to do it at a different time under 
different circumstances." 

The bombing issue was dormant, but not dead. Our theme for the 
campus was "Revolution Now." A revolution was needed in this country 
to prove to the Third-World people that they had support within the 
imperia!istic mother country. Demonstrations such as ours would give 
them encouragement so they would continue to fight on. Naomi said 
Mike Spiegel was going to give the speech during the demonstration. 
Naomi was going to help write the speech and assigned me to do the 
research. 
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As the meeting wore on, other differences with the White Panther 
t leader Perez began to emerge. He didn't think we should identify our­
4: 
~	 selves in any way with revolutionary groups or revolutionary slogans. 

He just wanted to come on as a group of univerxity students opposing 
the war. He didn't want to bring in references lo socialist or communistic 

caldeS. 
1 grabbed at these remarks. It was a chance for me to defend Weather­

men policy while winning a few points with Naomi. Before any of the 
othen could answer Perez, 1 told him he was wrong. 

"Are you afraid of being called a communist?" 1 asked. "Or are you 
ashamed?" Without waiting for an answer, 1 decided to turn the needle a 
Iqle. "Vou're refuting Guevara, Mao Tse Tung, and Ho Chi Minh. 
They weren't ashamed of being communists. Why should we be?" 1 
knew 1 had Weathermen approval because nobody interrupted me, ex­

...� ceptPerez. 
-rile communist party in the U.S. is dead and buried," he shouted. 

"They were a bunch of old farts who didn't want to do anything. We 

want aetion." 
We argued the point for about 20 minutes. Finally 1 lost my temper 

and beUowed: "Vou're just a shithead. You haven't been making any 

seRse aU night."
When the meeting fina11y carne to an end early in the morning, we had 

made definite plans to stage a campus demonstration on Tuesday. Perez 
and other White Panthen would join us. 

Going back to the car, Naomi and Bennett were pleased with the 
outeome. They praised me for taking such an active parto However, 
Naomi was critical of my heated argument with Perez. "You have to 
present your points more rationally," she said. "Anger can't win an argu­
ment for you. But Oyeran you did a goad job." 

They dropped me off at Vine Street. 1 ftopped on one of the mat­
tTe5SeS and went right to sleep. 1 was late for work again in the morning. 

1 spent the first part of the next night working on the speech with 
Spiegel and Naomi. They used me as a sounding board for certain 
phrases or lines. If 1 reaeted well, they thought othen on the campus 
would reaet the same way. While we used the table in the kitchen, other 
small groups were busy painting signs. mapping out the demonstration 
area, and collecting spray paint canso Then, later in the evening, two 
teams of four each went out on "night actions." My group painted slo­
gans on the walls along Calhoun Street while the other group did a 
similar job on the campus. We wanted to attraet a big turnout. 

1 dragged myself through work me following day under a constant 
barrage of cold stares from the supervisor. He didn't sayanything, but 1 
knew his thoughts were not friendly. 

1 planned to take a nap after work, but when 1 got back to the apart­
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ment, tbere was an urgent message for me to report immediate1y to the 
house on Hollister. 

When 1 got over to the coHective, the living room was crowded witb 
members sitting on the 800r and draped over the chairs and sofa. It was 
quiet except for Bennett's voice. He was condemning tbe establishment. 
1 had seldom heard Bennett as vehement as he sounded now. 

"The f--ing pigs didn't give tbem a chance," Benediet was saying. 
"Tbey went in shooting to kili from the very beginning. They wanted 
blood, and tbey got it." 

Fred Hampton, a chapter leader of the Illinois Black Panther party, 
had been killed by tbe Chicago palice during a raid on a Pantber apart­
ment earlier tbat morning. Mark Clarke, anotber Pantber, was also 
killed. 

The demonstration scheduled for the fol1owing week was going to be 
held the next day instead, to protest Fred Hampton's murder. Every­
body was expected to work aH night to get things ready. Those witb roles 
in the guerrilla theater would begin rehearsals immediate1y. The dem­
onstration had taken on added importance. We had to make our pro­
tests heard by the pigs who had killed Fred Hampton. The establishment 
had to be shown that whites as weH as blacks were angered by Hampton's
death. 

1 joined Naomi and Spiegel to work on the speech. The theme would 
remain the same: "Revolution Now," but Hampton would emerge as a 
cause ceUbre for the movement, a martyr whose death had to be avenged. 
1 researched old copies of The Berkeley Barb, Tribe, Village Voice and 
other newspapers we had in the house for quotes by Hampton. Spiege1 
was excited. He had concrete material to work with. 

We worked wel1 into the night. Spiege1 kept changing lines, phrases, 
paragraphs. Each time he changed it, the speech took on added violence. 
Naomi, Spiege1, and 1 walked the streets for a couple of hours, discuss­
ing the nature of the violence. The Weathermen had to be in the fore­
front of the white movement to support the struggle of the blacks to 
conquer their suppressors. 

Spiege1 final1y left Naomi and me to edit the final draft. We made a 
few more changes, put the final version of the speech together, and left 
it on the kitehen counter so that Spiegel could find it in the morning. 1 
was getting ready to leave when Naomi said, "You might as wel1 stay here 
for the night. It's too late to go back to Vine Street. You'H only have to 
come back here in the morning." 

My supervisor at McAlpine's was going to love that. 1 could picture 
myself callingin with the excuse: "Sorry, boss. 1 need the day off to burn 
down thecampus." 

1agreed to stay anyway. 

Naomi led the way up tbe stairs lO the third floor. It was dark, but I� 
could mak.c out the oudine 01 bodies scattered all over the floor. I 101­�

• Iowed Naomi lO the end 01 the room.� 
"Here," abe whispered, pointing down to an empty mattress, but there� 

wasn't any sheeton it. 
"Okay," 1 said. 
She didn't mave. "Do you always sJeep with aH your dothes on?" she 

asked. 
1 puIled 0& my shin and Jet my trousers drop to the floor. Then I sat 

1" on the mattress lO remove my shoes. I Jooked up. Naomi was naked. 
• 1 pulled the blank.ct up Irom the hOttom Of the mattress, and she 
crawled ante the mamess beside me. 

Shereached o~r and touehed my shouJdero "ReJax," she said. "You're 
~ 

SOlense." 

~. 1 bacln't expected any of this. I half expected it was a put on, a praeti­

~?"- cal jOke~-like  a fraternity initiation. As soon as I touehed her, the light 
would 8Oon, andeverybody would hollero I reaehed for her. She moved 
ove.- and nobody snapped the lights on. 

"You stiII have sorne of the straight working-class ideas," she said in a 
Iow voic:e. 

"What?" 
"You're afraid 01 f---ingo I mean, you're shocked that we're in hed 

together tonight. Although you've wanted to I me sinee you first 
saw me, right?" 

"Right."She was absolutely right. But it was embarrassing to me mak­
ing 'ove in a room lull of people. I looked to see if anyone was staring at 
USo lt felt Iilr.e they were. 

;­ "We worked hard together al1 night, Larry. There's no reason why we 
should break off the relationship just because we're going to hed. We're 

¡
~ ..� not Ftting mamed. We're just enjoying ourselves after a hard night's� 

work."� 
"How could 1 relute that reasoning? As I rolled over on top of her, I 

became lesa and less eoncerned about the other people in the room. 
When 1 woke up in the morning, Naomi was gone. In lact, most of the 

people in the room were already up. I pulled on my pants and went 
downstairs. Naomi was in the kitchen with SpiegeJ. Most 01 the others 
were in the living room exercising. 

1 felt slighdy embarrassed when I saw Naomi and slightly jealous 01 
Spiegel. 1 walked over and touched her shoulder, but she just puHed 
away. "Mike wants to make a few more changes," she said as il we had 
Rever slOpped working on the speech. 

"There's coffee on the counter," Spiegel offered. "But mayhe you want 
lo exereise first." 
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1 walked into the living room thinking about Naomi. Maybe I bad said 
something to her that 1 shouldn't have. 1 continued to think about her as 
we did sit-ups, push-ups, deep knee benda, and praeticed a few karate 
movements. It was a morning ritual. The 20 minutes of exercises were 
usually followed by poliúcal discussion, but today the discussion was 
being waived so that we could concentrate on the demonstraúon. I was 
doing my push-ups next to Nancy Cmara. 1 looked over at her and 
wondered what kind of job we could abare. 1 might get to enjoy tbis life 
after all. There were certain things I decided to leave out of my report lO 

Murrish. He might not understand. 
In the middle of a sit-up, it occurred to me mat 1 bad to call McAI­

pine's and make an excuse for not going to work, and then call Murrish 
to let him know the demonstration was set for 1 o'cIock today. I cut my 
exercises short and went back iOlo the kitehen. 1 poured a cup of coffee 
and told Spiegel that I had to check in with the store. "1 don't want to 
lose any bread." 

Spiegel said there was a pay phone in a bar on tbe corner of the street. 
I told him I'd be right back. My supervisor was furious. 1 told him I had 
a slight recurrence of the malaria 1 had contraeted in Vietnam and had 
to go over to the Veterans Hospital for a shot. I knew he didn't believe 
me, but he did credit me with having an original excuse. Then I put in a 
quick phone call to M urrish. I told him I didn't see anyexplosives in the 
house, so I presumed we weren't going to blow up the ROTC building as 
originally discussed. With the switch in demonstraúon dates, we didn't 
have the time to plan anything violent. Murrish said there would be 
agents watching the demonstration, and to alen hirn if the plans 
changed. 1 made both phone calls in five minutes. I didn't want to be 
gone too long. 

An advance party of five people led by Barry Stein went off to the 
campus at 11 o'dock to pass out literature announcing the demonstra­
tion during the break in dasses. I leh for the campus witb Naomi and 
SpiegeI. We talked about Fred Hampton and the Black Pantber party all 
the way down. 

The activities began with the guerrilla theaterat a quarter to one in 
the lobby of the student union building. Bennett and Karen Bittner were 
in charge of the theater. The idea was to get the students thinking about 
Vietnam and the U .S. suppression so they'd be more recepúve to Mike 
Spiegel's speech. Nobody wore any costumes, but they did have arm 
bands to show if they were the Vietnamese or American soldiers. The 
soldiers carried broom handles for rifles. and the American soMiers 
stormed a Vietnamese village looking for Viet Congo When they didn't 

memo As me massaere carne to an end, Bennett, wearing an arm band 
identifying him as General Ky, strode onto me scene, smiling with ap­
provaI. He bad a rope tied to his arms. Behind Ky, pulling the rope to 
move his arms, was John Harmon, identified as Seeretary of Defense 
Laird. Laird walked over and put his arm around Ky. "Our presidents 
will be proud of us today," he said to Ky. "This village uprising was a 

mreat to your regime. But we put it down." 
"The government will need more money to help restore mis village," 

Ky sai<tsmilingly. 
"We'lI see mat you get it," Laird said. 
The skit was over in 12 minutes. About 50 students had watched from 

beginning to end without comment. Bennett men invited the audience 
to step outside and listen to something that was of vital concern to "all of 

us." 
Outside, we had a group of students gathering. Sorne had come be­

cause of the leaftets mat were passed out, but most of them were either 
going or coming from the student union building. SchaefIer was stationed 
inside the building. As soon as the play ended, he signaled me, and 1 told 
Spiegel. SpiegeI jumped up on the wall in front of the student building. 1 
took a position just in front of him at the base of the wall. 1 was responsi­
ble for keeping anybody from attacking him while he finished his 

speech.
SpiegeI began dramatically. "Yesterday another assassination was 

committed in the United States. Yesterday aman of peace was assassi­
nated by the pigs. Aman who worked for the people was murdered by a 

pig assassination squad."
We had members of the Weathermen and White Panthers scattered 

throughout the crowd. Every so olten they'd lead the audience response 
with shouts of "Right on!" or "Power to the People!" Spiegel was doing 
an excellent jobo If he ever went straight, he could probably run for 
office. "Yesterday it was Chicago, but tomorrow it may be Cincinnati. We 
have to stop the pigs now before they kili us like they murdered Fred 

Hampton."
He eulogized Hampton and made him a symbol of repression around 

t
• me world. The other Weathermen and White Panthers played their parts 

well. They cheered at the right time; they hissed at the mention of the 
Chicago pigs. A stranger viewing the demonstration would say Spiegel 
was succeeding in generating true student unrest, that the crowd was 

f;.r turning into a violent mob. However, in reality, most of the support was 

j coming from our own people scattered in the crowd, not the students. 
1 was moving my arms around to keep warm. 1 noticed a big burly guy 

~find any, they rnassacred all the villagers, induding women and children. moving about in the crowd, and 1 kept my eyes on him. He moved from 
The more the villagers protested, the faster the American soldiers killed the back, through to the front, and then went to the back again. He 
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didn't say anything. He was just watehing and listening. Halfway 
through the speech, the crowd had grown to about 100. lt was a good 
turnout. Two Cincinnati plainclothes cops watehed the whole thing from 
the steps of the student union building. They tried to be unobtrusive, 
but they didn't succt;ed. 

As Spiegel's speech drew near its conclusion, Eddie Schaefler opened 
a sack and passed out cans of spray paint. Sorne of us already had the 
cans in our pockets. When Spiegel finished, he threw bis fist hillhintothe 
air and leaped off the wall. He ran over the bridF and down the path 
toward the ROTC building. The other Weathermen and White Panthers 
took off after him. 1 hung back for a few minutes to see who was follow­
ing. The cops stayed on the building steps, and 1 lost tracl~.  of the burly 
guy who had been moving around in the crowd. About half of the 
students who had listened to the speech joined in, but it seerned that 
they were just curious to see where we were going. 1 ran after Spiegel. 

We passed other buildings shouting, "The VC are gonna winl" and 
"Up the Revolution!" Spiegel led the mob right to the ROTe building. 
He was the first to start painting a slogan on the red brick. walls of the 
building. Many people looked out from inside the building, but the front 
door never opened. 1 was half afraid that Spiegel had a súck of dynamite 
with him, but he didn't. He seerned content with painting slogans. The 
attack took about three minutes. Then we split. running in different 
directions. 

Later, we all gathered in the living room at the house on Hollister 
Street to review the action. 

"We weren't violent enough." 
"The guerrilla theater dragged too much." 
"Not enough students took part in the action." 
Naomi said we weren't capitalizing on local campus issues enough. We 

had to take advantage of aH rifts between the college adrninisuation and 
the students, the students and the city, or the city and the college. "U we 
don't have an issue, we'll have to create one." 

As we were discussing the action, Stein carne upstairs from ~he  hallway 
and whispered something to Bennett. 1 watched Bennett go over to the 
doorway with Stein. Standing there was the girl Mary 1 had met in the 
school cafeteria after the first demonstration. 1 heard Bennett telling 
Stein that "this should never be aHowed." Stein was nodding in agree­
ment while clairning that he had nothing to do with it. Bennett opened 
the door and looked out, dosed it again, and turned into the living room 
toward me. 

He motioned for me to come out into the hall. 1 got up and joined the 
conversation. He started to introduce me to Mary, but 1 said l'd already 
met her with Stein about two rnonths ago. Mary evidently had been 
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hanging around the Weathermen because she seemed lo know every­
body by name. 

"Mary's made a serious mistake," Bennett said lo me. "She brought 
I~ sorne guy along with her. Mary claims he's a Vietnam vet and disgusted 

with the system." 
"1 don'tclaim, he is," Mary said stfongly. 
"AH right. He is," Benediet answered. "Anyway, since he's here, we're 

going to ask him up to talk, but 1 want you, Larry, and Stein to see him. 
Give us a few seconds before you bring him up, Mary." 

She agreed and disappeared out the door. 
Bennett went into the living room and broke up the meeting. Every­

body was free to do anything they had too Bennett, Spiegel, Harmon, 
and Karen Bittner went upstairs to talk more about the action on a 
councillevel. Naomi stayed in the living room. 1 sat on the floor, and 
Stein flopped in one of the old chairs. 

Mary brought the guy into the room. It was the same burly guy who 
had moved through the crowd in front of the student union building. 
But now, up close, he was older than he'd appeared before. He was in his 
late 20s, possibly even 30. 

We started rapping about Vietnam. He had served two tours, he said, 
before he got fed up with the entire system: the army and the country. 
He was back in the states only six months, and this was his first semester 
in school. 

He believed in what the Weathermen stood for and wanted to be part 
of the demonstrations. "Except 1 wouldn't have stopped at painting the 
ROTC building," he said. "1 would have blown it up." 

He was coming on strong, which was good. Naomi was listening very 
carefuHy to him and to my questions. Stein asked him many of the same 
questions he had grilled me on. 

The guy had been in Vietnam aH right. 1 even knew his outfit. In fact, 
his hair was still growing out from a crew cut that he once hado Most of 
his references to battles and incidents in Nam were from 1965, when 1 
was there. Mary remained very quiet during our talk. 

After awhile, Arlo Jacobs carne in and joined uso He asked a few "• 
i questions, but most of the work was left up to me. 1 wondered why 

they'd trust this assignment to me, but decided to take them at face 
value. This guy was a vet and so was 1; therefore, we might have some­
thing in common. 1 began to like him. He evidently had read sorne of the 
literature the Weathermen gave out. He was very familiar with Fire. Was 
he too familiar? It occurred to me that the guy might be a plant to see if 1 
gave anything away to him that 1 did't teH the others. 1 dweHed on this 
for a moment, then dismissed it.l went around with him again on certain 
points. He knew Cincinnati better than 1 did, yet he had been in the city 
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only about six months. After a half hour, 1 made an excuse to leave the 
room. 1 motioned for Naomi to follow me, and we went upstairs to 
where Rennett was still conducting a leadership meeting. 

1 think Rennen had forgotten about the guy downstairs, because he 
hesitated a moment when 1 interrupted his conversation to talk about 
Mary's friendo 

"What do you think?" Bennen asked. "Mary says he's a good man." 
1 waited a moment before answering. "He's a pig." 
Everybody looked at me in disbelief. 
"You sure?" Bennen snapped. 
"As sure as 1 am that you're Weathermen." 
"How do you know?" Harmon asked. 
"The way he answered questions about Cincinnati, for one. He's prob­

ably a vice cop that they pulled off assignments to get in with us." After 1 
said this, 1 added: "1 ran into a lot of those creeps when 1 was a kid." 

"Second, he was in Nam in '65 in a military police oudit. I'm willing to 
bet he was a cop before he went iOlo the army. His story just doesn't fit." 
1 wasn't absolutely sure he was a cop, but 1 was positive that he was a 
plant, which meant Mary had to be one, too. 1 tried to figure out what 
Sergeant Berry was trying to pullo Maybe Berry never believed my story. 

Spiegel, who hadn't said anything until now, got up off the mattress. 
"Let's stomp the f ," he said. "Let's stomp him the same way we 
took care of that cop in Chicago." 

"No, that won't do," Bennen said. "He can't hurt uso But if we stomp 
him, we'll have all the cops in the city in here within an hour. We got 
away with it in Chicago because we were just passing through. We'll just 
have to get rid of him." 

"What about Mary?" Naomi asked. 
"Maybe she didn't know," 1 said. 
"She had to know," Bennen insisted. 
"Corky's right," Spiegel said. "We'll have to cut Mary off too. How 

much does she know?" 
Everybody shrugged. Mary had been hanging around for sorne time, 

but today was her first visit to the house. She must have been getting as 
frustrated as 1 was, 1 thought. That poor guy downstairs probably talked 
her into coming up here to bluff it out. 

"Mary has to be taught a lesson," Spiegel said. "We have to set her up 
as an example." 

"True," Bennen said, "but we don't have to decide that now. The time 
will come to take care of her." 

Bennen started downstairs. 
'TU get them out. But 1 want it passed around about Mary." Before he 

went down the stairs, he turned to me.. 
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"Thanks, Larry," he said. 
Spiegel followed Bennett down the steps. 1 was worried for Mary's 

safety. When the time carne that they could get political propaganda 
from harming her, they'd do so. She was probably safe until then, espe­
cially since she didn't really know very much about the organization. 

I had to get to Murrish so that he could warn the plant and Mary. I 
also wanted him lo find out what Sergeant Berry was up too Jesus Christ, 
1 thought, Berry could end up getting me killed. 

81 



B.� 
Wa, Council� 
Preparation� 

For most people, the Christmas season sparks a spirit of brotherhood, 
but for the Weathermen the month of December meant planning for the 
National War Council in Flint, Michigan. The conference was scheduled 
to be held from December 26 lO 31. 

1 had heard about the war council, but 1 wasn't fully aware of its 
ramifications until a meeting on December 9. It was on that same day 
that Naomi told me I'd been moved u from the suixollective lO full 
co eCUve status. 1 believe Mary and her friend had a lot to do with my 
advancement. When I turned the guy in as a pig, my reputation grew. 

My duties as a member of the suixollective were menial, anyway, and 
I'd been complaining to Bennett about them since first being assigned to 
the house on Vine Street. AII 1did was answer the phone, deliver mes­
sages, and ron back and forth to the store. 1 was supposedly ripping off 
food or spray-paint cans, but in fact 1 was paying for the goods from my 
paycheck. 

Now 1 was upgraded in rank and assigned to the high school collective 
with Ray Lansing. Hal Lincoln, and Annie Walton. Naomi was the sec­
ondary leadership for this group. so 1 was sure she had something to do 
with my assignment. Karen Bittner was the primary leader. The high 
school colleetive. it was explained to me, concentrated its activities on 
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high school students. We hung around the schoolyards during the lunch 
break and after school, rapping with kids. Our opening piteh to male 
studenta usuaUy focused on Vietnam: "Why should you be facing death 
in a country you know so litde about?" We took. a Woman's Liberation 
attaek for the females: "Why should you earn less w hen you graduate?" 

By penonalizing the approach. we got the kids lO listen to uso Then 
we'd re them cop~s  of our newspaper, Fire. or other pamphlets such 
as reprints of an interview with an 18-year-old American who spent 
three yean in Red China. I tried to picture my brother joey listening to 
this leftist pitch. I was sure he wouldn't pay any attention to me unless I 
had an endonement from johnny Bench.t The bisJa JChooI collective concentrated on four schools: each one was .... 

Mi 
.". given a code name so we could discuss the area freely without worrying 

1 
~  about lIODlebody listening to uso Our primary targets were N orth College 

HiII HitIh Sc:hooI, caJled "Rose"; College Hill, named "Throne"; With­
= row HiIh School, known as "Bagle"; and Walnut Hills High School. 

referred ID as NLox." 
AIthoup my primary duties lay with the high school group, 1 Was also 

toId chat from time lO time I would be called on to help members of the 
street coDective in recruiting greasers and college students. The greas­
en, or JDembers of motoreyele or juvenile gangs, were considered prime 
cartdidau:s for the revolution because of their antiestablishment 
seMimema. 

The nipt I was promoted, Bennett announced that everyone should 
be prepared ID spend the end of the month in Flint, Michigan at the 
National War Council. 

As a member of the subcollective, it had been my job that afternoon to 
SO dowg te che Greyhound bus terminal and pick up the shipment of 
DSJ'IIPpsn. In theory. Fire was printed twice a month at the SDS offices 
on Wgt Mad_o Street in Chicago and shipped out lO all collectives 
3CI'O!D~.However, we never seemed to get two issues a month. 

ment for New Left Notes. the orilrinal Dublication of 
~When  theWeathermen took over SDS in june, they wanted a more 
inftammalOry format for the "revolutionary newspaper," and a tide that 
lit the new thrust of the organization. Thus. The Fire Nat TillK was 
boro. Fir~ was afliliated with Underground Press Syndicate and Libera­
tjgn Ncws §Sryice. two organizations that sent material to 100 or more 
undcrground ncwspapers in the United States. Most of these were pub­
lished ncar majar universities. 

Fire was important to us because it kept us informed about happen­
ings in other collectives and served as a constant reminder of our mis­
sion: revolution. In addition to the inflammatory news geared to provok­
ing violent action, FiTt frequendy ran. articles concerning guerrilla 
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organizations in other countries. The issue that Bennett was holding 
contained the second of a two-part series on the Arab guerrillas' fight 
against the Zionist Jews for Palestioc. Accordinll 10 the anide. Israel was 
a "colonial-type ~reature  imposed by forces outside abe area" and the 
jewish masses "are being led by Zionism toward another disaster." 

Ouring the meeting, Bennett used Fire as a visual aid for bis inspira­
tional talk about the war council. "Why are w.e goinll lO F1int?" he asked 
rhetorically. "Because it's time for aetionl" As he went on, bis speech 
became more violent. Of course, it wu easy lO talk about something that 
was going to take place in Flint, but when it came lO makinll a decision on 
a specific violent action, Bennett alwa~  hesitated, which was lO the ad­
vantage of Cincinnati and the university. Other dties weren't so lucky. In 
the last two days, fire OOmbs had exploded at.Rutgers University in New 
jersey and at Sam Houston State University in Texas. 

FinaHy, Bennett reached the dramatic cIimax of his talk. He scooped 
up a newspaper frorn the pile, holding it out so we could see the front 
page. A photograph of a marching mob was in the corner on the left. A 
drawing of a machine gun was on the right. The headline was a call to 
arms: "DURING THE 1960s THE AMERICAN GOVERNMENT WAS 
ON TRIAL FOR CRIMES AGAINST THE PEOPLE OF THE 
WORLD. WE NOW FINO THE GOVERNMENT eUILTY AND SEN­
TENCE IT TO DEATH IN THE STREETS:' 

He turned the newspaper around and looked down at the page. 
"That's what Flint is aH aOOut," he said. 

"Right on!" carne the response. 
A lengthy discussion followed. These discussions bored me, but within 

the Weatherman operational framework they were very important. With 
each discussion you reiterated your political philosophy, thus reaffirm­
ing your commitment to revoluÚon. The general consensus was that the 
Weathermen had come a long way since they split from SDS inJune, but 
the war council was needed to organize a greater national direction for 
the movement. 

When the speeches were over, we got down to the mundane aspects of 
preparing for the revolutionary council: who was in charge of closing 
the houses, how many cars we would need to get there, what we should 
take with uS. I got the first job: to make sure both houses were closed and 
that nothing incriminating was left behind. 

The formal meeting broke up around lO o'cIock, but most of us sat 
around and continued to talk. I was rapping with Ray Lansing and Hal 

Lincoln was referring to a story in FiTt about a 16-year-old contact at a 
collecúve in Boston. In November the Boston police had busted 24 
Weathermen on charges of conspiracy 10 murder after a sniping attack 
on a Cambridge police staúon. One of the individuals arrested was a 
16-year-old kid named jimmy who was associated with the Weathermen, 
although he wasn't a member of the organizaúon. 

According to the Boston police, jimmy's tesúmony against the Weath­
ermen linked them to sniping. The article reported that jimmy was held 
in "protecúve eustody" for two weeks, during which úme he was beaten 
and bribed. But once on the witness stand, jimmy turned against the 
police, c1aiming they had beaten him unúl he'd agreed to tesúfy against 
the Weathermen. Sitúng in the courtroom, he pointed to four police­
men, saying: ''Those four pigs beat me. That big fat one. He put them 
up to it." 

jimmy was a temporary hero in Weatherman circles. "Goddamn pigs 
can't even win a frame-up," Lincoln laughed. "U we got more kids like 
that, we can't lose." 

I was sure the story was being told for my benefit. They didn't want 
me to think 1 was wasúng my Úme trying to recruit 16- and 17-year-old 
kids. 1 found it hard to believe that we could get many high school kids 
who were devoted to poliúcs. 

About midnight, 1 excused myself from the discussions and went to 
bed. 1 was súll holding down the job at McAlpine's, although it was 
becoming more difficult. The next morning when 1 got to work, 1 called 
Murrish and made an appointment to see him at his office that night. 
Murrish was interested in my new status in the collecúve. 

1 used the phone booth near the loading platform. When 1 pulled 
open the door and started back to the working area, 1 noticed that 
Tommy Cash had been watching me. As 1 got back to the platform, he 
said: "You dealing in numbers? Or pushin' grass or something?" 

"What are you talking about?" 

I 

"Christ, Grathwohl, you're always on the phone. So either you're a nut 
about telephone booths or you've got something goin'." 1 made a mental 
note to be more carefu!. 1 wasn't worrying about Tommy, but 1 didn't 
want to sÚr up any curiosity around the coIlecúve. 1 thought about 
calling Murrish back and changing our meeúng arrangments, but 1 de­
cided against it because 1didn't want to act paranoid. 

A car puIled in for a pick-up. After we loaded it, Tommy began 
talking about the Super Bowl game, and he never returned to my phonet 

'1' habits. 
Lincoln about the high school collective. They considered it extremely 1 met with Murrish that night for about an hour. 1 filled him in on our 
important that a solid foundation be built with the young people. plans to attend the war counci!. It was a pretty rouúne meeting as far as 1 

"Those kids understand more than you think:' Lincoln said. He was was concerned, although he did caution me about being more careful 
sitting on the floor with his back restÍng against the sofa. "The kids can now that l was considered a full-ftedged member of the Weathermen. 
be loyal to the movement. Look at that 1Ud, jimmy, up in Boston." 
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He didn't want me to be leading any of the aetivities. 
I smoked the last two cigarettes in my pack during the meeting. After 

Iíghting up the last one, I rolled the pack into a tight little ball and tossed 
it into Murrish's wastebasket. 

"You smoke too much," he said. 
I agreed with -him, but at the same time I was trying to think of a place 

to buy another pack. Then I remembered the newsstand in the lobby. 
When I said good-bye, I hurried out lo the elevalor. Once in the lobby, I 
turned toward the newsstand. When I was about five feet away from it, I 
spotted Joyce Green standing to one sirle looking through a magazine. 

My first impulse was to turn around and walk out. Maybe she hadn't 
seen me. But what if she had? What if she'd been assigned to follow me? 
I couldn't take the chance of leaving abruptly. I kept walking toward the 
stand. Joyce didn't look up from the magazine, so I nudged her. She 
actually seemed surprised when she saw me. She also seemed embar­
rassed. Then I noticed that the magazine she was reading was 
CosT1Wpolitan. 

I ordered two packs of Marlboros and asked Joyce if she wanted 
anything. She refused. My mind was racing with excuses for rny being in 
the building. Then it carne to me-malaria. 

"The government is still screwing me," I said. "They make it hard as 
hell for me to get treatrnent for the malaria I got in Vietnam, and every 
once in a while I get a relapse. When Ido, I usually go to the Veterans 
Hospital for treatment. No sense in paying for it myself. But they got 
sorne of my papers fouled up, so I had to come down here to straighten 
it out." 

Joyce thought it was wild that I was ripping off the governrnent. On 
rny way out, I had a ridiculous thought. Was Joyce working for the FBI, 
too? No. Not Joyce. 

I was a little apprehensive for the next few days, but nobody ques­
tioned me about being in the Federal Building. During the weeks after 
that, I took a few days off from McAlpine's so that I could work the high 
school areas with Annie Gordon and Naomi. I had to pretend to be 
excited about rny new assignmeOl. 

They decided to break me in at North College HiII High School. We 
went out to the area just before lunch. I had a stack of newspapers with 
me. As the students carne out for the break, we started rapping with 
them. I was surprised at the number who were curious or politically 
aware enough to talk to uso 

We hung around the school until the kids were released at 3 P.M. and 
followed sorne of them down to a small drugstore. Annie did most of the 
talking_ If she was talking to the boys, she warned them they'd be fight­
ing a useless war for the benefit of Nixon. "You'lI stake your life so he 
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can get richer," she said. In talking lO girls, she stressed woman's equal­
ity. "When you graduate, why shouldn't you have as many opportunities 
as the bays?" 

The nexl day we went back to the same area. We rapped with the kids 
who carne out during the lunch periodo Al one time we aetually had a 
crowd of abaut 15 Iistening to uso We gave each one a copy of Fire. We 
didn't keep their auention too long, but I blamed that partially on the 
cold weather. You can't concentrate on Ché Guevara if your feet are 
getting cold. 

As our smaIl group was breaking up, a police squad car pulled up to 
the curb with a sudden halt. A cop threw open the door and hopped out. 

"AII right," he demanded, "what's going on?" 
The other cop got out of the car a liule more slowly, walked around to 

the back fender and stood watching uso His hand was on his hipo 
The first cop grabbed a newspaper from my hand. "What's this crap?" 
"Have one," I said. "They're only a quarter." 
"Don't be a wise ass." He looked at the newspaper, then crumbled it up 

in his hand. He looked at all of us, then gave us an order: "Move on. And 
I don't want to see you handing out this crap around here again. You 
understand me?" 

Annie turned lo me. "Let's go," she said. "We don't want any trouble." 
"That's the right idea, Miss. Keep thinking that way, and you'lI be all 

right." 
We left and headed for Walnut Hill High School. We went to a smaIl 

pizza shop near the school to wait for the kids to start f10cking in. We 
took a booth near the front window. It felt good to be in out of the cold. I 
had been fairly quiet most of the day, for which I was criticized while we 
were waiting. I had to be more aggressive, I was told. As the kids began 
coming iOlo the pizza shop, Anne saw a few she knew and went over to 
talk lo them. Soon she was back at the tableo A few minutes later a tall 
thin boy walked in, saw Anne, and carne over to the table. He looked lost 
in the crowd. Anne invited him to sit down. 

His name was Tom Udall. He was a senior, but he was only 16 years 
old. He was advanced intellectually, but not physically, and from all 
appearances he seemed out of place socially. He was very aware of 
current events and was fascinated when Anne explained my background 
to him. I could see I had an admirer. 

After a while another two boys joined us, and we rapped about Viet­
nam. I told them about my war experiences, and they listened atten­
tively. They were both seniors and were facing the draft if they couldn't 
stay in coIlege long enough to avoid it. 

As we talked, one of the two women who owned the pizza shop kept 
coming by the tableo Both of the women were in their 50s. One worked 
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at the cash register near the front door. while the o&:ber served as a 
waitress. Evidently the one who acted as a waitress was listening lo our 
conversation. FinalIy she went over and whispered lO &:be woman al the 
cash register. They ooth looked back at Our rabie. 

1 watched them talk. for a few seconds. Then &:be woman at the cash 
register came out froro behind the counter. and &:bey both walked over lO 
our table. 

"We're going to ask. you to leave:' the cash regisaer lady said lO uSo 
"What did we do?" 1 asked. 
The waitress could hardly wait to tel1 me. "You're corrupting these 

children, that's what you're doing," she said. She was breathing heavily, 
and her voice was cracking from restraint. 

The other wbman was much calmer, but just as determined. "We 
don't wanl to make a scene," she said, "but if you don't leave. we're going 
to calI the police." 

Two run-ins with the police in one day was too much for me to 
endure. 1 agreed to leave; Just then Udal1 objeeted. 

"They don't have to leave if they don't want too This is supposed to be 
a free country." 

His sudden outburst stopped the women for a momento "They're 
turning your head with their garbage, young man," the waitress said. 
"Go over with the people your own age." 

Udal1 was going to object again, but Anne Walton stopped him. "It's 
aH right, TOIll," she said. "They can keep us out, but they can't keep our 
ideas out." Anne then made a brief political speech about the repression 
of ideas, and then we leh before the cashier had time to call the police. 

We discussed the incident on the way back to the house. Anne was 
extremely upset. By now others hado joined io. Mike Spiegel said sorne 
sort of action was necessary against the owners of the shop. "If two old 
women can chase us away, how the hell are these kids going to believe us 
about the revolution?" From Spiegel's point of view, he was right. The 
incident was humiliating. 

We decided to return to the shop and paint slogans on the windows 
and walls of the building. The action was mildo yet would demonstrate to 
the students that we wouldn't let the two women get away with rebuking 
uso Anne and 1 were selected to return. As we went off to the pizza shop. 
the others took off for the campus. We had actioos 00 two froots. 

Our night actioos were iocreasing, although tbey were confined to 
painting slogans and breaking windows. Our maio target was the ROTe 
building. As soon as they scrubbed the paint off, we put it back oo. 

As the month wore away and we got doser to the council meeting, our 
discussions on the importance of a national conference increased. These 
discussions always included a review of our preparations. Our main 
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obstacle was money. We had to transport 14 to 17 people, not counting a 
few contaets. 1offered money from my paycheck. Bennett used this as an 
example of true comradeship. The possibility of robbing a bank was 
brought up, but dismissed. It was felt that, lo rob a bank. we would need 
professional outside help, which would be unwisc at the present time. 

Bennetl wanted to go over the specifié arrangements, so we planned to 
meet at the Student Union Building at about 8 o'dock. 1 was tired of 
sitting around the house. so 1 said 1was going over to Calhoun Street to 
rap with sorne students. Barry Stein said he would come with me. Since 1 
didn't have anything planned, 1didn't mind. We picked up a few copies 
of Fiu and left. 

As we got a few blocks from the house, 1 discovered 1 needed 
cigarettes. 

"Christ, Grathwohl, you're going to turn into a weed," Stein said. 
There was a small neighborhood bar on the corner where 1 had 

stopped a few times before for cigarettes. My prior visits were made in 
the afternoon when only a few of the regular patrons were in the place. 

1 gave my stack of newspapers to Stein and told him I'd be right out. 
The long bar was fairly crowded, and off to one side four young toughs 
were shooting pool on a coin-operated table. One of the guys watched 
me as 1carne in through the door. 1 knew he was staring at my long hair 
and new growth of beard. The cigarette machine was to the right of the 
door. 1searched through my pockets but couldn't find any change. 1 had 
to squeeze past two of the guys who were shooting pool because they 
were blocking the aisle. 

"Excuse me;' 1 said as 1 brushed by.� 
"Ain't that something," one of them said. "jesus Christ sure is polite."� 
"Aw, Chuck, that's not really jesus Christ, is it?"� 
"Who else could it be?"� 
The remarks brought a few murmurs of laughter from sorne of the� 

other patroos, but 1 ignored them. 1 handed the bartender the dollar bill 
and asked for change for the cigarette machine. He grabbed it from my 
hand and ftipped the coios onto the bar. 

~  As 1 was picking up the coins, 1heard the four guys starting to argue. 1 
t turned around and saw one of the guys holding a copy of Fire. Barry 

Stein was standing in front of him. 
"What's this crap?" the guy said. He walked over lo the bar, grabbed 

his beer, and downed half the glass. 
1 started back up the aisle and bumped ioto the guy who had just 

finished his heer. "Watch it, man," he said. 
"Let's get out of here," 1 said to Stein. 1 pushed Stein forward, and he 

opened the door, letting in a cold blast of airo 
"At least we got sorne clean air in here," Chuck shouted aftcr USo 
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1 stopped. 1 had come in for cigarettes, and 1 was going lo Ft them. 
''1'11 be right with you," 1 said to Stein, and turned toward the machine. 1 
dropped the coins into the machine and reached down to pidt up the 
cigarettes. Whel1 1 straightened up, the guy named Chuck was holding 
out the crurnpled newspaper. "Take this shit with you. We don't need 
any goddamn hippie newspapers in herc.", 

1 pushed by and walked to the door. When 1 opened it, 1 felt a sharp 
thud on the back of my head. It sent me spinning forward. My left foot 
got caught on the door jarnb, and 1 ended up lying out 00 the sidcwalk. 
near the curb. I saw Stein out of the comer of my cye, Ioolting on in 
amazement. Then Chuck started walking toward me. He was ripping up 
the newspaper. "1 told you to take this crap with you," he said. 

1 stayed down on one knee but c1inched up rny fist and shifted my 
weight forward so I could spring up. When Chuck was about a foot in 
front of me, he began dropping the torn-up newspaper on my hcad. 1 
brought my fist up as hard as 1 could and hammered Chuck in the balls. 
He let out a horrible scream as he slumped to the ground. 

"Let's get the hell out of here," I yelled at Stein. We ran down the 
street and around the cornero We didn't stop running until we reached 
the colIege campus. And neither one of us looked back. 

We were both panting hard as we went into the student union build­
ing. Our meeting was in a small room on the second floor. As soon as we 
went through the door, Stein told everybody what had happened. 1 
guessed it was the first street fight Stein had ever secn. He was im­
pressed, and so were the others. 

1 slumped down in one of the chairs, and Naomi carne over behind 
me. She touched the back of my head very gently. "You sure you're all 
right?" she asked. 

"Sure." 
Then she pulIed her hand away. "You won't be any good to us if you 

end up in the hospital," she said. 
Everybody kidded me a little longer ahout the fight, then we settled 

down to discussing our preparations for the war council. Bennett con­
ducted the meeting. He spoke to me first. 

"Are hoth houses ready to be lacked up, Larry?" 
"just about. 1 have the books and newspapers packed in cardboard 

boxes. I'm going to stash them in a lacker at the Greyhound TerminaL" 
"Okay. But just make sure you're not followed when you go down­

town. How about the cars?" 
"We'lI have about 17 people going with us, so we'll need three can." 
"Who's getting the cars?" 
"1 am," Stein said. "We have yours," he said to Bennett. "Although the 

reverend said we could use his station wagon if we leh OUT car with him." 
"We'lI have to think about that," Bennett said. 
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The reverend was a minister in Cincinnati who was sympathetic to the 
Weathcrmen movement. I had seen him only once, but he frequently 
gave us moncy, in addition to lending us his caro Spicgel also got money 
from a Quaker group in town lO help us continue our protest against the 
war, although 1 was sure they didn't realize the scope of our movemeOl. 

"Tom Udall said we could borrow one of his parents' cars," I added. 
Bennett was pleased. "That kid's a good contact." 
"Do we have enough bread?" Bennettasked. 
Naomi answered him. "It's being taken care of. We don't need mucho 

A church in F1int is letting us use its parish school. AII we have to do is 
bring our sleeping bags." 

Bennett reminded us to impress on everybody that grass, acid, and 
smack were prohibited. "Larry, this is one of your duties. I want you to 
stress the fact that no grass is to be carried. And that means everybody." 

1 know he was particularly worried about Schaeffer bringing some­
thing with him, although he didn't single him out. 

"The pigs wiII be watching us very c1osely," Bennett continued, "and I 
don't want any of us getting busted on a ridiculous drug charge. 

"One other thing. No talking to the press. If they show up, we'lI have 
official statements prepared. BiII Ayers is National Education secretary, 
and he'lI handle all communications with the press." 

We got into a general discussion again about why the national council 
meeting was important. "The couneil should meld us into a cohesive 
national movement," Spiegel said. "Up to now our effectiveness has been 
impaired because we've been fragmented." 

When we broke up about 10 o'dock, Naomi carne over to me. "1 have 
to talk to you," she said. 

"1 was just going to ask you if you wanted something to eat. We can go 
down to the Gold Star." 

"Good. I'm hungry." 
The night seemed colder as we stepped out of the building. The sky 

was bright with stars. and we could see our breath in front of uso Naomi 
and I strolled across campus. She didn't talk for awhile, but as we got 
nearer the other end, she reached out and tugged at my armo "Wait a 
minute, Larry. I want to telI you something." 

1 stopped and turoed toward her. 
"You know," she said, "we're al1 committed to the movement." 
"1 know." 
"1 mean, we have to do things sornetimes to benefit the movement, 

even though we may not want to do them. My whole life has been built 
around the revolution. My parents dedicated their lives to the move­
ment, but they did it all wrong. They were too soft. We can turo this iOlo 
a great socialistic country. Larry." 

I took my hands out of my pocket, cupped them under my mouth, 
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and blew on them. She reached up and placed her gloved hands over 
mine. "This will keep you warm a minute. l'm sorry 1 got a little carried 
a"lay. But 1 want you to understand." WANTED

"U nderstand "lhat?" 
"1 want you to understand why 1 do things. You've been involved "lith 

us for ol1ly a few months. But the movement has been my whole life. 
And most of the others have been working for one goal for yeal's. 

"1 think you're dcdicated, Larry. We all do. You don't utilize YOUT 
lcadcrship qualities properly, but you're becoming one of uso However, I 
think you still cling to some of your middle-class ideas." 1 started to 
p.'otest, but she interrupted me. "You may not even realize it, but you 
do. YOUI' relationship with me for one. We sleep together, Larry, but it 
docsn't mean anything, lt can't. We can't think of ourselves. We have to 
consider the overall good, and monogamy is bad. You can't work for the 
,vhole if you're too involved with one person." 

I ...vas anxious to know what she was Icading up to. 
''I'm sermonizing again. I'm sorry. I'll get right to the point. BiH Mil· 

ton and I are getting married." 
I pulled back and looked at her. I couldn't believe it. "1 don't under­

stand. You just got finished saying...." She cut me short again. 
"!t's for the movemcnt," she said. "Wc need money. And we neeo 

another cal". l'vfilton's parents are anxious to get him man'ied and away 
r.'om the movement. They're so anxious, they'll do anything. Give him 
anything. !t's an easy-rip-off, Lan-y. That's all it is." 

I stooo looking at her, dumbfoundcd. 
"1 kllcw Y0l! wouldn't undel·stand. That's why I wanted to teH you. No 

one has nlentioned our rnarriage because to us it doesn't mean anything. 
!t's just a way to get sorne bread." She turned and started walking away. 
Thcn she stopped again and turned toward me. "This won't changc 
allything between us," she said. Then she walked briskly a"lay. "Come 
on," shc saiel. "I'm hungry. 

Naomi leh for Cleveland the next day to meet her new in-Ia"ls. I "lent 
home to visit my rnother and tell her I couldn't be home for ChristInas. 

for e ri mes against
the people 

LARRY GRATHWOHL� 
ALIlIS: 'fOol NEllMllN 

GRATlllOlL 111IS BErn 
1mn'IFIED BY lo/FA'IllER­
\oOW-l LlNDA EVJIl'IS 
lIS A PIG INFILTRA'IDR. 
EUSIED DI ¡ID~  YORK 
WInl LINllI\, HE .lI\S 
MIEDI1\Tl::LY RJ-:ILlIsm 
00 O. R. HE II1IS LIVrn 
IN CDILFCTIVES IN 
NEW YORK, NEW III\VEN 
l\ND CINCrnN1\TI1. 
TliURSDIIY M::l!'NIN; ¡lE 
~ UP IN BERKELEY. 

Cl\t1r1CIN: 

nlIS N/IN 1S !:lIII'GElUJS. 
IlE I\lM:.CATID 'IllE USE CF 
EYPWSIVFS l\ND FIRFl\W.<; 
l\¿'ID 15 J<lO'l'l 'ID BE 1\ 
IlrAVY USER C1F SPUD. 

This "wanted" poster lor Larry Grathwohl was circulated by the Weather Under­
ground. Copies were seized by FBI agents in a raid in the San Francisco Bay area. 
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Q,ffi: 

12<) lb::-. 

Mark Rudd, NataJie Rosenstein, and unknown person (1. to r.) 
Bernardine Dohrn. Photos show how she alterad her 
appearance on different occasions. 

Naomi Jaffee, Grathwohl's girl friend during his underground 
days. 

Judy Clark (l.) and Kathy Boudin. 
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bn. 
.,~,  ;-:, 

23/l~6  

, , O" , 150 lbs. 
.. 

~ rOW:1 :..{ S~eerl 

John Buttny, Mike Spiegel and Jeff Jones (1. te r.). Howard Machtinger. 

Bi" Ayers (face te camera). Jane Alpert. 
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Bombed police station, San Francisco. 
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9.� 
The CouncilMeets� 

When 1 arrivcd home, [IIY molher slared al me. "Von nced a haircul,"' 
shc said. Then she kissed me on lhe check ... AmI sha"e oH" lhac horrible 
bcard." 

1 hugged her and lold her lhal 1 had lO lcavc righl away. 1 could scc 
lhe shock in her e)'es. She didlÚ Sil)' an)'lhing righl away, bUl 1 kncw hol\' 
deeply 1 had hun her. 

"The only Chrisllnas \Ve mi~sed logelher ",as whcn )'OU ",ere in Viel­
nam," shc said. "1 cried and prayed lhen. BUl why do you have LO lean; 
hO[ll(' now? What are you doing lhal you calú be ",ilh YOllr famil\' al 
Chrislmas?" 

Thcre wasn'l much 1 could sayo 1 poinled lO lhe Christmas presenls 1 
had broughl home wilh me. 11 was hanl 10 say good-bye. 

Then 1 ,,'cm 10 sec Donna. She lhoughl whal 1 "'as doing was crazy. 
Fonunillcly Don was lhere, lOO, and hc gavc me sorne moral SUpporl. He 
also ga\'e me $50 and said he ",ould lake care of Donna. He proll1ised LO 

gel mc more money if 1 needed it. 
A shon lime laler 1 piled ¡ntn a 1964 Che","y ",ilh BenediCl illld four 

olhers. 11 ,,'as anolher long, cokl lrip. Thc healers in our cars 11e \'('1" 

seemcd lo work, so ",hen ,,'e arrived in Flinllhe da)' aflcr ChriSlmas wc 
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were beato We drove to the Catholic school where we were being allowed 
to stay. It was closed for the holidays, and we found two U-haul vans in 
the schoolyard w hen we arrived. They had been rented by the Seattle 
collective, which used them as sleeping quarters during tite trip. There 
were cars from otber states: California, New York, Illinois, Massachu­
setts, Maryland, Colorado, and Pennsylvania. 

Inside the school, the various collectives were assigned to diflerent 
dassrooms. In ours, the desks were piled along the waUs 10 we could 
spread our sleeping bags on the 800r. Naomi was already mere, rapping 
with a group from Boston. I was glad to sce her and her friends. They 
had a large box of peanut butter cracken and a case of Coke. That was 
our dinner. 

Before we went to sleep, Bennett gave each of us a pass to the confer­
ence identifying us as members of the Cincinnati coUective. Contaets 
were given passes identifying them as friends, but they would have to be 
accompanied by one of the Weathermen to get in. The conference itself 
was set up on an informal schedule that depended on small group rap 
sessions that would cover specific topies. And while most memben of the 
Weather Bureau were scheduled to address the assembly, no specific 
times were established. 

The meeting took place in an old ballroom in Flint. Its decorations 
were somber. 

A large papier-miiché gun hung down from the ceiling, its crooked 
barrel pointing down at a photograph of President Nixon. A s1ight draft 
circulating around the hall twisted the photograph SO that it appeared lo 
be trying to escape from the barrel of the machine gun. It was an eerie 
sight. 

One wall was covered with a montage of black and red posten of Fred 
Hampton, the slain Illinois Black Panther leader, designed to form the 
words "Live Like Him." The rest of the hall was decorated with banners, 
posters, and photographs of Eldridge Cleaver, Fidel Castro, Malcolm X, 
Ho Chi Minh, and Ché Guevara. Minh and Guevara were the patron 
saints of the Weathermen. They probabiy receive<i more aduJation tban 
most Catholics give St. Joseph and Sto Anthony. lE eitlter one had a 
higher place in the Weatherman litan! of revolutionary heroe, it 
wasg:uevara. so it was not surprising that bis bearded face watehed over 

t'Jie oup-from all angles of the ballroom. 
Rock music blared over the loudspeaker system as the hall filled up 

with about 400 movement people: Weathermen, White Panthers, Run­
ning Dogs, contacts, and members of splinter groups that endorsed the 
Weathermen philosophy. The hall was in a black neighborhOod, and 
there was sorne concern before the conference started that 400 whites 
invading a black neighborhood could lead to trouble. Therefore, black 

militants from me area were invited to attend. Those who came dus­. tered lOgether aIong me wall near me entrance. 
¡: 

A few wooden folding chairs were scattered around thc large room,i but most of the people sat on the Roor or stood leaning against one of 
the walls. The room ended in a stage with a microphone standing alone 
in the center. On the wall behind the microphone mere was a poster of a 
pig's head wearing a policeman's helmet. Off lO the side of me stage was 
a counter that probably served as a bar when the hall was used for 
neighborhood dances, but now it was a snack area. A middle-aged black 
man was serving coffee, donuts, hot dogs, sodas, potato chips, and pea­
nuts. Aceording to his list of prices, he was not sacrificing profit for the 
sake of the revolution. 

Mark Rudd set the tone of me meeting. He and Bernardine Dohrn 
were the most notorious Weamerman leaders. Rudd, a fonner Boy 
Scout in Irvington, New Jersey, had won fame as the SDS leader who 
engineered a two-monm student rebellion that dosed New York's Col­
umbia Universit in the s rin of 1968. However, the rebellion was not 
mere y a student aebon. Rud success ully aroused residents of nearby 
Harlem to fight "Columbia's racism" over a local issue and encouraged 
me students to protest the existence of the Institute for Defense Ana­
Iyses on campus. This approach extended the rebellion from the usual 
"students versus school administration" to the broader context of 
"raeism and imperialism." 

Following this rebellion, Rudd wrote that Columbia proved the old 
SDS dictum: "People have to be organized around the issues that affect 
their lives." He also wrote that the media subjected me general public to 
a "barrage of propaganda trying to show that the rebellion at Columbia 
(as well as other rebellions) was due to campus unrest over archaic ad­
ministrative procedures--or failure of communication among students, 
faeulty and administration." 

~-

t 

i, 
However, Rudd considered the media either ill-informed or afraid to 

admit the truth: "Every militant ... was there because of his opposition 
to racism, and imperialism, and the capitalist system that needs to exploit 

~, 
and oppress human beings from Vietnam to Harlem to Columbia." 

Rudd said the Columbia rebellion trained many leaders who were now 
providing other local movements with leadership. Many of these 
"leaders" were in the hall now as Rudd paced back and forth, exhorting 
us to "raise the level of struggle." He wore Levi's. a denim jacket, and a 
large white cowboy hato He recapped the Weathermen's rapid advance 
since its formation in June. Then he reminded us that this week "rep­
resented the birth of a much greater struggle, marked by the solidifica­
tion of the revolutionary movement in the United States." 

"Dare to Struggle! Dare to Win!" Rudd roared, quoting Mao Tse 
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Tung. "And we can win. It may take time, but we will win." He pointed 
to one of the posten of Ché Guevara. "Ché supponed our 6ght. He said 
it was imponant bccause we live 'in the heaTl of the beast.' " 

1 looked up at one of the pholOs of Ché. 1detestal Ché's methods, yet 
1 also admired hím. Ché was a dedicatal man~  He once lOld a reponer, 
"At the risk of sounding ridiculous, every revolutionary has to be moti­
vated by great love." 1couldn't help wondering if Mark Rudd had enough 
"great love" lO carry out a revolution. Or, for that matter, if anyone else 
in the room did. 

Finally, Rudd stopped pacing. He stood in the middle of the room 
facing the crowd: "I'm monomaniacal," he said loudly. "And everybody 
in here should be monomaniacal." He paused for effect. MurmuTS 
spread throughout the room. 

"What do you mean?" someone shoutal. 
Rudd had their complete attention. "Remember Captain Ahab. He 

was monomaniacal. He was possessed by one thought---destroying the 
great white whale. 

"We should be like Captain Ahab and possess one thought---destruc­
úon of this mother country." His voice rose to a ringing piteh, and as the 
sentence was ended, the hall eruptal into a bUTSt of cheeTS and 
applause. 

"Right on!" 
"Off the mother country!" 
"Up the revoluúon." 
Rudd was a hero. He seemed pleased with the reaction to his speech. 

As he moved over to the side of the room, he was immediately sur­
rounded by a group of disciples. 

1 pushed my way through the crowd lO the refreshment counter and 
bought a bottle of Coke and two donuts. I looked at the man behind the 
counter and wondered what he thought about this conference. Soon he 
had a crowd around the counter. Even revolutionaries get hungry. 

1 roamed around the hall again. Every few feet there was a group 
gathered in serious discussion. A girl from Seatde trying to 6nd out how 
a problem on agitating riots was handled in New York; a guy from 
Boston giving úps on recruiting contaets. I joined a group discussing 
greasers. 

"you have to assume the characterisúcs of the greaser," a guy from 
Chicago was saying as I sat down. "You have to be willing to wear your 
hair in the same fashion ... slick it back if necessary. Get a leather jacket. 
Hang out where they go. Get a bike. Learn to rid~."  

Greasers, along with the working-class element, were needed for a 
successful revolution. And Chicago, being an extremely large metropoli­
tan area, had a lot of them. . 
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The SUY warned everybody about the hazards of recruiúng greasers, 
however. "They consider us peace freaks or ftower children and would 

.,. just as soon stomp us as talk to uS. You can't approach a guy in a street 
'", gang and immediately staTt talking poliúcs." His statement made me 
.,.. think about the barroom incident with Barry Stein. 

"Once you get to know them," the SUY conúnued, "you'U find greasers 
r. make good a1lies." 

I moved on. The SUY seemed to understand street gangs better than 
anyone else I'd met in the Weathermen. And he was right. If they could 
get suppon from a11 the gangs in big ciúes, the Weathermen would have 
a substantial nucIeus. 

Time started to drago It was only the first day of the conference, but I 
was a1ready bored. My wanderings came to a sudden halt when Bernar­
dine Dohrn appeared on the stage. She stood erect, like a high priestess 
waiúng for her followeTS to quiet down. She was sexually appealing in 
long dark boots, a shoTt miniskiTt, and a see-through blouse with no bra. 
I moved cIoser. 

Bernardine radiated confidence and displayed a poise that can be 
acquired only from coundess public appearances. She ~as  one of the 
most traveled of the Weather o le, havin visited Yu oslavia, Cuba, 
Bu a st· an un ar . A ou s e was rn ID lca o on anuary 
12, 1942 her arents soon move to lte s a, IsconslD~­

per-middle-cIass suburb of M¡lwaukee. At W ¡te sh Bar HIg ¡SctiOQI 
she was treasurer of the Modern Dance Club, a member of the Naúonal 
.Honor Soaet , and editor ol the school news a ero After h¡ h school 
s e spent!!!Q.J'eaTS at Mlaml Umverslty in O lO and then transferred to 
the Universityof Chicago, where she also obtained a law degree in 1967. 
During her years at Chicago she became aCúve in various SOS projeets. 
In 1968, she was named interor anizaúonal secreta for SOS. Like 

f 
Rudd, she was one o t e oun ers o t e eat ermen. 

t 
When the crowd quieted down, she began talking; her words belied 

her feminine appearance. At one point she praised Charles Manson, the 
freaked-out cultist who killed movie aetress Sharon Tate and seven oth­
ers. "Dig it," Bernardine said of the Manson attack. "First they killed 
those pigs, then they ate dinner in the same room with them. Then they 
even shoved a fork into one's stomach. Wild." 

Next, she criúcized white revoluúonaries for being afraid of fighúng 
alongside blacks in the street. "We're honkies," she shouted. "We can't 
just stand around and talk about it; we have to get into armed struggle." 
She condemned our racist, chauvinisúc society and urged the women to 
become more involved in all aspects of the movement. 

After Bernardine spoke, we separated into smaller groups for more 
discussions. Bernardine and Rudd left the hall along with other mem­
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bers of the Weather Bureau; they were condueting prívate, high-Ievel 
meetings in a motel not far from the ballroom. As I waJl.ed around the 
room, I saw Tom UdaU sitting with a group, IisteDing intently to what 
sorne ¡uy was saying. 

Tbere were a lot of other high schoo1 students Jike Udall at the meet­
ing, although when we inv*d him to come alons, I really didn't believe 
there would be many younl peop1e at the council. I sat down with 
Udall's group. The discuuion centered on urban guerrilla warfare. 

"We have to be prepared for street fipaina." one ¡uy was saying. "We 
have to be ready for runnios pn battles with me poIice. Obviously, we 
have to increase our skill with arms, dynamite, Molotov cocktails.· In 
panicular, d ynamite. This must be thoroughly understood. If any of you 
are totally unfamiliar with dynamite, piel. up a handbook. I think there 
are sorne on sale heTe." 

He said we'd have to learn to work in smaJl action groups, or focals, of 
four or five, within the overall structure of the collective. "These will be 
our strike forces," he said. The speaker had been sitting Buddha-style on 
the floor, but he straightened out his legs, put bis hands behind him, and 
leaned back,looking at the Test of us in the small cirde. 

Udall hunched forwarn. "Have you ever killed anyone?" he asked the 
speaker. 

The guy stared at Udall. "Only in Nam," he said cautiously, "but 1'11 be 
ready when the time comes." Then he asked Udall: "How about you? 
Win you be ready?" But before getúng an asnwer, he direeted his atten­
tion to me. "Or you. Are you ready?" 

I glanced over at Udall. He was waiting for my answer. I felt sorry for 
hiIn. AH he really wanted was a friend, someone lo talk to, someone 
who'd listen to his troubles. I could see that this conversation excited 
hiIn. I was sorry 1 had joined this group. 

"We're waiting," the discussion leader said, interrupting my thoughts. 
"Are you ready, or are you one of the honkies who are afraid to fight?" 

For UdaH's sake, I wanted to say yes, but I couldn't. "I'm in a war," 1 
said, using the movement rhetoric. "That means I'm ready to fight. If 1 
have a gun and a pig comes after me, 1'11 shoot." 

The speaker was pleased with my answer. He then turned to each of 
the others in the cirde and asked the same quesúon. Udall was pleased, 
too. I was sorry about that. He should have been home worrying about 
the Walnut HilIs High football team. 

Somebody e1se asked who our main targets would be. "The pigs," 
came the reply. "Police chiefs to stan. But even better, the pigs who run 
the country. A well-organized program can turn this country into chaos. 
And that's when we get rid of the pigs." 

"When?" 
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"We don't have a timetable. Maybe it will take ayear. Maybe two. 
Maybe ten. But it will happen. We just have to be patient." 

When the discussion began to get repetitive, I excused myself and got 
up. I pulled Udall by the armo He was reluetant lO leave, but he did. 

"That was heavy stuff," he said as we walked toward the back wall, 
where two blacks were talking to a girl. 

"You dudes are serious," one Iaid. "1 dig it. I thought this was just 
going to be a honky freak-out, but it's not." 

"That's what a tot of people thought, but we're real, man." 
The night wore on. Udall came with me to get a Coke, but then 

bounced off to get into another rap session. He never said mucho He just 
sat and listened. 

It was after 10 o'dock when we left the hall. I got a ride back to the 
school with a group of people from Chicago. We stayed up rapping until 
about 2 o'dock. Then I couldn't take it any more and fell asleep. 

The second day began much like the first. We reported to the hall 
about 10 o'dock for exercises that evolved into a practice session of 
karate; we had 300 people moving about the hall wiping out imaginary 
racist pigs. Sorne of the exercises were led b Tom Ha den, who was a 
celebrity because e was on tna In C lcago or IS part In the demon­
stration at the National Democratic Convention. Ha~en  was connected 
wjth SpS. but he was not one ol the Weathermen.fter the exerClses, 
rock music blared over the loudspeaker, and many people began danc­
ing. The dancing stopped when a guy dimbed up on the stage lO start us 
singing Weatherman songs. He conducted the song fest for about 20 
minutes, then left the microphone to anyone who wanted to speak. 

Howard Machtinger, another signer of the original Weathermen posi­
tion paper, grabbed the microphone. He was a graduate of Columbia 
University and began graduate studies at the University of Chicago's 
School of Science, but was kicked out. Machtinger was a weird but Iike­
able guy who had a very strange voice and a large Adam's apple that 
bobbed around as he spoke. He made a humorous speech, although his 
meaning was just as violent as the others. 

"Everybody knows Superman's arch rival is Lux Luthor," he said. 
"And everybody knows that Superman always defeats his arch rival. 
Howelse would it be in a pig story?" He paused and glanced around the 
hall. "But Luthor always comes back. He never gives up. 

"Since he never gives up, Superman never wins the war. He wins the 
battles, but never the war." He made a few weird gestures to animate the 
slOry, and everybody laughed. "Just like Lux Luthor, we won't give up. 
We're going to destroy Superman because, just like Luthor, we're willing 
to fight forever." 

When Machtinger finished, he got a good round of applause. He 
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couldn't arouse and capture an audience like Rudd, but he gol bis point 
across. 

After Machtinger left the stage 1 joined a group from Cleveland. As it 
turned out, they were discussing police undercover agents. "They 
should be killed," someone said as 1 sat down. When 1 found out who 
they were talking about killing. I wanted lO RCt up and runo This was 
getting personal. 

"Before you can kili thern, you have lO cateh them." the group Ieader 
remarked. "Our question is, how do you cateh them? How do you ten if 
it's a pig? How does he act?" He looked straight at me when he askcd the 
question. 

How do 1 get involved in these discussions, I thougbt. But it was too 
late to back out. "It would depend on his mission." I said. 

"Goahead." 
"Well, say he was sent into a collective lO be a provocateur. In this case, 

he'd always be ready to lead others into some vioIent acL For example, 
he'd be the first guy ready to blow up the f in' ROTe Building." 
The group was listening to me, so I continued more foreefuUy. "On the 
other hand, if the pig just wants lO infiltrate a group. he's not lOing to 
sayas mucho And he probably won't lake pan in any demonstration 
where sorne form of violence is planned." The group was so intercsted 
that I began to think I had gone too far in myexplanation. 

"1 think it goes deeper than that," one guy said. "There are a lot of 
pigs who grow beards and try to gel inlO the movement, but they ncver 
really understand the philosophy. ~t's  how they getcaugbt. Therc are 
probablya few pigs in this hall rigbt now, but nobody really deep in the 
movement." 

"Why do you say that?" 
"Because the pigs won't live the lile style. They may growa beard, but 

they'll go horne at night." 
The guy was right for the most pan. I supported him by teUing the 

group about the cop in Cincinnati who tried lO get inlO the coDective.lt 
got a good laugh. 

Another person spoke up. "1 don't agree. I thinlt there are some pigs 
who can adapt to our life style. If we accept a generalizalion lik the onc 
you just stated, we can get into tróuble. If we let our guard down. the 
next thing we'lI know is that some pig is pointing a revolver at our heads. 
I wouldn't be surprised to find pigs in this room right now." 

After leaving this short COUTSC on "How lO Spot a Pig." 1 bumped into 
Eddie Schaefler. I hadn't seen him lince the night we arrived. He was 
leaving the hall with a couple of White Panthers and asked if I wanted to 
go along. 1 refused. 1 thought it best to slay around the hall, although 1 
feh very confined. 

The morning turned slowly into afternoon, and afternoon crept into 
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evening. In between, a battery of nameless faces spoke into the micro­
phone. Most of them just reinforced what ltudd or Dohrn had already 
said, although Ted Gold, a member of the Weawr Burcau, spoke more 
about the need lor Weatherrnen to have CIosc tlCS Wlth rcvoiuuona~  

'Ou s ID o er countnes t were un .. lID 15m. sal 

the u umate $uccess o e ea erman movement e n e u n the 
success o o er Ir - or er orces. 

ac spea er tne to IDluate e te; ea wanted to stimulate a deep 
discussion on a particular phase of Weatherman philosophy. 

As the session carne to a close, I found Naomi rapping about women's 
role in the revolution with a group from San Francisco. There were 
seven people in the group, and five were women. I joined in at the end 
of the discussion, but the only thing I was thinking about was foad. AH I 
had eaten were donuts. As the discussion broke up, I asked Naomi if she 
wanted a hot dogo My question starded her. She was deeply involved and 
hadn't thought about foad until now. She agreed. 

We got the last two hot dogs at the snack counter. I devoured mine in 
a few bites, but Naomi nibbled hers. She was still wound up with confer­
ence business. By the time we left the hall, our ride back to the school 

had already left.
"We can thumb a lift with someone else," I said. We were standing on 

the front steps. The night was cold, but not as bone-chilling as it had 
been. The sky was bright. 

"No. Wait," she said, "Iet's walk." 
"Irs two miles." 
"So, if we get tired we can thumb." 
She put her arm through mine, and we strolled off. I wanted to ask 

her about Cleveland and the meeting with her future in-Iaws, but didn't; 
it was best not to show any concern. I looked down at her walking beside 
me, wondering how we would have reacted to each other if we had met 
under different circumstances. After a few blocks of idle chatter, she 
asked, "Do you think we're getting anywhere at this council?" She didn't 
wait for an answer. "I've been involved in the movement so long, I want 
to be sure we're going in the right direction. There's so much to be done. 
Sa many people who need our help. Do you think we can reaHy accom­

plish anything here, Larry?" 
I wanted to say no. To scream, for God's sake, no. Go home. Give up 

this idiotic idea about revolution before a lot of you get killed or injured 
or busted. But even if I did tell her that, she wouldn't have listened to 
me. She was dedicated to a cause. 

What I said instead was, "We're getting to know each other's 

problems."
She murmured something and walked another half block in silence 

before answering. "Do you realize how heavy this council is?" 
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Did I? If they did half of what was being talked about, there was going 
to be a lot of hell to pay in the coming months. 

She continued. ""1 wonder how many of us are willing lo make the 
commitment. We're talking about war. Picking up the gun. Sorne of us 
will be killed. Sorne innocent people will be kiUed. 1 know it has lo be 
done, but are we going about it in the right way?" 

1 didn't know how to answer her questions. She was looking for lOme 
reinforcement for her own philosophy. 

'Tve bcen in the 1D0vement all my life, Larry. My parenta were dedi­
cated cOlDlDunists. 1 guess they still are, OOt they pve up before they 
accomplished anything. Not only them, OOt ~whole generatiOn. Most 
01 them are living the fat lives they were figbting against. They contrib­
ute to us now and then, but their movement is dead. It's up 10 us, Larry." 

She stopped abruptly as if she had dwelled long enough on the puL 
She returned to the present: "You were in Vietnam. You saw how we're 
destroying the country for the sau of Nixon's puppets. But in Nonh 
Vietnam, it's even worse. 1 was there. 1 saw the hospitals we bombed, the 
factories we blew up, the civilian casualties we caused. Just so sorne fat 
capitalists could get fatter. 

"But the North Vietnamese people aren't giving up. Thcy're winning 
the war despite all our propaganda. They're winning because they have 
spirit. 1 lDet a girl who had shot down one of our war planes. Imagine. A 
14-year-old girl who had the nerve lo stand in a field and shoot at a hig, 
screarning, frightening jet. She shot it down, and the townspeople cap­
tured the pilot. It was wonderful to be with cbose people. They're taking 
on the rnonster and winning. And so can we. We have to have the spirit 
of that little Vietnamese girl. 1 was so proud of her, 1 had my picture 
taken with her." 

When Naomi talked like that, 1 didn't understand her. 1 could take 
her through village after village where the Viet Cong had massacred the 
men, women and children, leaving their bodies ripped apan. 

She continued to talk. "When we're ready, Larry. we can gel all the 
help we need. And anything we want to carry out our lDission. That's 
why we have to be sure we're going in the right direction now. We don't 
want to waste time with a falsc stan." 

By help, 1 assurned she was talking about Nonh Vietnam and Cuba. 
There was an unspoken knowledge within the movement that, when the 
time carne, we could get guns, ammunition, explosives. even training 
from other countries. And it made sensc. What Third-World guerrilla 
force wouldn't contribute to overthrowing the U. S.? 

"What did the Weather Bureau want to accomplish when they called 
this council?" 1 asked. 

1 was feeling colder and tired as hell of all this revoltuionary talk. 1 

lOS 

i grabbed Naomi's hand and started to run. "Come on. It will help us 

warm up."
She started laughing, and followed along. We Tan too fast, and she 

tripped off a curb, but 1 caught her before she fell onto me street. 1 held 
her dose for an instant. It was unreal. We should have been coming back 
from a dinner date, not returning to an encampment of budding 

guerrillas.
Soon 1 saw the lights of the school cutting out little squares in the 

darlmess ahead. We Tan the last 100 yards. 1 was so cold. 1 couldn't feel 
me heat when we walll.ed into the building. 

Before wc reached our dassroom, we could hear Benediet's angry•
! 
f VOK:e. When he saw me walk into the room, he snapped: "Where the hell� 

have you been?"� 
"We missed our ride and had to walk back."� 
Naomi was taking off her coat. "What's the trouble?" she asked.� 
Bennett was still glaring at me. "1 thought you were going to warn� 

everybody about bringing grass up here."� 
1 was stunned. "1 did. Why?"� 
"That f-ing friend of yours got busted for smoking tonight."� 
1 knew he meaOl Schaeffer. "How did i~  happen?"� 
"He and those f---ing White Panther friends of his borrowed a car� 

and went for a ride. The pigs followed them a couple of miles outside of� 
town and made the bust when they lit up. That's all we needed. Hell, this� 
could give the pigs an excuse for breaking in on the sessions tomorrow. 
And if that happens, it won't look good for us. Any of us. They think 
we're a little weak in Cincinnati as it is." 

Bennett was obviously more concerned about how the Weather Bu­
reau was going to reaet than by the fact that Schaeffer was sitting in jail. 

"How much bail does he need?" 1asked. 
"1 don't know." 
"It can't be mucho Maybe we have enough bread to spring him." 
Bennett tumed away from the window. "1 don't think we have $100 

amongus."
1 reached iOlo my pocket and pulled out my money. It totaled $35. 

"Let's take up a collection. There's a couple of hundred people in the 
school. I'm sure we can raise enough." 

Bennett didn't answer. 1 turned to leave the room. "Wait a minute," he 
said. "Even if we can come up with the bread, we're not getting him out." 

1didn't understand. "Youcan't leave him in the slam," 1 snapped. 
He walked to the center of the room with a pensive look. "We have to," 

he said. "It will teach him a lesson. When 1 said no grass, 1 meant it. If 
this council is in jeopardy, it's because of him. Leave him there. And 1 
mean it, Grathwohl." 
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Bennett stalked out of the room. Naomi carne over 10 DIe. "He's right, 
you know." 

Schaeffer was the feature topic of conversation for the reDlainder of 
the evening. 1 felt sorry for him. 1 couId visualize him pacing bis jail cell 
Iike a caged aniJnal. It was a horrible thougbt. It was lace when we went 
to hed. 

The next morning 1 left for me baDroom earlier than the othen 
because 1 was assigned to security duty al me front cIoor. Bennett had 
volunteered my services. 1 a1ways seemecl 10 encl up with duties like mat 
because of my size. My instruetions were 10 bar anybody who didn't have 
a valid pass or who wasn't accompanied by one of me Weathermen with 
identification. 

People started arriving about 9:15 A.M. A couple of local newsmen 
showed up early, looking for Mark Rudd. 1 wouldn't let theDl in, but 1 
did tell them that an official statement would be handed out latero They 
moved over to the side of the steps and waited. 

An unmarked police car with two plaindothes copa in the front seat 
cruised down the street to take a position halfway up the block. A televi­
sion camera crew set up on the sidewalk 10 film. There was more aetion 
out in the street than inside. 

The first Weather Bureau penon 10 show up was BilI Aren. Aven, 
the son of the president of Commonwealth EdÍllOll of tMIlOIS, had been 

smce 1963. when be enteFéd t& Universitv Of Michi. 
gano He had a reputation lor being radical and violent. He walked up 
"tJie"'Siairs pompously and started to pass by me. 

1 held out my arm to block his path. He was a few inches shorter than 
me, but very broad. 

"What are you doing, man?" he snapped. 
"Where's your pass?" 
He tried to shove by me again, but 1 moved in front of him. "Get out 

of my way:' he shouted. 1 didn't move. He was furious. 
"Do you know who 1 am?" 
1 pretended not to. 
''1'm BiIl Ayers." 
1 shrugged my shoulders. "You still need a pass." 1 was enjoying my 

work. At age 25 Ayers, along with Bernardine Dohrn, probably had the 
most authority within the Weathermen. Slowing him down was fun. The 
more furious he became, the more adamantly 1 demanded that he pro­
duce a� pass. A crowd was collecting at the door by now because they 
couldn't get through. Most of them knew Ayen, so it was embarrassing 
for him. 

He decided to get tough and threatened to knock me on my ass. 1 
grabhed him by his jacket and pushedhim aside, but before anything 

110 

more happened, Eric Burns, who was in charge of security, carne bound­
ing out of the meeting hall. He vouched for Ayen, but 1 silll feigned 
great concem about aUowing mm in without a paII. Burns said he'd take 

~  the responsibility, 10 1 gave in. When chey both finally disappeared in­
~ side, 1 turned back. lO checking the other passes, but 1 couldn't keep 

from laughing lO myself. 
The two reporten who were standing on the side of the door came 

" 
~ back. over lO talk. with me. 1 rapped with them for a while. 1 didn't think 
~ they believed the war council was semus, and 1 wished 1 could have let 

them in lO sec for themselves. 
1 was assigned lO the door all moming. After the hall became 

crowded, 1 didn't do anything but sit on a folding chair in the small 
hallway separating the front door from the main ballroom. Nobody tried 
to crash in. Benedict's worry about a police raid was unfounded. 

1 also had security duty the last morning of the convention. By now we 
had lost about 100 conventioneers; the conference had become redun­
dant. With a well-structured program, everything could have been ac­
complished in two days. However, the longer conference probably elimi­
nated some of the movement people who were not absolutely dedicated. 
lt also eliminated some of the fringe groups. The White Panthers had 
gone by the end of the second day, and 1 didn't see the people from the 
Bay area revolutionary group the third day. Even the few local blacks 
who had attended the first two sessions didn't come back. The confer­
ence had already made its point: we had to "pick up the gun and raise 
the level of struggle." The continued meetings on~y  served to ram this 
slogan home.

We left Flint on December 31. The spirit was high. Everybody had the 
feeling that we were on the verge of dramatic action. Everybody hung 
around the school untillate in the day, rapping about the council. For aH 
practical purposes, it turned out to be a fifth session. 

lt was New Year's Eve. Back in Cincinnati, my friend Brewer was f 
¡� 

planning a party. lt had been a historic year. Neil Armstrong stepped 
from a space ship onto the surface of the moon and got a telephone call 
from President Nixon. But it was also the end of a violent decade: three 
major political assassinations and over 40,000 killed in the country's 
longest war. And here 1 was in a church school in the middle of a rap 
session about blowing up the country. 
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As soon as we got back to Cincinnati, me porges began. Bill Ayers was in 
town to lead the dismissal of ITlemben who were not conaidered totaIly 
committed to the movement. When Ayers arrived. he caUed Bennett, 
Harmon, Spiegel, and Bittner to a special meeting in a downtown motel, 
where they could talk freely. 

The meeting began January 2, 1970. WhiIc it was going oo. Barry 
Stein took charge of the collective because Naomi was in Cleveland get­
ting married to Bill Milton. The sudden. promotion to leadership. even 
though it was temporary, greatly inflated Stein's ego. He hac:l a difficult 
time adjusting to this newly assumed power. howeYer. Consequendy, it 
was a fairly easy trick to disappear for me afternoon to repon to Murrish 
on the war council at his office. 1 did talLe extra precautiona in getting 
there, though. 1 walked through two department stores, including Mc­
Alpine's, and browsed in a bookstore to lose anybody who might be 
following ITle. 

My meeting with Murrish was extremely tedious. He made me go aver 
and over all the incidents that had occurred duriog the four day' in 
Flint, elaboratiog here and there on particular events. He questioned me 
very carefully about the speech Bernardine Dohrn made the first night 
although, judgin~  froID his guestions. he aIread! knew what sbe had 
said. My report was probablr used to ,übstántiate what had been turned 

in lO other FBI olfices. With Murrish doing me questioning, 1 certainly 
didn't leave out any details. He was a very methodical mano Every time 1 
thought me meetingwas over, Murrish would say: "Now, are you posi­

f

tive you don't remember anything more?" 
"I'msure," 
"AU right, then. But before you 80, teU me one more time about the 

sessions on the greasers. Just lO double check," 
When he was finally satisfied, 1 felt drained. After closing his note­

book, he pushed back in his chair. "Do you want another cup of coffee?" 
"No more," 1 said in self-defense. 1 had already had five., He asked about my jobo 1 told him 1 had taken me week off between 

Chrisunas and New Year's daybecause it was usuaUy slow at this time of 
year, anyway. People were bringing things back, not buying. 

"Whatdo you make at the store?" he asked. 
"About $145 a week," 
He was silent for a momento "I'U try to get you sorne money," 
1 was surprised. 1 had never asked for any money, and he had never 

mentioned it before. 
"What for?" 1 asked. 
"You put in a good week's work for me. I'U try to reimburse you for 

what you missed at the store plus another $50 for expense money." 
Although 1 could use the cash, 1 didn't want Murrish to think 1 was 

motivated by money. 1 told him that. 
He said he understood how 1 felt, but insisted that 1 had earned the 

money. "When 1 get a check, you'U have to come in to sigo for it," 
Murrish stood up and shook my hand. "Good job," he said. "If you 

need any help straightening this out at McAlpine's, let me know. I'll be 
glad to call them. We appreciate what you're doing and wish more pea­
pie were as concerned." 

1 thanked him. "You'll hear from me," 1 said, and left. 1 was glad to 
have the money. If 1 was going to stay in the collective, it was obvious 1 
couldn't continue working at McAlpine's. 1 considered taking Murrish 
up on his offer to smooth things over, but what good would that do in 
the long run? 1 decided to call the manager on my way back to the 
collective. 1 told him 1 was quitting. 1 didn't give him a reason and he 
didn't ask for one; he didn't exactly sound disappointed. 

When 1 got back to the coUective, Stein was romping about giving 
orders. As saon as 1 walked in, he grabbed me. "Grathwohl, I've got an 
important job for you," he barked, without even asking where I'd been. 

"Your friend Schaeffer is back in town, but he says he's quitting." 
The way we had treated him in Flint, 1wouldn't have blamed hirn if he 

blew up the collective. 1 guessed that Stein was concerned about Schaef­
fer's decision because he didn't want anybody quitting while he was in 
charge. Stein had decided that Anne WallOn and rnyself should go out to 
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Schaeffer's house and talk him out of quitting. Why not, I thoughL of the Flint council and how it was imperative that we raise the level ofWhen 1 told Anne, she was eager for the chaUenF' stfuggle. Of course, to aceomplish this, we nceded truly dedicated peo­Schaeffer was staying at his parents' borne in a suburban pan of west­ern Cincinnati. 1 had called Eddie lO teU him we were comin.. and he ~ 

pie who had only one goal on their minds. Then shc: made a startling
,announcement. "The collective has been reorganízed," she said, lookingwas waiting for ,us outside w hen we drove up. 1 stared at him as be carne around the room to study the reaction. "We fe1t it neeessary to restruc­down me walk. He had his coat collar puUed up around bis ean. and 1 ture ourselves so that we can move faster and more effectively." Theneouldn't see bis face very clearly, but there was somethin1J funny about she added: "Bennett and Harmon have been purged from thehim. As he got closer, 1 started lO laup. He had a cloeeIy croppedhaircut. Weathermen."

She went into a long explanation. She wanted a1l of us to understandr"What did you do, enlist again?" 1 joked as he reacbed the caro
"F 

that Harmon and Bennett had failed to move the collective forward,you," he snapped, c1imbina ioto che back seat. He said the which jeopardized the entire movement. She praised Harmon for hiscops in Flint had cut his hair off. -past work. He had been instrumental in setting up the Denver coIlective.Iy.le went to a quick-service drive-in restaurant not far from bis house t­ "But our political goals have changed quite a bit since John was in Den­but, instead of eating in the car, we went insidc and took a comer booth.We ordered hamburgers and Coke, then began rapping. Anne flung 
ver," she said, "and he has not kept up with the leve1 we're functioning
on now."herseJf into the job of saving Schaeffer for che cause as il it were apersonal crusade. She rambled on for an hour about why he was needed 

Another factor was Harmon's refusal either to leave his wife and two
children for the sake of the movement or to bring them into the collec­before taking a break, and that was a forced one; she had lO lO lO the tive. As for Bennett, he was "not political enough." In other words, hejohn. When she left the table, 1 asked Schaetfer a simple question: "Are was nonviolent.you tired of a11 this?" The room was quiet while Bittner explained the reasons for the re-He didn't answer me, but 1 knew he was. Everything was sett1ed. He strueturing. Then she announced that Naomi had been elevated to pri­was out. Anne returned and continued her same line apio, but this time mary leadership. alongside Spiegel and herse1f. The last statement shotshe didn't carry on as long, and we drifted off inlO politia in Fneral.Then we drove Schaeffer home. When he gol out of the car, aII he said 
an aTTOW through Barry Stein's ego. He had been priming himseIf to

was, "1'11 see you around." 
move up the ladder. 1 glanced over at him to catch his reaetion, but he
didn't show any emotion.The next couple of days were fiIled with arguments. It began when Hal Lincoln, however, did. He objected vehemently to the purging ofStein heard we hadn't convinced Schaeffer lO return. He gol angry with Bennett and Harmon. "Who made the decision?" he demanded. "WhyAnne and me. Then he started blaming everybody for failing to execute weren't we al1 consulted?" A collective was supposed to function on itshis plans properly. The spirit generated during the council at Flint wasdisintegrating.
own, yet it was apparent that the Weather Bureau was dictating the
moves.Then, on January 4 we were a11 caUed to a meeting at St. John'sUnitarian Church. Naomi and Milton had returned from Clevéland the 

Spiege1 defended the decision. So did Naomi. Debate was encouraged.
It was better to have aH the dissatisfactions aired now. It was impossiblesame day. They walked into the hOUM: ca.rrying a color ~levision set, a 

~ 

complete set of dishes for eight, silverware, and money. Naomi laughed «,f to move forward unless everyone had a complete understanding of the
as she produced the loot. action and agreed with it.

Bittner reiterated that the plan to attack the local power strueture"1 wonder if Ché had color TV," 1 muaed. aggressively would be impossible under Bennett and Harmon. They had"We're selling it," Naomi snapped. Then she laughed. failed to capitalize on any local issues in the past, so they could not beWe all left for the meeting together. It was being held in the samebasement dassroom at the church where 1 had attended my first Weath­
trusted to change in the future. Lincoln finaHy gave up his argument,

erman meeting. Karen Bittner and Mike Spiegel were wai;fag. 1 had 
but he was not pacified.

Bittner then turned to a new subject. She said that sorne of us wouldexpeeted to see BiIl Ayers, but he wasn't there. 1 was wondering if he'dremember me. Then 1 noticed that Harmon and Bennett were missing 
be sent to Cuba as a Venceremos Brigade. She announced that Arlo
Jacobs was in charge of coordinating our activities with the Venceremosalso. 1 assumed that the three of thel1l had gone off on another mission. people.Karen opened the meeting. She began by building up the importanee The Venceremos Brigades were started by people in the United States 
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who were sympathetic lo the Cuban Revolution. Venceremos was a 
Spanish� slogan used by Ché Guevara. meaning "We shall overcome." 
The brigades were organized as work forces 10 help the Cubans harvest 
their sugarcane erop. Because the U. S. restricted direct travel to Cuba, 
members of me brigades had lo talle devious routes 10 reach their des­
tination.� Some traveled to Canada and then by boat 10 Cuba, while 
others went by way of Mexico. Weathermen seized the opportunity of 
going to Cuba. Not only eould they aetuaIIy work for a succesaful revolu­
tionary government, but once in Cuba they hlId the opportunity lo get 
professional training in weapons and guerrilla 1acIic:s. When Naomi was 
in Cuba, she was trained in the uae of sophisticated weapons such as the 
AK4 7 rnaehine gun and was given assurauces that 30y serious revolu­
tionary group in the U. S. would gel help when it was needed. 

Bittner said it was still not determined who would be asked to go to 
Cuba, but that we should all regard it as a fantastic opponunity, espe­
cially the women. "Women aren't :second-dass citizens in Cuba," she 
stated. "The Cuban women fougbt aIongside tbe men 10 overthrow a 
racist, ehauvinistie government. And the Federation of Cuban Women is 
eontinuing to work to make the revolutionary economy as produetive as 
possible. They're working for the whole society and not just the selfish 
family unit. Those of you who go 10 Cuba will enjoy a fantastic experi­
enee that will help you the rest of your Iives." 

It sounded like Karen was ernplo)"ed by a Cuban travel agency. Afkr 
she finished, I was ready to paek my bap. Luekily, this was a fteeting 
desire. Karen ended the meeting by reminding us that tonight's changes 
were only the beginning of a new dedicarlon 10 action and progress. 

Our methods did become more vioIent. We started manufaeturing 
small explosive devices, using eherry-bomb firecrackers reinforced with 
extra powder and adhesive so they'd stick 10 windows. By placing a lit 
cigarette over the wick of the cherry bomb, an individual had plenty of 
time to leave the area before the device exploded. This was a step for­
ward for members of the Cincinnati collective. Up 10 this time, if we 
wanted a window broken, we merely tbrew a rock tbrough ita 

One night these eherry-bomb devices were used to blow out an entire 
series of windows at Indian HiIIs High SchooI. However, sorne of the 
bombs were left by mistake in Tom Udall's car, and tbe police, aeting on 
a tip from a witness, went to Udall's house, searched tbe car, and then 
arrested him. I didn't take part in the aetion, and I was really sorry to 
hear that Tom was busted. But his mother bailed hirn out imrnediately. 
He repaid her by stealing her car and driving to Yellow Springs, the 
Venceremos Brigade's rendezvous point, to join up. 

As the month progressed, we purged Hal Lineoln, and BiII Milton 
quito Lineoln beeame expendable ~cause  he eonstantly defended Har­
mon and Bennett after they were kicked out. On the other hand, BiII 
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Milton had begun to display a lack of concern for movement activities. 
-;¡¡,--­ He was constandy making up excuses for not going on night actions, and 
~ 

~. 

he spent an increasing amount of time working on the car his parents 
had given him as a wedding presento Tbis was ironie because, shortly 

~ 

before he quilo bis car was ruined by a group of neighborhood greasers 
who threw stink bombs ioto it, slashed the tires, and smashed a side 

~¡ window.� 
~
 The night Milton quit, he was in a gloomy mood. He packed his 

dothes, then went down into the living room to take the television seto 
When Jacobs and I saw what he had planned, we blocked his way. 

"No way, man," Jacobs said. "That tube stays here. We already have a 
buyerforiL" . 

l'� 
Millon started to argue, but not too aggressively. He looked at Jacobs,� 

then glanced over at me. We were both bigger than he was. Without� 
another word, he turned around and left the house like a whipped� 

I '.cJ 

puppy. 
On anua 15, the Weather Bureau assi ed a tou h-mind 

SD r DI nne Don hi to our colleetive. As soon as she arrived 1 
sensed 1 was in for trouble. 

Naomi and Mike Spiegel picked Donghi up at the airpon the night she 
arrived. When they got back to the house, 1 was sitting downstairs read­
ing. It was extremely cold outside, and Dianne was wrapped up like an 
Eskimo. But when she took off her coat, 1 had to stare at her outfit. She 
was wearing a purple see-through blouse with no bra, grey Levi's, and 
boots. It took a while before 1 noticed the boots. 

As soon as we were introduced, she showed such a keen interest in me 
that 1 was leery of her. 

"So you're Grathwohl," she said. "We have a lot to talk about. I've only 
heard about you through other sources." 

Although 1 wasn't the only one she questioned during the next few 
days, she spent more time with me than anyone else. She wanted to know i� about my days running in the streets in Cincinnati, especially my bouts 
with the police. Then she questioned me at length about Vietnam. AI­
though the questions were penetrating, she was always affable. She never 
demanded to know anything. However, 1 did find out through Murrish 
that she made attempts to check on my stories about the police by calling 
the juvenile record bureau. cIaiming to be an employer of mine. 

One day when we were rapping in the kitchen. 1 said: "You don't seem 
to trust me." 

She laughed, but didn't answer. 
Right after Dianne arrived, several other new Weathermen were as­

signed to Cincinnati, incIuding John Skardis, Roben Carter, and Carol 
Stanton. They all knew Donghi. 

One night, when about ten of us were in the living room, Arlo Jacobs 
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and Lisa Misel began accusing Naomi and myself of being monogamous.• 
We denied it, of course. 1 said the char~  was ridiculous because Naomi 
was marrícd to Milton. 

"Bullshit," Lisa said. "They got married for a good reason. To help all 
of USo But the relatipnship between you two is selfish." 

Dianne didn't say a word during the criticism, but she watehed our 
reactions very dosely. She studied our expraaions and listened intendy 
to everything we said in our own defenae. TIte lIeSSion didn't last very 
long, and even Arlo and Lisa didn't push Da very bard. It was because of 
Naomi. Everybody knew she was dedicated ro me movement, yet they 
wanted ro let her know that ahe wasn't beyond rebuke. 

Two days later N aomi was assigned to Detroit. 1 went ro the bus atabon 
with her and bought the ticket. 

"rOl sure this is my fault," 1 said. 
"lt's not anybody's fault," she said. "We have work ro do, and it can't 

be accomplished in Cincinnati. Our feelinp as individuals can't be con­
sidered when you're planning for the overall good." 

The call came for her bus. Naomi turned 10 me: "Give Dianne a 
chanceo She's very skeptical of those who haven't been in the movement 
very long." 

1 kissed Naomi good-bye, then waited as the bus pulled off. She waved 
from the window, but then turned awayabrupdy.. 

Within a couple of days, Spiegel was abo sent 10 Detroit, and Bittner 
left for the West Coast. Dianne was sole Ieader of the collective. She 
called a joint meeting between our group and the White Panthers in a 
"safe" house across town. She said it was important that everybody 
attend. 

The meeting was held in a third-floor apartment of an oId tenement 
building. 1 got there about 7:30 P.M., a half hour before we were sched­
uled to begin. Several people had already arrived. The apanment be­
longed to a contact of the WhiIe Panthers who was out of town. 1 arrived 
in the middle of a criticism session of a new girl in the col1ective named 
Lynn. She was a former dancer in a chorus line in Las Vegas and had 
been in Cincinnati only a few days. Evidendy, she had spent the after­
noon in the apartment with two of the White Panthers. Dianne and 
Carol Stanton were denouncing her for "baIling any guy who was 
around" and "giving into the appetitea of maJe chauvinists:' They 
sounded like the nuns at Sto Mary's, who were atways warning us about 
the evils of sexo Before they were finished, Lynn Tan out of the 
apartment. 

"Let her go," Dianne cornmanded. "She's not tough enough. We can't 
use her." 

By now the living room was crowded and filled with the noise of idle 
chatter. People were sitting on the chairs, sofa, and ftoor, and 1 noticed a 

small box being passed around. I didn't pay much attention to it until I 
realized that each penon was removing a small capsule, popping it into 
bis mouth, and swallowing it. It was LSD. 

LSD is a hallucinogen, which scares me. I had smoked marijuana, but 
1 had never dropped acid or taken any harder drug, and I didn't want to 
begin now. I glanced around the room as the box made its way toward 
me. Dianne Donghi was on my right, sitting cross-legged near the living 
room doorway. She was pretending 10 be absorbed in a conversation 
with Carol Stanton, but I noticed she was watching me. She was ex­
tremely interested in my reaccions. 

LSD was popular on many campuses, but it wasn't used much by the 
Weathermen. I tried to recall everything I had read about LSD. The 
drug affeets each individual differently. Although most users can con­
tinue to carry on a conversation, others have distorted visions or terrify­
ing thoughts. Basically, LSD expands a person's sense of perception. 
Everything becomes more vivid, magnified---eolors, the lines on another 
person's face, the palm of your own hand. I also knew that many sacie­
ries take hallucinogenic drugs as a way of life. In Saigon, I had seen old 
men sitting for hours puffing on their opium pipes. And many Indians 
in Mexico and the Southwest conduct their religious ceremonies around 
mescale, or peyote, an hallucinogenic drug made from the dried tops of 
cactus plants. 

The small box with the LSD reached me. I tooka capsule, then passed 
the package along. 1 looked out of the comer of my eye at Donghi; she 
was watching me. I popped the capsule into the comer of my mouth and 
leaned forward in my chair and dTOpped my head so it rested between 
my two hands. AIl the while I watched Dianne. When I saw Dianne tumI

I her head to answer a question, I moved my fingers onto my moustache, 
¡ , cupped my hand slightly, and spitthe capsule into the palm of my hand. 

1 didn't think Dianne saw what I did. I hoped noto After a few minutes, I t pushed back in my chair again and crossed my arms, slipping the capsule 
into my shirt pocket. 

I relaxed. Judging by what I had read, it would take about an hour 
before the LSD would have an effect on everybody. I knew that whatever 
was coming later would involve me. All I could do was wait. 

The conversation continued. Revolution was on everyone's mind. A 
young guy we caHed Bear was pushing back while sitting on an old 
lútchen chair, when aH of a sudden the back leg cracked, and he went 
crashing 10 the floor, his legs flying upward. One of the White Panthers 
who had been watching Bear began to laugh. He couldn't stop. As Bear 
untangled himself from the chair, the White Panther laughed even har­
deL His laughter trailed off for a few moments, but then he started all 
overagain. 

The inquisition began slowly, moderately, almost like any other criti­
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cism session we hado Dianne Donghi began it by crilicizina the two White 
Panthers who had been in bed with Lynn that afteillOOft. They were 
male chauvinists. They had taken advantaF of Lynn, which reflected 
the racist chauvinistic society we lived in. 

Voices criricizing others or expounding on the revolulion nnl out 
from everywhere. For me, time draSFd. But I was sure tbat for mem, 
time didn't existo They were in another dimensiono 

An hour passed. A girl on the ftoor was rockiDIJ '-ck and forth, 
staring at the crack on the wall. The guy who had JautIhed al Bear was 
still laughing. The general conversation had grown 1IIeaDer. more vio­
lent. Carol Stanton was criticized for being loo hard on Lynn. Then 
Anne WaIton turned on me. 

"You should have defended your sister." she said accusinRly. "You 
didn't say anything. You just sat there." 

At first 1 didn't know what she was taIking about. bot then I realized 
she was talking about the verbal attack on Lynn hours before. 

Arlo Jacobs joined in. "He never says mucho He just fol1ows:' Then he 
addressed me directly. "You're afraid of responsibility." 

"Afraid of making decisions," Dianne Donghi sbouted. "Wby are you 
afraid? Why do you hold back?" 

V oices of accusation were screaming at me from a1l sides. I was sur­
rounded by vicious sounds coming at me .. a rapid-firins machine 
gun. 1 didn't answer. 1 sat motionless in the chair. trying 10 atay calm, 
appear unconcerned. But as the VOKzs grew more vebc::ment. I felt a 
twinge of fear creeping over me. 1 wasn't afraid of any of them individu­
ally, but collectively they could be dangerous, especially under the inftu­
ence of LSD. 

A White Panther pulled a switehblade knife from bis pocket, snapped 
it open, and started flipping it into thc ftoorboard in front of him. The 
periodic thumping of the knife as it sliced into the fIoor began rinpI in 
myears. 

The verbal assault went on. Dianne Donghi was the instipting force. 
She continually introduced new subjects. supplied DeW ammunition. 1 
still didn't answer, because 1 didn't know what to sayo My hands were 
tightening around the arms of the chair. My tbroat was FUinI dryer 
and, even though the room was coal. 1 was swcating. 

Dianne Donghi got up from the ftoor by the door and wandered 
around the room. Then she carne over and stood in front of me. 

"Who are you, Larry Grathwohl?" shc screamcd. "Whcre did you 
come from? What's inside you?" She sounded angry, vicious. She stared 
at me wildly. 

1 continued to look straight ahead; my eyes fixed on the leg of the sofa 
across the room. 
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Dianne hollerecl again. repeating herself. "Tell us who you are, Larry 
Grathwohl. Tell us why you joined us." 

:t The room had quieted down noW. The others realized that this was 
getting serious. They began lO clase in around me. 1 continued to stare 
straight ahead, but 1could lee the faces aII around me. 

"Do you hate us, Larry?" a von asked. "1 think you hate USo 1 mow 
you hate women." The von belonFd to Anne WallOn. She was stand­
ing over my right shoulder, so 1 couldn't lee her, but 1 mew it was she. 
Then she moved around in front of me. She had worked herself into a 
frenzy. She was so outraged, her hands were trembling. She had 
grabbed the knife the White Panther had been tossing and was pointing 
itatme. 

"You're a pig, Grathwohl," she said. 
Dianne Donghi took over now. "Pig, Grathwohl. Pig. You've been 

Iyingto us." • 
My heart was beating faster now. My mind was running wild with 

thoughts. Did they really know who 1 was? If they did,how did they find 
out? 1recapped what had happened since Donghi carne to the collective. 
She couldn't know anything about me other than what 1 had told her. 
She carne in suspicious of everybody, me especially. But this had to be a 
blufl. Donghi was acting on a hunch, a hunch that someone with my 
background wouldn't change his basic concepts. 

1 had two choices. 1could leap up and TUn for the door or play out the 
blufl. If 1 acted fast, 1 could probably get away because they weren't 
expecting it. But if 1 did, I'd be through in the movement. 1 kept think­
ing of the cop they caught in Chicago. 1 didn't feellike taking a beating. 1 
could hear Dianne's voice above the others, yelling at me. 1 decided to 

I bluff it out. Donghi wasn't going to force my hand. 
1 had to do something before they all worked themselves to such a 

1
! ~ 

pitch that they'd strike at me without thinking about it. They were all 
yelling "Pig!" with a fury that was increasing. 

tt "You killed for the pigs in Vietnam!" Donghi screamed. "Why should 
~  we believe you're not still a pig?" 
f The mention of Vietnam brought Anne Walton into the action again. 

"You killed Vietnamese women," she hollered. "You killed women and 
children." As she yelled, the knife flashed in front of my face. 

Somebody started making a noise like a pig. The noise was quickly 
copied. 

"We have a pig'" Donghi shouted to the others. "He doesn't defend 
himself. He must be a pig."� 

"When are pigs good?"� 
"Roasted."� 
"Roast pig. Roast pig," carne the chant.� 
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The only one not shouting was the sirl who was roclúng back and 
forth. She was lilte me ca1m in the center of a tornado. 

As the chanting grew louder, 1 aeted. I pusbed up on the arms of the 
chair,lifted my body off the chair, and swuntl my 1ep up onro me seat. I 
stood up on ~  chair with the psycholotJica1 advantaF of IOwering 
abovethem. 

Then 1 shouted. "¡'m a pig! I'm a pig'" This took mem by surprise. 
The chantin. stopped. 1 screamed louder: "You're ritJh1. I :un a pig'" All 
eyes were staring at me. 1 had their attenbon, but I had 10 capitaliR. fasto 

1 leaped oft' me chair, landing in a crouched poUdon on the ftoor. 1 
stayed in this position and moved rapidly around in a small círde. 'Oink. 
Oink. I'm a pi.!" 1 5CJ"eamed. Then 1 remembered the LSD eapsule in 
my pocket. lE it fell out, 1 was through. 

1 made rapid litde advances like a wild boar toward me crowd stand­
ing around me, and they retreated. It took them by surprise and kept 
them off balance. 

"Sure I'm a pig;' 1 screamed again. ··But what are you, biteh?" 1 
shouted, glariog at Anne Walton. ··What have 10u done for the Viet­
namese you aeeuse me of killing?" 

Then 1 shouted: "You've done nothing but squeallike a pig'" 1 had to 
keep the initiative. 

1 straightened up rapidly and threw my arms out as if stretehed on a 
eross. Tm a pig because 1 killed for the pigs in Vietnam. 1 was on the 
payroll of a monster that was destroying innocent men, women and 
ehildren. 

"Have any of you ever killed innocent people? No, bot 1 have. 1 admit 
it. 1 was part of a napalm-spitting monst.er. Napalm that charred liule 
ehildren to death:' 

1 let myarms fall down to my side. The room was still quieto 1 hoped 1 
hadn't overplayed my parto 1 looked around the room, preparing for a 
last statement. "That's why I'm a pig:' 1 said, and flopped back ¡nto my 
ehair. 

Nobody said anything for a few moments, then there weré murmun 
about the revolution. Everybody drifted away from me. The acid test 
was overo 1 had won. 

We stayed in the apartment for another hour. My eyes were very tired. 
1 eould� just about kecp them open. Daylight started breaking through 
the window. 1 looked out at a eold, rainy day. But later. when we finally 
broke up, 1 stood on the street, lifted my face, and let the rain fall on it. 1 
felt alive. 
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Und81f11'OUnd� 

Two weeks after the acid test, 1 was chosen to become pan of an elitt 
group of Weathermen organized to select and destroy major targets. 
This new phase began when Dianne Don&hi &ot a phone call February 9 
from the Weather Bureau in Chica&o. directing her to tall.e her six best 
people and repon to Cleveland immediately. 

~. "' The call carne early in the morning when most of us were súll asleep. 
r� Dianne woll.e me up, saying that it was important that she talll. to me. 1 

pushed her away a few úmes, but she was persistent. When 1 finally went 
downstairs to see her, 1 was súll groggy from my heavy sleep. 

1 staned to rinse out a cup in the sink so that 1could pour coffee in it, 
but Dianne told me to forget about my stomach unúl after our talll.. "Put 
on your coat," she ordered. "You need sorne fresh air to clear your head. 
We'U take a shon walll.." 

Outside, she apologized again for being rough on me, especially dur­
ing the acid test. "1 hope you understand, but 1 had to be sure about you. 
1 carne to Cincinnaú ll.nowing that 1 could count on Spiegel and Jaflee 
because they've been so close to the movement for a long úme. But 1 had 
to find out about all the others for myself," 

1 tried to act nonchalant. 
"Don't be Mister Cool," she said. "U you hadn't come off so f---ing 

well, you wouldn't be here right now," 
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1didn't ask her to explain what she meant. We were around the block 
before she talked about the phone call that got me out of hed. 

"We have to go to Cleveland," she said. "!t's very imponant. You're 
the first one I've toldo I'm going to bríng five others, so we'lI need 
transportadon. Get Arlo to help you with thato We're going to leave as 
saon as we can, but 1 only want the seven of us to know where we're 
going." 

She was excited about the meeting. Being called to Cleveland oh­
viously meant something big, but she wasn't sure exaetly what it was-or 
at least she didn't admit ito 

When we got back to the house, 1 found Arlo in the living room 
counting the money he had been soliciting on Calhoun Street and 
around the campus for the Venceremos Brigade. He had over $1700, a11 
of it collected in less than a month. 1 told him about the call to go to 
Cleveland and the need for a bigger caro 

''1'11 call the minister," Arlo said. "Maybe 1 can switch our Corvair with 
him for a few days." Arlo pushed the money back into a paper hag and 
got up. "Tell Dianne 1 should be ready in a couple of hours." 

The others who were coming with us were Carol, Stanton, Kathy 
Sanchez, Roben Carter, and John Skardis. By noon we wereon our way 
to Clevelando Arlo was successful in borrowing the minister's large Ford, 
but with seven people it was still crowded o1 was glad to get out of our 
apartment. The place smelled horribly. There wasn't any water pressure 
in the toilet, so it couldn't be flushed after it was used. But nobody 
seemed to careo They all used it, anyway. 1 we1comed the trip to 
Cleveland. 

On the way, we speculated on the urgency of the phone calI. Dianne 
didn't say very much, which led me to believe she knew a lot more about 
the reason for this meeting than she c1aimed. 

We arrived in Cleveland just as it was getting darko When Arlo pulled 
the car over to the curb in front of the collective, Dianne asked me to TUn 
in and find out where we were staying. She had been told that a "safe" 
apartment would be at our disposaI. 

John Fuerst, one of the primary leaders in the Cleveland collective, 
was waiting for uso He carne out with me and squeezed into the front seat 
of the caro He directed Arlo to an old, wooden-frame duplex house in a 
rough part of the city, not far from the collective. 

"This place is safe," he saido "We have access to a few apartments when 
we need themo The couple who Iive here are away for a few days, but 1 
have extra keys. We just ask you to be careful of the furniture. The 
people who rent the apanment are good friends." 

We c1imbed the stairs to the second floor and entered a three-room 
apartment that was inexepensively but neatly furnished. Arlo said he 
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wanted lO rest before heading back to Cincinnati. The Test of us got into 
another rap session about the meeting. Soon we got around 10 admitting 
that we were hungry, so Fuerst and 1 went out to get pizza and Coke. 1 
also necded cigarettes. 

We stayed up rapping until well after midnight. We got up early the 
next moming, hut spent most of the day sitting around speculating 
about what was going on. We were being given ample time to prepare 
ounelves psychologically for whatever commitment we would be asked 
lO malLe. 

About 10 o'dock, FueTSt carne over to get Dianne Donghi. They left 
and didn't return until 4 P.M. Then Dianne asked me to go for a walk 

~ 

'. with hcr. We probably could have talked just as well in the kitchen, hut 
sbe necded lO make a mystery out of what she was going to sayo 

i
;;; 

We walked by oId warehouses, two cheap rundown hotels, a pawn 
shop, a liquor atore, and two crowded han. On the next hlock there was 
a small hole-in-the-wall food counter that had a service window facing" i the sidewalk. I toId Dianne to wait a minute while 1 bought two ice cream1 eones. Sbe tbought 1 was crazy. hut she took the cone. and we walked 

~ aIong lick.ing the ice cream. A seedy-looking guy in a skid-row bar stared 
out the window at uso 1 waved to him, and he lifted his beer glass to me. 

"Our commitment is getting very serious." Dianne was saying as we 
passed the bar. "We're reaching a point where somebody could get 
killed--a pointof no return." 

Thcn sbe asked: "Are you willing to leave Cincinnati?"t Her question caught me by surprise. so 1 had to ask her what she 
meant. 

¡ "Are you willing 10 go to another city to carry out our work. or to as 
many cities as it takes to win? What rm trying to find out is: are you 
willing lO tTavel freely without much notice?" 

I hadn't tbought about this before. hut 1 had to say, "rm ready to do 
anything that will help." 

This answer plcased her. "Good. 1 can't explain anything to you now. 
but youll understand before we leave here. !t's important that you be 
ready lO commit yourself totally to the revolution. You have to be ready 
lO hit and run." 

I assured her that 1 was. 
When we got back to the house. it was dark. My hands were extremely 

cold. John Fuerst was waiting for Dianne. He said that Mark Rudd and 
Linda Evans, another member of the Weather Bureau, were holding a 
meeting of the primary leadership. He took Dianne and left. 

When Dianne got back, she said we all had to leave early in the morn­
ing for an important meeting. Then she started rapping with me about 
the revolution. We finally fell asleep on the ftoor in front of the fire. 
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About an hour later, we were awakened by someone shaking uso 1 
looked up iOlo the face of Barry Stein. Dianne was taken by complete 
surprise. "What are you doing here?" she demanded. 

Stein wasn't at the collective when we'd gotten the phone call to come 
to Cleveland, and Dianne hadn't made any attempt to contaet mm. "1 
figured you weren't able to get in touch with me, so 1 carne up anyway," 
he said. 

Dianne looked right at him: "We didn't try." 
Her abrupt answer shook Stein. He didn't say anything. All he did was 

stare at uso Dianne then ordered him to go back to Cincinnati. Stein 
started fumbling for excuses to stay. 

"It's late," he pleaded. "Let's talk about it in the morning." 
But Dianne was firmo "You'llleave now," she said sternly. "We'll taIk 

when 1get back to Cincinnati." 
Stein started to protest again, but she shut him up. "We'll taIk when 1 

get back to Cincinnati," she repeated. 
Stein left almost as suddenly as he had appeared. 
The next morning, after our usual donuts and milk breakfast, Dianne 

led us on a two-hour trek to our meeting place. She refused to give us 
any hint as to where we were going. AH she would say was that it would 
take a while to get there. We started out by using the Cleveland rapid­
transit system. Then we took a bus. Next we walked. 1 hadn't done so 
much walking around in cold weather since 1 was in the army. By this 
time we were in a residential area of Cleveland. The houses were built on 
good-sized plots of weH-groomed land. The neighborhood looked rich, 
even in the drabness of winter. 

Dianne was looking at the house numbers as we walked along. Finally 
we turned into a low, ranch-style house. She opened the front door, and 
we went inside without ringing the bello John Fuerst and other members 
of the Cleveland collective were already there. We were direeted to a 
small room off the expensively furnished living room. A short, heavy-set 
man with gray hair carne in to welcome us and said that his wife had left 
a snack in the kitehen for uso He then told us to make ourselves at borne 
and apologized tl1at both he and his wife had to leave. He was a profes­
sor and had to get back to the campus for an afternoon class. 

Shortly thereafter, Linda Evans and Mark Rudd joined uso When they 
carne in, we were all in a general discussion on the revolution. 1 was 
arguing the feasibility of expecting the working class to join uso "The 
working class doesn't think they're oppressed," 1 said, using my step­
father as an example. "He's conteOl to have his beer in front of the 
television seto If you talk revolution to him, he'lllaugh in your face." 

"Then you're saying revolution is impossible," one guy snapped. 
1 didn't want to be an antagonist, só 1 backed off my position mild-

ly."No, I'm noto What I'Ill saying is that it will take time to get the 
working dass behind uso We can't do it by just sitting around taIk.ing." 

"Right on," anothe.. voice said. "The man's right on target." 
1 looked around. Mark Rudd had been listening to our conversation 

and was supporting me. Then he suddenly cut off the group discussion. 
"We're going to continue this on an individual basis upstairs. We want 
you to come up one at a tillle to rap with one of us." 

We continued our group discussion as individuals disappeared up the 
staircase. When each person carne down. he was ushered into the living 
room by Dianne Donghi. who was standing at the bottom of the stair ­
case. The int.erviews were averaging about ten minutes each. 

Dianne finally called me. The first room on the right. she said. I went 
up me carpeted staircase to a large, nicely decorated bedroom. Linda 
Evans was sitting in a chair on the far side of the room near the window. 

"Close the door," she said as 1 went inside.1 could hear Rudd's voice in 
the other room. 

I sat down on the bed and leaned back on the pillow. Linda began by 
reviewing my reasons for joining the movement. She knew a lot about 
me. 

"The only mark that seems to be against you is that you've failed to 
develop your leadership qualities," she said. "We hope this will change. 
We want everybody to live u p to his potential." 

llistened without answering. Then she added: "You were at Flint, so 
you know that we're beginning a second phase of activities. We have to 
become more aggressive." 

She told me Dianne had given me an excellent recommendation. 
which is why 1 was at this meeting. "Sorne of the others from your 
collective are already more active," she said, referring to Naomi and 
Spiegel. "What we're asking from you is total commitment," she said. 

i looking direetly at me. "1 mean a commitment to kili if necessary, or be 
killed. Can you give us that cornmitment?" 

!: 
"I'm with you." 
She paused a moment, then stated: "The Weather movement is going 

underground." 
1 was surprised. My first reaction was that the decision would huTt 

them. They had been building broad support on many campuses, but 
now they were throwing this away in favor of a small, active group. It 
would make them harder to catch. but it would also keep thero from 
growing rapidly. 

"You seem surprised," Linda said.
 
"1 am."
 
Linda explained that the Weathermen had become convinced they
 

could accomplish more working in smalJ focals, or action groups, in an 

~ 
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underground environment than they could by being an open move­
mento In preparation for this phase, many Weathermen had lo be 
purged so that a fighting force could be organized. Weathermen would 
now operate in focals of three to six individuals within the framework of 
a collective in target cities. On any particular action, each focal would be 
given only enough information to carry out its pan of the assignment. 
This policy would protect other members as well as themselves. Collec­
tives in each city would be responsible for selecting and destroying tar­
gets. However, if needed, they could call on the national Weather Bu­
reau to send in additional help. 

After Linda finished explaining the new structure, she said I would be 
assigned to either Chicago or Detroit. The tincinnati collective was 
being disbanded in favor of a heavy concentration in three major areas: 
the East Coast, centering around New York; the Midwest, centering 
around Chicago and Detroit; and the West Coast, centering around San 
Francisco. 1 left the room, amazed at the plans. 

Later, when the individual interviews were finished, Rudd spoke to 
the group. "We don't want to become terrorists," he emphasized...~  

don't want to destro a buildin unless it has meanin . AIl our tar 15 

must s m s o aut Orlt ,en er on t e oca, state, or e era eve. 
Our targets can peop e as well as o )ects. Po Icemen, po Ice can an 
buildings are prime targets on the locallevel. AIl federal buildings from 
counhouses to the ROTC facilities are prime targets, as are high govern­
ment officials such as the Secretary of State, the Vice-President, the 
Secretary of Defense. Naturally, other prime targets are the White 
House, Capital, Pentagon, and Defense Department. When plans are 
formulated, these buildings will be hit." 

Then we discussed the possibility of kidnapping high government 
officials for ransom to finance our activities. Rudd warned us again that 
we could be killed in carrying out these new assignments. ''Dffing pigs is 
one thin "he em hasized, "but we don't want to in'ure innocent o­
pie. We can't a ord to turn t e masses agamst uso e nee t elr e p. 
Remember, we have to concentrate on symbols of authority." 

We stayed in the house rapping about the underground for a few 
more hours. The enthusiasm was fantastic. It was suggested that the first 
federal target should be Vice-President Agnew. This would prove to the 
country that we were to be taken seriously. No possible target was dis­
couraged, but the person who suggested it had to be ready to show how 
it could be accomplished. 

"Our main objective is to cause enough chaos in the system that it will 
be ripe for an overthrow," Rudd instructed. "But at the same time, we 
have to select assignments that we can execute without getting caught. 

We can assassinate any official if we're willing to sacrifice ourselves, but 
we want lo strike and get away." 

We left me house late in the afternoon and returned to the apartIDent. 
The only thing we had had to eat during the meeting was carrot stico 
aOO ice eream left by the woman who owned the house. Everybody was 
excite<! and anxious lo get moving. Arlo Jacobs was waiting for us when 
we got back. He looked haggard after his marathon driving stint, deliv­
ering people going on the Venceremos Brigade, and he was now ready 
lO take us back lo Cincinnati. Dianne called him aside lo tell him what he 

r 
hadrnLued. 

Back in Cincinnati, we began working rapidly to disband the collec­
ove. Each of us at the Cleveland meeting was given certain assignments. 
My job was lo get in touch with the White Panthers and explain our new 
position lo them. Then I had to talk with several of our contaets. Dianne 
Donghi was taking care of the members who had not gone to Cleveland. 
Sorne of them would be assigned to other cities to set up aboveground 
collectives so that we could keep in touch easily; others were told they 
would have to continue working for the movement on their own. Still 
others, like Barry Stein, were being dropped. 

The White Panthers didn't agree with our new position and felt we 
were only hurting ourselves. Tom Udall had gone on to Cuba, so 1 just 
told the other contaets that the revolution was called off. Many accused 
us of copping out. 

My bardest job was getting to see Murrish. 1 was extremely busy with 
movement aetivities. 1 managed to call him the first day we got back to 
tell him about the decision to go underground. This was news to himi no 
otber office bid reported it. Murrish was extremely interested in the 
meeting with Rudd and Evans. 1 couldn't talk long, but 1 did assure him 
I'd get in louch before the next day. He was peeved that 1 had gone off 
to Cleveland without telling him, but 1 explained that there hadn't been 
any time. The decision to go underground had confirmed my original 
fean about the Weathermen. 

Later that same night, Dianne told me 1 was assigned to Detroit with 
Arlo. Dianne was going to Chicago. She said Stein was very bitter about 
being dropped and asked me to watch him closely until 1 left Cincinnati. 

t It toolc. us a couple of days to make arrangements for everybody to get 
his proper assignment. During this time 1 was in contact with Murrish 
twice, both times by phone. When 1 told him 1 was going to Detroit, he1 
said he was concerned for my safety, but that he would work out sorne 

f arrangements with the FB 1 office there. He also told me 1 was the only 
one workin with the FBI who had been acce ted into the under ound 
Weather movement. All t e ot er FBI contacts a en purged by t e 
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Weathermen. "Be extremely careful," he said. "1( you run into any trou­
ble at all, get ouL" He told me to use the code name "Allen"when 
contacting the Detroit office. 

We had to rent an extra car to help us clear up all the business in the 
city. The day before Arlo and 1 were to leave for Detroit, we took Dianne 
to the airport for her plane to Chicago. She was carrying a twelve-gauge 
shotgun with her in a guitar case. She had had the gun with her since she 
arrived, but this was the first time 1 had seen it. As she climbed on the 
plane with the case, it reminded me of a scene from a movie about the 
gangsters in the 19205. She also had a .38-<:aliber revolver that she had 
left at the collective by mistake. Instead of going back for it, she asked 
me to wrap it up and send it by Greyhound to Chicago. 1 told her 1 
would put it on a bus the next day. When 1 got back to the house 1 
wrapped the revolver in a large box. Then 1 called Murrish; after 1 
explained about the revolver, he said he needed a photograph of Arlo 
Jacobs. 1 told him I'd bring Arlo to the bus station at about 10 in the 
morning when 1 shipped the package. AIl the FBI would have lO do was 
to have somebody there with a camera. 

The morning Arlo and 1 were ready to leave for Detroit, he shocked 
me. He said we were going by way of the Ohio State and Dayton 
campuses. 

"We were told to get up there as soon as possible," 1 said. "Why are we 
stopping?" 

"We're going to need help, and 1 can get it at Ohio State," Arlo said, 
acting smug. "Since we're driving to Detroit, why not accomplish some­
thing along the way?" 

1 didn't like the way Arlo was acting. 1 had to know what he had 
planned. "Look," 1 said. "We've been ordered to Detroit for sontething 
big. 1 don't think we should be stopping off just to socialize or play 
games." 

Arlo snapped at me. ''This is no game. We can pull it off. AIl we need is 
a liule help." 

"What the hell are you talking about? 1 want to go to Detroit, and 
you're giving me riddles." 

This angered Arlo. "We're going to fire-bomb the computer complex 
at Dayton University," he blurted out. "The complex does a lot of work 
for the government. !t's a natural target." 

This stunned me. "Have we got enough help?" 1 asked, for lack of 
anythingelse to sayo 

Arlo said he was counting on a couple of guys at Ohio State to get the 
dynamite for USo We had plenty of help at Dayton, although Arlo admit­
ted that neither his friends at Dayton nor those at Ohio State knew of the 
plan. 

"You don't waste any time, man," I said to Arlo. "We go underground, 
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and you Ft right into it." Arlo was pleased with my comments. My 
thoughts were lO get away from him so 1 could warn Murrish. It 
wouldn't take us long lo drive lo Dayton, so 1 assumed Arlo was planning 
the attaek for lOnight.
 

"You sure we have enough time to plan this?" 1 asked.
 
"No sweaL There are two dances on the Dayton campus tonight. One
 

is an ROTe ball, and the other is sponsored by an antiwar group. All we
 
have lo do is cause a little diversion and then hit the complex."
 

Arlo .as serious. Evidently he had given the plan enough thought to
 
check on me scheduled events. How could 1 warn Murrish? Then 1
 
rerqembered the rented car out front. "Jesus, Arlo, 1 have to return that
 
car," I said. 1 was hoping he would volunteer to bring it back, but he
 

didn'L 
"No problem," he said. "1'11 follow and pick you up." 
We walked out of the barren apartment and clicked the door locked 

behind uso 80th cars were parked near each other. "Let's go, man," 1 said 
as we reached the street. 

I sprinted lO the rented car, turned on the motor, and took off. Arlo 
was ript behind me. My only chance was to get to the car rental office 
with enough time to spare to ca11 Murrish. 1 Tan two ye110w caution 
Iights, but Arlo stayed right with me. 1 started to weave in and out of 
traftic 10 pick up a few minutes. Fina11y 1 got a break. Arlo got stuck at a 
IighL 1 ran a red light and one stop sigo before ripping into the car 
rental garage. 1 dashed into the office, tossing the keys and papers onto 
the counter. There was a phone in the corner, but aman was walking 
IOward iL 1 pushed past him and grabbed the receiver, dropping in a 
dime at the same time. The phone at the FBI office seemed to take a long 
time lo answer. When the receptionist finally spoke, 1 said: "Give me 
Munish, quickl" Another delay. Murrish wasn't at his desk. Find him. 
Find him. 1 looked across the room and out the window. Arlo hadn't 
arrived yet. Murrish was on the phone. 1 fired out the plan and hung up. 
When 1 walked back to the counter for the receipt, Arlo was pulling up 
outfront. 

On the way to the Ohio State campus, Arlo outlined his plan. 1 listened 
carefuOy. injeeting negative thoughts here and there without looking 

~ 

overly anxious to block the acuon. 
When we got to Ohio State, a guy just back from one of the Vencere­

mos Brigades was holding a press conference in the student union build­
ing. He was very impressed with himself and with what he had done for 
a stTuggling nation despite threats of reprisal from the U. S. govern­
mento 1 listened to his speech while Arlo went off to find his friends. Arlo 
returned alone. His friends had left campus for the weekend. At least 
that ~as  one break. 

But Arlo was sti)) convinced we could carry out the plan. 1 stressed the 
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urgency of getting to Detroit and questioned the wisdom of planning a 
major assignment without clearing it with our new leadership. "Suppose 
this is already planned as a target by another group? We could screw it 
al1 up. If the complex is so important, somebody must have it on their 
list." 

1 was gelting to Arlo with this argumento Back in the car 1 continued to 
stress the need for careful planning in order to carry out this action. He 
was weakening, but he still was insisteOl that we could pull off the attack. 
Finally he agreed to wait until we got into Dayton before we would 
definitely commit ourselves to executing his plan. 

Halfway to Dayton the car began to swerve violently and almost went 
out of control. Arlo had to fight to keep it on the road. Finally he 
managed to pull it to a stop. We got out and found that the rear axle had 
snapped. Another good luck omen, 1 thought. But Arlo was determined 
to push ahead. We pushed the car well off the road and left a note on it 
saying we were going for assistance. Then we stuck out our thumbs and 
started líitchhiking to Dayton. 

Just as 1 thought luck was TUnning with me because nobody was stop­
ping for us, a large Ford carne screeching to a stop, and the driver waved 
us over to the caro He was going through Dayton. 

"Yessir," he said. ''1'11 have you there in no time." 
The driver was a middle-aged man with a protruding stomach. He was 

a private detective on his way to Sto Louis. He had just helped a small 
manufacturing company in the Midwest break up a union threat. He 
didn't explain all the details, but it sounded like he had used sorne high­
pressure and devious tactics to keep the company employee leaders 
from joining a large national union. 

1could tell Arlo was seething inside. 1 figured if 1 popped off about ..he 
need for unions, the guy might not take us to the campus. 1 tried to get 
him mad. "You're a f---ing strikebreaker," 1 said. 

Arlo hit me in the ribs to keep quieto He wanted the ride into Dayton. 
It was getting late. 1 had to anger the guy without getting Arlo mad at 
me. But no malter what 1 said, the guy would answer me with sorne 
innocuous phrase like, "1 gotta make a living, son." 

He dropped us off right on the campus. 1 went iOlo the campus res­
taurant while Arlo went looking for Jim O'Hara, the Weathermen con­
taet 1 had met on the Washington trip, and Tom Scanelli, an SDS leader 
at Dayton. 

The three of them joined me in the campus restaurant. Arlo had 
briefed them on his plan on the way over, but they didn't agree with it. 
Both were protesting, and their reluctance to go along would make it 
easier to change Arlo's mind. 1 proposed that we use this trip to Dayton 
as a planning session and then come back to hit the complex sorne other 
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time. Both Scanelli and O'Hara favored my idea. I could tell that neither 
of them wanted any part of the bombing, were even uncomfortable 
tallUng about it. Arlo criticized them for not being properly prepared. 
He claimed they should have been ready to execute an emergency plan. 

1 backed Arlo. "Vou guys should have thought of this yourselves," 1 
said. 

Using the faet that nobady was prepared as an excuse, I convinced 
Arlo to postpone the attack. However. since we were on the campus, 
Arlo insisted on disrupting the ROTC ball scheduled for that night. 

We left the restaurant and went over to Scanelli's apanrnent just off 
!he campus to work out sorne details. Scanelli called Larry Brown. the 
Black Panther leader on campus, and a few other radicals from Antioch 
CoUege. They agreed lo join uso We were about a dozen. 

Al 10 o'dock we drifted over to the student union building where the 
two dances were in progress. The ROTC had the main ftoor, while the 
antiwar group was in the basement. There were about 150 at the "anti ­
military ball" in the basernent, dancing to a four-piece bando Scanelli 
knéw many of the people in the room, so he took over the microphone 
when the band took a break. 

-rhis is a perfeet exarnple of the injustice in this country:' he yelled 
ioto !he microphone. "We're the ones who want to stop the war, and 
whal happens? We get put in the basement. And who gets the ballroom 
upstairs?" He jerked his thumb up and down at the ceiling. uThe war­
mongers. that's who. The ROTC pigs who are going to make a career 
out of killiog Vietnarnese so Dow Chemical can get rich." 

Scanclli got a favorable response from the audieoce, though nobody 
was ready to charge out of the room to battle with the ROTC. So then he 
shouted: uWhat should we do? We can't let the warmongers get away 
with this." He looked out at me. He wanted me to take sorne action. but 1 
was hesitanL Finally, 1 thought. what the hell. 1 could jusúfy starúng a 
fight if it prevented a bornbing. 

1 raced up to me rnicrophone and grabbed it away from Scanelli. 
"Hsll ws'vs becn Iistening to these guys long enough. Let's go. Let's go 
stomp those f íng pig bastards.·· Then 1 shoved the microphone 
asirle aod Tan toward the door. Others were shouting and yelling behind

t me. 
About 50 of the dancers followed me as we raced up the stairs and tof the ballroom. Five guys in army uniforms, holding policelike billy clubs.I 

were standing in front of the door. 1 veered off to the side, and ArloI joined me. 

'$ uNice going;' he said to me. "For awhile, 1 didn't think we were going 
to get them.,. 

The guys with the clubs moved out to meet uso As they did, one of 
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them was punched on the side of the head. The doors of the ballroom 
swung open, and the doorway quickIy filled up with walking uniforms. 

,¡,
The scuffte turned into a shouting match, but most of the action was just ::l 

pushing and shoving. J 
Soon Arlo was satisfied and suggestcd we cut out before the campus ~ 

-~ 

police arrived. We got Scanelli and the rest and took off. We ended up ~-

in Scanelli's apartment for a rap session, and 1 turned on Arlo for not !­
-Ooi.­

~-telling any of us about his plan until the last minute. As 1 criticized Arlo, 
1 was laughing inside. A potentially violent night had been heid down to •"" a minor incident. 1was ready for Detroit. ~ 

12.
 
De'lroit
 

I arrived in Detroit the day alter our demonstration at the ROTC hall. 
Arlo had hitehhiked back to pick up the disabled car and would be 
following as soon as he could get it repaired. Instead of immediately 
tdephoningthe number Dianne Donghi had given me, 1 checked into a 
YMCA to spend a night between c1ean sheets and enjoy a steak dinner 
and a few beers. The next day 1 called the collective, and Naomi an­
swered tite phone. 1 told her 1 was at the bus terminal. She and Beth 
WaIes, whom 1 met for the first time, carne down to pick me up in the 
salDe 1962 Chevvy we had had in Cincinnati. 

My reunion with Naomi was cordial, but not emotional. Naomi said 
she was glad that 1 was assigned to Detroit, but then quickly reminded 
me that I was a day late. 1 told her aoout the side trip to Dayton Univer­
sity. exaggerating my participation while criticizing our contacts there 
for not being better prepared. She listened without commenting. When 
1 finished, she asked when Arlo was due to arrive. BiII Ayers needed the 
$1700 Arlo had collected for the Venceremos people to helpdefray 
expenses in Detroit. 

As we drove over to the collective, Naomi discussed our reasons for 
being in Detroit. She said it was an extremely racist pig city where the 
blacks not only were oppressed by the police. but were exploited by 
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three of the world's leading purveyors of capitalistic injustice---General 
Motors, Chrysler, and Ford. The city was considered ripe for revolution. 

Detroit was one of the first cities the Weathermen became active in 
after splitting from SDS in June 1969. Two early Weatherman demon­
strations that were highly publicized in the underground press occurred 
in Detroit. The first, referred to as the Metro Beach Riot, happened in 
July 1969. At that time the Weathermen were beginning to recruit for 
the National Action in Chicago. As part of this program, about 30 of 
them roamed around the public beach carrying Viet Cong ftags and 
handing out leaftets. When the Weathermen planted the red ftags in the 
sand at the beach, a fight broke out with other young people, many of 
whom belonged to a motorcycle gang in Oetroit. The me1ee exploded 
iOlo a riot that the police had to break up. Weathermen daimed the 
demonstration was a success because it proved to the greasers that move­
meOl people were ready to fight for their cause and, as a result, they won 
the admiration of the motorcyde gang, many of whom became allies. 

The second action, which took place in August, was conducted en­
tire1y by Weather women. Nine of them captured a sociology classroom 
at McComb Community College to protest what they termed the school's 
racist admissions policies. The women charged that the college waOled 
to train white females only for secretarial positions, so it made entrance 
requirements very difficult for blacks. At one point in the demonstra­
tion, according to New Left Notes, two males in the dassroom got up to 
leave. However, the women attacked them with karate chops. Their 
occupation of the dassroom ended when the police carried them 
screaming from the building. All nine were arrested for assault and 
bauery and being disorderly. 

Naomi took me to 1412 Pearson Street. Our collective was a four­
room apartment on the second "oor of an old tenement house. The 
absence of furniture made it resemble the other collectives 1 had been in. 
There were also two other apartments in town because we had 17 people 
assigned to the Detroit area. 

We spent most of the week in political discussions, reaffirming our 
commitment to the movement and geuing ourselves emotionally ready 
for action. Howevel, 1 did manage to slip out on Wednesday afternoon 
to meet Carl O'Gara, my FBI contact in Detroit, in a downtown restaur­
ant. 1 had found a way to call him on Monday to let him know 1 was in 
(Own. He suggested we meet. 

After leaving the collective, 1 walked along the embankment of the 
freeway for a half mile so 1could see if anyone was following me. Then 1 
hitchhiked a ride into town. 1 got to the restaurant before O'Gara, so 1 
had time to order a sandwich and coffee. We didn't have much food at 

the house, and I was hungry. I had already lost 12 pounds since joining 
tbe Weat.Mnnen. Our eating habits didn't exactly meet dietary 

specifications.
O'Gara was a pleasant person to work with. He asked me where the 

coUectives were located, who was living in Detroit, what our specific 
plans were. We rapped for about an hour, and I promised to call him at 
least every other day. Like Murrish, O'Gara gave very little information 
in return for bis questions. In the long run that was safer for me. For the 
samereason 1 was never told who the other infiltrators or informers 
were."If ttouble occurred, I might be inclined to seek help from another 
agent. which would blow his cover. However, Murrish had told me that I 
was the-only infiltrator who had made it into the Weatherman under­
ground. He toId me that so l'd be extremely accurate in gathering infor­
mation, since it would be difficult to cross-check now. 

Our apanment was so crowded, nobody questioned me when I re­
turned from my meeting with O'Gara. One of the women had her four­
year-old daughter living there with US. The young woman was named 
Melody. Her husband wasn't in the collective. The little girl was a frail, 
pensive child. She obviously didn't have any playmates, and she wasn't 
enrolled in school. She just hung around the house all day, going outside 
on occasion to play alone in the small courtyard. I felt sorry for her. 

Duringthe weelt, I also became friendly with Dianne Oughton, a very 
sweet-looIúng girl from an extremely rich family in IIIinois. Dianne had 
becn involved in the movement for seven or eight years. When I first 
met her, it was hard to believe she could be dedicated to violent action. 
But she had an honest conviction that revolution was the only solution to 
curing the iIIs of suppressed c1asses. She hated injustices, yet could ra­
tionalize violence as a means of righting them. 

About a weelt after my arrival BiII Ayers called an important meeting 
al Wayne State University. Naomi announced that I was expected to 
attend, along with Linda Herbert, Beth Wales, and Marsha Brownstein. 
There was a1ways some nervousness about holding planning discussions 
in the coIlect.ive. We assumed the police didn't know where we lived and 
couldn't bug us, but Ayers wanted to be absolutely sure. We had to be 
free lo talk., so he called this meeting for the university. 

.e Dianne Oughton drove us over to the campus. lt had been snowing off 
and on in light Humes all day long.¡ We went into a large dassroom that had a big table at the front of the 

i!!: room facing rows of desks. BiII Ayers was sitting at the head of the table,.. 
.:lE 
¡;, as if presiding over a committee meeting for General Motors. He waved 
ro us to talte the chairs around the table. He looked at me. "Where's your
í f ing friend, Arlo?" he demanded, as if I kept track of Arlo's 
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wanderings. "He's got $1700 we need." Obviously Ayers was counting 
on using the money Arlo had coIlected for the Venceremos people to 
run our coIlective. 

When we were aH seated, Ayers said we had been caIled together to 
make plans to select and destroy targets that were symbols of authority. 
If necessary, we would kidnap government officials for ransom and as­
sassinate others when it was poJiticaIly expediento The Weathermen 
were now a fighting force. 

We had aggressive units in New York, BuffaJo, Boston, PhiJadelphia, 
Chicago, Detroit, CJeveland, Denver, San Francisco, Oakland, Berkc;ley. 
and Seattle. AH mese coJJectives had enough dynamite, b1asting gPS. 

! 

I 

and gunpowder to carry out aIl assignment.s; when necessary, lempo­
rary units would be established in other cities to impJement certain pro­
jects. When traveling, we would be contaeted, if needed, by the Weather­
men name, "Delgato." For example, I'd be paged at an airport or bus 
station as Larry DeIgato. Marion DeIgato was a Jegendary figure in 
Weatherman circles. He was a five-year-old boy who supposedly placed a 
concrete slab on a railroad track, derailing the train. 1 had always been 
amazed that a five-year-old boy could lift a slab heavy enough to do such 
damage, but since the story was accepted, 1 didn't question it. Now 1 had 
two code names: Delgato for the Weathermen and AIIen for the FBI. . 

Then Ayers turned to our assignment. "This group is going to be a 
'1 fighting focal. You will work together within the structure of the Detroit 

coIlective." As soon as Jacobs got into town he'd join us, and so would 
Wendy Schramm. Schramm was raising money by marrying Mark Stivic. 
They were both due back in Detroit by the weekend. 

Ayers pushed his chair back, stood up, then leaned forward, looking 
at each one of uso "You're a focal; therefore you need a target. And 
before we leave here today, you'I1 have one." 

1 looked at my companions. Whom or what would they select? 
"Agnew!" carne the first nomination. Ayers studied this possibiJity. 

"That's fine," he said, "but is it practical now? 1 mean, will he be in 
Detroit within the next few weeks? What can we do that will apply here?" 

"How about the mayor. What's his name?"� 
"Gribbs."� 
Again Ayers pondered the suggestion.� 
"That may be good. The blacks are definitely suppressed in Detroit,� 

and Gribbs isn't doing anything to aIleviate the situation." 
Someone added: "He just appointed something caIled the Detroit 

Renaissance Commiuee without any blacks. The NAACP is pissed off." 
Ayers shook his head. "AH right," he said. "We have Gribbs. Any other 

suggestions?" 
1 was sure Ayers had a target in mind.and wanted us to reach the same 
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conclusion. It was typical Weathermen strategy. If we were going to be� 
the ones who had to carry out the mission, we had to convince ourselves.� 

The General MolOrs Corpora~e  headquarters building was named.� 
"GM is one oE the largest racist eapitalistic pig companies in the world.� 
Its only black employees are on tb~  assembly line, working like slaves."� 

"That's good," Ayers agreed. "But is there sometbing else, something� 
closer lO the black cornmunity that we can strike out at for them? Re­�
member,our targets should ~  simple. The masses must grasp our mes­�
sage immediately."� 

He paused lO accept more recornmendations.� 
"Why not the police commissioner?"� 
Ayei"s was smiling. We had obviously touched on the target area. "Let's� 

discuss the police," he said. "What's going on here that focuses on every­�
tbing we've been taJking about?"� 

Tbere was siJence whiJe we tried to think about what was going on in� 
DetroiL� 

"Of course," someone broke the silence. "The trial of the pigs who� 
murd~red  the three blacks in a motel a couple of years ago."� 

"Rigbt on," Ayers said. "The pigs are on trial in Flint. They murdered� 
three b1ack brothers for no reason, and we all know nothing is going to� 
happen lO them. The trial is a farce, like all establishment trials."� 

During a riot in Detroit in July 1967, three black men were killed at� 
the Algiers Motel. A police investigation showed that they were shot at� 
clase range; tbat the Algiers Mo~el  was well over a mile from the center� 
oE the riot area; that the police at the scene didn't make an official report� 
of tite incident. Eventually, three policemen were arrested. They were� 
on trial now in federal court for conspiracy to violate the civil rights of� 
the tbree dead men.� 

To Ayers, the three policemen on triaJ were only vehicles through� 
which he could attack the system. Weathermen had to thrive on local� 
issues, just as on the nationallevel they had to take advantage of the war� 
in Vietnam. Without issues, revolution was impossibJe.� 

Ayen hammered on the desk. "Where did those pigs get the money to� 
~ hir~  decent lawyers? The Police Officers Association put up the money. 

Tbc pig oflicers can't afford to have their foot soJdiers found guilty. It 
wouldn't Iook good for them. Somebody might get the idea to investigate 
the racist págs who give the orden." 

Ayen had narrowed in on our target: The Detroit Police Officers 
Association Building. 

'6Righton." 
. "We blast that f ing building to hell," Ayers said." And we do it 
when the place is crowded. We wait for them to have a meeúng, or a 
social evento Then we strike." 
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While our focal was concentrating on the officers building, another 
unit was making plans to destroy the Thirteenth Precinet, the station 
house where the cops involved in the incident were assigned. 

"Any objections?" Ayers asked. 
There were no objeétions, so Ayers took a large, Batly folded paper 

from his coat pocket and opened it in front of uso It was a street map of 
the officers building and a description of the area surrounding it. 

"This is it," he said, pointing to the map. "It's a two-story brick 
building." Then he turned to me. "Grathwohl, take a look at this dia. 
gramo You haven't said much tonight." 

1 leaned over and looked at the map. Ayers waited a few scconds, then 
asked, "How much dynamite wiH it take to blow that up?" 

1 kept my eyes on the map, trying to think of an answer. How the hell 
did I know how much dynamite it would take? But I knew Ayers thought 

'~J  of me as an expert in explosives and weapons becausc I had fought in 
Vietnam. In addition, 1 was a greaser; therefore, I was uscd to violence. 

"WelI, what's the answer?" he snapped. 
"Thirteen sticks," I finalIy said. "That wiH blow the hell out of the 

building." 

"Okay," he said. "You'lI get it. How about using a shape bomb to get 
more force?" 

This time 1answered right away. "No problem." 
Then he said, "What 1 want you to do is cut the dynamite sticks open 

with a knife to get the powder out." 
1looked up at him, amazed. "You're crazy," 1 blurted out. "You let me 

know when you're going to do something like that, because I'm going to 
be far away from here." 

This remark annoyed Ayers. "We'll talk about that later," he snapped. 
"We have other details to go over now." 

He warned us to plan every move very carefully. He didn't want 
anybody to get caught. To protect all of us, each individual would know 
only as much as he had to about the mission. The person who wciuld 
actuaHy place the bomb would not be sclected until the last minute. That 
way, if the pigs busted any of us, no one would be able to tell the whole 
story. 

Sorne of the details that we had to work out were possible disguiscs, a 
getaway car, the best time for placing the bombo Ayers assigned Marsha 
Brownstein and me to case the building as soon as possible. "Study this 
map so you'l1 both have a mental picture of the area before you go over 
there," he said. "Weigh aH the details carefully before making a recom­
mendation on how we should act." Ayers said he'd be responsible for 
getting aH the material we would need. 

When Ayers finished talking, Naomi said'that the six of us would work 
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out of an apartment on Forrest Avenue. She recommended that from 
now until after the mission we stay togcther as much as possible. We 
were still expected to be over at Pearson Street for meetings with her or 
Bill, however. 

Our Forrest Avenue apartment was on the second 800r of a run-down 
three-story building. It had no more furniture than the Pearson Street 
place, but a lot more room-two big bedrooms. a living room, and a 
kitehen. 

As we walked into our new apartment, my head was still spinning 
from me meeting. 1 had lO get the information lo O'Gara. Marsha and 1 
decided to case the building the next day. so that would probably be the 
best time to call O'Gara. AII 1 had to do was think of an excuse to leave 
her. 

The next day Marsha and 1 sat in a small coffee shop on West Grand 
Boulevard, staring across at the Detroit Police Officers Association 
Building. The building was nesded almost in the center of a block that 
had a Nadonal Cash Register office on one corner and a Howard John­
son's on me other. There was a small, eight-foot-wide alley between the 
officer's building and the Red Barn Restaurant next to it. We sat drink­
ing coffee and watehing for two hours. but nobody went in or out of the 
building. Then we got up, left the coffee shop, and strolled up and down 
the sidewalk across from the building. We went down the alley into a 
parking lot in me back and noticed the expressway was a short distance 
away. It wouldn't take a car long to get from the lot to the expressway, 
especially at night. Although it was early afternoon, the Red Barn Res­
taurant was fairly crowded. Any bomb placed on the alley side of the 
building would surely rip through the Red Barn, injuring or possibly 
killing several people. 

"What do you think?" Marsha asked as we walked down the alley for a 
second time. 

''This place will crumb1e easily. It's an old building. But l'ro worried 
about tbat restaurant. There's a lot of blacks inside who could get in­
jured if we put the bomb in the alley." 

"Good point. We'lI have to discuss that with Ayers." 
I had to get away from Marsha to call O'Gara, so 1 stopped walking. 

"Look:' 1 said, "we got a good idea of what this area is like, but we still 
don't know what events are going to take place in the building during 
the next two weeks. And 1 don't think we can walk right up and ask 
them. We have to get this information, and there are only a couple of 
ways of doing it:' 

"What do you suggest?" 
"One way is to check the local newspapers. Very frequently social 

events or important meetings will be listed on the women's pages. There 
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are only two newspapers in town, the News and the Free Press, so we could When we got back to the collective, Ayers was waiting for uso He was 
go over and ask to see their back issues." anxious for a report and called us into the kitchen for a conference. He 

Marsha thought about this for a momento "We could spend all after­ was pleased that we had taken initiative to check through the newspaper
ce 

noon in the newspaper office and not find anything." 
I looked down at ~he  sidewalk, pretending to analyze her comment. 

"You're right," I finally said. "We can't afford lO waste too much time. 
But if you take one newspaper and I take the other, we can get it done 
fast." 

She agreed with this idea. I was relieved. It was the only plan I hado As 
it turned out, the two newspapers were within walking distance of each 
other. Once we got into the area, Marsha went to the Free Press building, 
and I hurried off to the News. Time was importaOl. I found a phone 
booth and quickly dialed the FBI. O'Gara wasn't at his desk, but he was 
expected back shortly. I hung up, annoyed. Why wasn't he in when I 
called? Then I went inside and asked where I could go through the back 
issues. I had to go through the motions, just in case Marsha got through 
first and carne down to find me. 

I waited 15 minutes and ealled O'Gara again. He had come back, but 
wasn't at his desk. The time it took to locate him seemed Iike an hour to 
me. As soon as I heard his voice, I began talking. As I explained the plan 
to O'Gara, I kept looking out from the phone booth at the door leading 
into the lobby of the newspaper office. 

O'Gara warned me not to initiate any action. He didn't want me to be a 
parúcipant, just an observer. He also wanted to eatch us in the art of 
placing the bombs. As soon as I knew the úme and day, I was to call 
immediately. He said he'd ask the police to cancel any acúviúes in the 
building for the next couple of weeks, but that obviously couldn't be 
done at the Thirteenth Precinct building. Knowing the exact day was 
exuemely importaOl. 

I assumed the Weathermen would uy to blow up both buildings on 
the same night, but this was just an instincúve guess. A double strike 
would cause greater impact and actually lessen the chances of getting 
caught. If one explosion preceded the other, the police would be on 
guard all over the city. 

After hanging up, I hurried back to the reference room. My book of 
newspapers was súll open on the table. I took a little more interest now, 
and found a calendar of events. If anything was scheduled for the 
DPOA Building, it wasn't Iisted, which was good news. 

I hadn't been back at my desk long before Marsha carne in. "Having 
any luck here?" she asked. From the tone of her voice I could tell she 
hadn't found anything. "Just a couple of more pages," I said. 

Outside it was snowing lightly. I turned my collar up as we stepped out 
iOlo the cold airo "We wasted an hour, but it had to be done," she 
complained. I agreed. . 

files. 
"Let's get down to details," he said. Arlo had arrived with the money, 

and Wendy Schramm was there, 50 our focal was complete. Now we had 
to work up a plan of attack. Molotov cocktails and firebombs were ruled 
out because they had to be thrown, which meant the chance of getting 
caught was gready inereased. The bombs had to have delay mechanisms 
so that the individuals had plenty of time 10 get away. And they oh­
viously had to placed without our being seen. 

The plan we worked out was actually quite simple. Two of us, a male 
and a female. would attend the late evening show at the movie theater 
around the comer from the police building. Naturally, the two would be 
dressed in ··straight·' dothes, in order to blend in with the crowd. Near 
the end of the movie one of the two would go into the washroom and 
assemble the bombo The device, induding a burning cigarette, would be 
pIaced inside a paper bag, then carried out of the theater when the 
movie was overo It was a two-minute walk from the theater to the alley 
beside the police building. Many other people would cut through the 
a1ley 10 gel to the parking lot. On the way down the alley. the person 
selected would place the paper bag containing the bomb in the doorway 
on the side of the building and leave. 

lobjectrd to leaving the bomb on the side of the building. "We'lI blow 
out the Red Barn Restaurant. Maybe even kili a few innocent customers 
--and most of them are black." 

Ayen did.n't appreciate my remark. "We can't protect all the innocent 
people in the world. Sorne wiH get killed. Some of us will get killed. We 
have to aecept that fact. That bomb is going to be placed on the side of 
the building." He glared at me for questioning his authority. "Have you 
cased the buildingat night yet?" he asked me. 

"No"· 
"Well. you'd better get on that. We want to be sure that enough people 

¡ leaving the theater use that alley so that it won't look unnatural for two 

¡ 
..­ of us to be walking around there late at night."� 

1 nodded in agreement.� 
··Now let"s talk about the bomb." He spread a diagram of a bomb out 

on the kitehen table. "AH of you have to learn to make these, so you 
might as well begin now." 

In a sense I was standing in a crude bomb factory. Ayers waS holding a 
diagram that showed thirteen sticks of dynamite, wrapped tighdy with 
wire. An M-SO firecracker was set into the sticks to act as the detonator. 
The exceptionally crude part was the timing device. This was merely a lit 
cigarette that was supposed to burn down and then ignite the wick of the 
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firecracker;� the firecracker would then explode, setting off the 
dynamite. 

"What do you think of it. Grathwohl?" Ayers asked. 
It was a primitive device that could work, but Ayers had forgotten one 

thing. The wick of a firecracker is waterproofed, and it normally takes 
more heat� to íight it than could be supplied by a burning cigarette, 
especially when the emire device is enclosed in a paper bago There was 
an excellem chance that the bomb as devised wouldn't work. Also, the 
simple design of the bomb would make it fairly easy for the police to 
dismantle once they found it. 

I looked at Ayers. "It looks fine. You seem to know what you're 
doing." 

Ayers smiled. 
After talking about the bomb, Ayers confirmed the faet that both the 

DPOA and precinct buildings would be attacked the same nighL "We 
wam both bombs to explode as c10se together as possible," he said. 

We wem over the plan several more times before Ayers broke up the 
meeting. He reminded me to check out the area at night and then told 
me that Mike Spiegel wanted to see me over at Pearson Street. When I 
got there, Spiegel was waiting for me in the kitchen drinking coffee. 

"Sit down," he said. "We have a problem that you can help with." 
1 pushed my chair back up against the wall. "What is it?" 
"When you carne back from Vietnam, what outfit did you say you 

served with?" 

1 became cautious. Why did he want to know? "1 was a DI at Fort 
Campbell." 

Mike shook his head. "No man, not that. Weren't you with another 
outfit for a Iittle while?" 

1 couldn't figure out what he was getting ato "Yeah. I was with a 
vehicle-maintenance group." 

"That's what 1 thought. You took care of the trucks, cars, jeeps." 
"If you want to call it that. 1did very Iiule mechanical work." 
"But you did sorne." 
"Sure. Sorne. But I'm not a mechanic." 1 was wondering what idea 

Spiegel had now. 

He put his coffee cup down on the table. "You may not be a mechanic, 
but you're going to have to do." 

1 didn't know if that statement was a complimem or noto "Do for 
what?" 

"1 want you to hold a series of c1inics on car maintenance. Suppose 
something goes wrong, and we have to take off from the pigs. If we get 
out on the highway or in the back road somewhere, we can't afford to 
stop at a gas station for minor repairs. We have to be able to do it 
ourselves. We have to be self-sufficient in every respect." 

Spiegel was so determined to conduct auto-repair clinics, 1 decided 
not to argue with him. Anyway, 1 didn't want to develop a reputation for 
being negative. 

"Look man, 1'11 do what 1 can," 1 volunteered. "1 think. you're right. 
When you're ready, let me know. 1'11 give a coursc in auto mechanics that 
nobody will forget." 

Spiegellaughed. "Hell," he said, "don't get carried away. Let's go into 
the other room. Ayers wanted us to join them when we were through." 

Thc living room was crowded. Spiegel and 1 climbed over a few peo­
pie to get to sitting room on the floor in the cornero Ayers was conduet­
ing a session to reiterate what we should and shouldn't do now that we 
were an underground organization. Much of the material he was cdVer­
ing carne from the Minimanual 01 the Urban Guerrilla and from Revolution 
in 1M Revolution. As we walked in, Ayers was giving tips for survival. He 
was covering the major danger facing aH of us, pig spies. Their only 
punishment should be death. This would discourage others from trying 
to infiltrate our groups. Statements like that never helped my nervous 
system. 

-Ayen reminded us about the danger of keeping address books, note­
books, plans, maps, or any written information. "Memorize what you 
can, then throw the paper away. The pigs can't convict us if they don't 
have any evidence." 

Then he opened up the meeting to a discussion of recent accomplish­
ments of the Weathermen and other revolutionary movements. Bomb­

1:� ings had grown more frequent from Seattle to New York. Obviously, not
" ¡� all the attacks were organized by Weathermen, but that was incidental. 

We encouraged other groups to follow our lead. Among the violent acts1 
I� in the last ten days were exploding dynamite at a municipal building in.­

Cleveland, which injured a judge, and setting fire to an ROTe office in 
Boston. 

Vet, on the nationallevel, we were slow to acto We had three avenues 
open to us: destruction of national buildings and power plants; kidnap­

cie 
;¡¡;� ping government officials for ransom and publicity; and assassinations. 

Assassinations had to be used only when it was politically expediento 
KiUing national figures could turn the masses against uso But there 
might come a time when an assassination would throw the country into 
utter chaos and open it up for fuH-scale revolution. When that time 
carne, we would go aH out to get our target. 

Kidnappings had to be considered as a real possibility. A successful 
kidnapping where ransom was paid, political prisoners freed, and the 
subject released unhurt would gain us a tremendous following. These 
acts would prove that we were unstoppable even by the federal pigs. As 
our image grew stronger and brighter, the government would look in­
creasingly inept and stu pido 
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Whom should we kidnap? 
Viee-President Spiro Agnew. A prime subject because he was pan of 

the administration, although it would be difficult because of the number 
of secret service men who usually accompanied him. If the time was ripe, 
however, an aU-out assault on his entourage could be condoned. Sorne 
would die in getting him, but it could be worth the price. 

Presidential aide Henry Kissinger. A much more likely target. He 
might be the person dosest to the President we would be able lo get. 
Kissinger traveled frequently, which opened up many opportunities 
when he was vulnerable. We might even capture him in another country 
with the aid of our friends. A careful reading of Th New YorA TiIMs 
would disdose his travel plans. 

Secretary of Defense Melvin Laird. Also an excellent choice. He was 
responsible for our war machine. It might even be possible to take him at 
home by a well-organized attack. 

The President's Communications Director, Herb Klein. Probably tlle 
easiest person in the administration to get. The only disadvantage was 
that not enough people would respond to his kidnapping. But he was 
definitelya prime target. He was the mouthpiece for corruption. 

Ayers said that each of us should work out detailed plans on how each 
individual mentioned could be kidnapped with a minimum of danger to 
the Weathermen. Nothing was to be in writing. The Iist could be ex­
panded by any of us, although we had to be prepared to give reasons 
why new subjects should be added. 

Next we discussed national symbols of authority: buildings, air bases, 
or power stations that could be identified with government suppression 
of blacks, browns, poor whites in this country and around the world. 
The f100r was open for suggestions. 

The Pentagon. It was the symbol of our military war machine. It had 
to be bombed. An explosive device strategically placed might also "off" a 
warmonger general. 

The White House. The home of the chief imperialistic pig, It, too, had 
to be destroyed to prove how vulnerable it was. 

The Capitol. The major symbol of our imperialistie government. It 
was a prime target. 

The Department of Justice. Since its name was a contradiction of its 
performance, it, too, had to be attacked. 

The Washington, Lincoln, and Jefferson monuments, although fool- . 
ish symbols of our society, were not prime targets. The masses attached 
too much sentiment to them, which could cause adverse reaction should 
they be destroyed. 

Outside of Washington, D.C., we were already striking at federal 
buildings, courthouses, and ROTC buildings. But we should also con­
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centrate more on air bases, especially those harboring 8-52 bombers.� 
"Wright-Patterson Air Force Base outside Dayton is a good example,"� 

Ayers said. "This would be c10se for us, yet it carri~  national exposure:'� 
The menúon of Dayton pleased Arlo. "Don't forget the computer 

complex there," he said. "It has a lot of government contracts. We have 
our people casing it now." 

Wright-Patterson was especially ripe for attack because of t.he B-52 
strikes in Vietnam. An attack on the air base would be a blow against our 
military war machine and a boost for our friends, the Viet Congo It 
would show them that people in this country support their cause. 

"Getting on an air base wouldn't be easy," 1 said. 
_Naomi answered me. "Getúng past those male chauvinist pig guardsj 

would be simple. Any woman can do it. AII we need is a short skirt, 
make-up, and a flirtatious smile. lE they want to f , we let them:' 

"We can get all the weapons we need from our friends," Ayers said. 
"Or we can knock off an armory. Hell, the military is so screwed up they I 
wouldn't miss a few guns anyway." 1 

"No target is invincible," Naomi said. "If we make up our minds to Jdestroy it, we can." 
iAyers interrupted her. "The Tupamaros do it every week. So can we. I 

And it's important for us to take on these major targets. Anybody can i 

pipe-bomb a police car, but we have to go beyond that stage." 
Everybody agreed that national acts were needed to convince the mas­

ses that we were serious. Once they gained confidence in us as a viable 
fighting force, they would join uso 

"How do we bomb the White House?" Marsha Steinberg asked. "Don't 
t--c- they have guards searching people as they go in?" 
i Ayers began to answer the question, but Naomi interrupted him. "!t's 

oot a tborough search. Anyway, the guards are males. We play off their 
chauvinismo Any woman can get by with dynamite taped to heT thighs. lE 
two or three of us carry a few sticks each, it will be very simple." 

The women would also carry two pocketbooks, one inside the other. 
The larger one would have a piastic waterproof lining. Once ¡nsirle the 
White House or other building, the women would go to the ladies room 
and assemble the bomb inside one of the stalls. They would place the 
bomb inside the pocketbook with the waterproofing and put the unit 
insirle the toilet tank. A timing device would give them sufficient úme to 
leave. The only problem would be to select a strategically located ladies 
room, one close toan office. 

The most unbelievable thing about the discussion was that everybody 
in the room was serious. They even made me believe that each target 
menúoned could be successfully destroyed. 

As the session slowly began to taper off, individuals continued to dis­
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cuss certain possibilities privately. Dianne Oughton was sitting next to 
me. When there was a lull in the conversation she said, "Do you think it's 
possible?" '!' 

"What's possible?" 
~-

""'~ 

"The air base in Dayton. Do you really think we can attack it?" 

•
.-*'

1 glanced around the room to see if anyone was listening 10 us, but ;f
most of them had left or were standing. We were still sitting in the 
cornero "No," 1 said. "You can't get to that base without an all-out com­ ~ 

mando raid." 
She was silent for a momento "All this talk can seem so foolish. 1 don't 

know if we're doing any good or noto I've been around a long time. l:
Much longer than you, Larry. And I'm not sure any longer." i;" 

She had expressed doubts to me before, but usually only one or two 
words. She had great concern for people, and the thought of destroying 
them was bothering her. She was losing weight, and 1 attributed this to 
her nagging doubts. She was for change, but 1don't think she condoned 
the violence. 

1 talked with her a while longer. Then Naomi carne over to join uso 
"1 haven't seen much of you lately," 1 said as Naomi sat down on the 

floor next to USo 
"We've both been rather busy," she said. She glanced over at Dianne, 

then added, "1 understand your project is going very well." 
1 nodded. By now 1wasn't in the mood for more politics. 
"Can we talk alone?" Naomi asked. 
Dianne stood up. "1 was just leaving," she said. 1 watched her walk 

over to BilI Ayers,who was standing near the door. 
Then Naomi told me that Dianne Donghi had been arrested in Chi­

cago on a gun violation charge. 
"But the lawyer got her released right away." 
Jesus, they can't keep anyone in jail nowadays, 1 thought. "What hap­ ,¡¡¡ 

pened?" 1asked. 1had to show sorne interest. 
"She's not sure," Naomi explained. "But she thinks Barry Stein may be 

trying to get her for letting him go. He was bitter when it happened, you 
know. But when you have to purge somebody, you take the chance that 
they may come back to try and get you." 

Nothing was mentioned about my mailing the gun to Dianne in the 
first place, so 1brought it up. "1 wrapped that gun myself," 1 said. "Then 
Arlo and 1 dropped it off at the bus station. How could Stein know what 
was going on?" 

Naomi didn't answer my question. She changed the subject. 
"You know, when this project is completed, you may be sent some­

where else," she said. 
1 assumed that would happen. "Do you know where?" 
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"No. But if it does happen, it's to help develop your leadership quali­
tieso You're still weak in that area." 

She didn't say any more, so 1 didn't push her for answers. We talked a 
while IonFr on general subjects. Then she asked: 

"You going back to Forrest Avenue?" 
llookcd at her. 
"1 thought rd erash here tonight." 
She agreed. We went iOlo the other room to hed. 
When 1 got back to the house, a meeting was going on. The women 

were talkina about tbeir role in the general structure of Weathermen. 
They now were objecting to the name Weathermen heing applied to the 
group as a whole. The group, they protested. should be called Weather 
People. Weather Movement. or Weather Machine. Then. within the 
group. there would be Weathermen and Weatherwomen. 

This was the strongest stand the women had taken since 1 was a mem­
ber. However. in the last few months they had been demanding more 
autbority on all levels. They were also taking more initiative on their 
own. Tltey were avowed defenders of women's liberation, belittling the 
"cqual pay for equal jobs" slogan as being childish and insignificant in 
comparison to the total women's movement. Women should be com­
plete.! indeeendeOl. Sorne of them even said that men were unnecessary 
for ~X.  Scx for leasure could be en'o ed between two women 'ust as 
m as cen aman and woman and ir men didn't ' 
IiberatlOll wou ave to o without women. Any man who be­
• In women's liberation had to agree with this. A liberated man 
wouId refuse lO accept women as sex objects and could enjoy sex with 
otherrnen. 

One woman admitted that she eventually wanted a baby, hut only 
through artificial insemination and only if it was a female. This led to a 
discussion of the role of the family in a revolutionary environment-the 
relationship between parent and child. The consensus was that the fam­
Uy didn't have a place in their society. Loyalties to families held the 
movement back. lt made revolutionaries more concerned about their 
dependents than about the cause. Children should be reared in com­
mUDes. where father and mother figures substituted for the parents. 

As the diKussion continued, 1 watched Melody. She appeared to be 
dedicated to the movement, but she also had great affection for her four­
year-old daughter, who was trying to sleep while lying across Melody's 
lapo Slowly the discussion turned into a criticism of Melody. 

"What about Melody's child?" Naomi asked. "We alllive here together, 
hut is she holding us back? Would we do more if Debby lived in a 
commune with other children?" 

Beth Wales agreed. "One way or another, Debby has to restrict uso We 
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e1se enjoys tbose meetings, but 1 think you hate them. 1 think you'ddon't want to hurt her, so we ease up on our plans." 
rather just go out and do something without all the talk.""The child should go," Linda Herbert said sternly. "She's been here 

I had to laugh when she said that.too long as it is." 
"You're right. 1 didn't know it showed. Those long meetings can getMelody had tucked her legs up under her and wrapped her arms "l. 

around Debby, who was looking at us through sleepy eyes. For the past 
month we had been her aunts, uncles, friends; yet here we were, talking 
about having her live somewhere e1se. It must have been confusing and 
frightening for her. 

Melody defended her tiule girl. "She's no tTOuble to any of you. She 
takes care of hendf. She's never in anybody's way." Melody was grip­
ping Debby more tightly now. 

The tempo of me criticism increased as each person built a case 
against Debby's living in the house any longer. Melody's eyes started to 
fill with tears. Debby was obviously scared. 

Why couldn't they just call Melody aside and tell her lo move out? 
Why subject the tiule girl to this? 1 just sat there listening without speak. 
ing out for Melody. Melody was being forced to make a decision, and 1 
couldn't do anything about it, regardless of how cruel the process was. 

"There's a commume near here that will accept Debby," Marsha said. 
"We can bring her over tomorrow." 

"No!" Melody screamed. "No!" 
"Come here, Debby," Marsha coaxed. "Come over here." 
Debby only buried herself deeper into her mother's arms, crying 

softly.I wanted to jump up and grab both Melodyand Debby and run 
out of the room. Take them out of this weird place. 1 was ashamed and 
saddened by what was going on. Yet 1couldn't do anything. If 1 did, l'd 
be on the wrong side. 

As time moved on, Melody began to relent. She wanted to stay in the 
collective. Finally, she gave in. They could take her daughter in the 
morning. 1 felt lousy inside. These were intelligent people; most of them 
had a true concern for helping those they consid~red  oppressed, yet 
they could still rip apart a mother and daughter. It didn't make any 
sense. 

The next day 1 made an excuse to go to the Veterans Hospital for my 
malaria. 1 had to get away to see O'Gara, and the hospital was a good 
place to meet. Dianne Oughton volunteered lo drive me into town. 1 
didn't want to draw any suspicion, so 1 pretended to be pleased to accept 
her offer. On the drive, Dianne was questioning the movement again. 
She seemed to be in a completely confused state of mind. When we got 
to the hospital, she pulled into a parking space, and turned to talk to me. 

"You're a funny guy, Larry." 
"Me? Why do you say that?" 
"Because everybody likes you. You avoid criticizing people. Everybody 
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boring."� 
"1 llnow what you mean. I've been in this movement a long time. I've� 

)
~ ~n  people starving in Latin America because of uso Our oppression is .....¿.~-=

real, but rm not sure we're going about fighting it in the right way. What 
do you thinll?" ..-""'. 

I couldn't think of anything to say except: "You have to do what you 
havetodo." 
S~e  reached over, putting her hand on mine. 
"rm leaving DetToit," she said. "But maybe we can get together when 1 

getback." 
"Fine," I said, opening the door. She volunteered to wait for me. 
"No thanb. I may be a while. I have to fill out a lot of papers." 
I walked across the lot to the front walk. 1 heard the horn as she drove 

away. 1 turned and waved good-bye. Inside, 1 went to the phone booth 
and aallm O'Gara. t"'" 

On Saturday night, February 21, Beth Wales and 1 went back to take a
another Iook around the DPOA building. We walked up the street in :::a 

>front af the building, then turned down the alley into the parking lot. :::a 
The building was dark. too< 

-rhose pigs don't seem to use the building very much," Beth 

I 
~ 

8 
commented. 

"They don't have time for that," 1 said. "They're out roughing up the 
greasers. Tbat's tbeir sport." 

Beth laugbed. "Or roughing up the blacks. The f ing pigs are 
the same all over." 

We went back up the alleyand walked around the corner to the movie 
theater to check on the time the rnovie was over: the first show got outi 
about 8:S00n weekdays and 9:30 on weekends. Since it was 9 o'dock, we 
went into Howard Johnson's to wait for the people to begin pouring out 
of the theater. 1 drank two cups of coffee before the first group leh the 
theater. Someof them walked into Howard johnson's, but others contin­
ued around tbe comer. We paid the check and leh. We joined the crowd 
as it moved down the block, then into the alley next to the DPOA build­
ing. Beth and 1 stTOlled along, arm in armo Halfway down the alley we 
stopped, and she placed her pocketbook on the ground, while pretend­
ing to fix her shoe. Then she straightened up, picked up the pocketbook, 
and we continued on to the parking lot. If a car had been waiting for us, 
we could have gotten away without anyone notidng what we were doing 
in the alley. Instead, we turned around and retraced our steps. The J 
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sidewalk along the boulevard was almost deseTted now. The movie 
crowd would be our key to success. We could mingle with them without 
being obvious. plant the bomb, and make an easy escape. 

When we went back to Pearson Street, we reponed to Ayers. We aH sat 
on the living room fioor while he asked questions. 

"1 still think we should put the bomb in the back of the building," 1 
protested. 

"Stop worrying about those people in that restaurant. That's not your 
concern," Ayers snapped. "You can't build a revolution worrying about a 
handful of people." 

He went over the entire plan three times with aH of uso 
"We have all the materials we need," he told uso Then he began a rap 

session about the movement expanding rapidly. 
"We need support in other cities. We have to move fast to keep the 

pigs confused." He was leading up to something, and 1 didn't like it. 
When he was finished, he made a shocking statement: "You people are 
finished with your assignments in Detroit. You did a good job, but as far 
as you're concerned, the projectis finished." 

Then he told Wendy Schramm and Linda Herbert and me that we 
were being sent to Madison, Wisconsin, along with Mark Stivic. Madison 
was to be our training ground in urban guerrilla survival. 

We weren't the only four sent out to form an active focal. Arlo was 
assigned to another city with three companions. Only Ayers, Naomi, and 
probably one or two Weather Bureau members knew where each focal 
was assigned. 

"You're going out on your own. Get your own supplies. Pick two 
targets, hit them fast, then get out. If you get in a jam, call the house 
here. There's no need to spend more than a few weeks in Madison. 
When you've finished there, we have other cities for you." 

I was stunned. 1 couldn't leave. 1 still didn't know what day the bomb 
would be placed. 

"Why can't we finish the job we started?" 1 protested. 
"Consider it finished," Ayers said, smiling. 
"It's not fair lO cut us ofllike that." 
Ayers thought a moment before answering: "1 appreciate your dedica­

tion, Grathwohl, but as far as you people are concerned, the project is 
finished." 

"When do we leave?" Linda asked. 
"First thing in the morning," Ayers said, reaching into his pocket for 

money to give to us so we could get to Madison. 
How the hell was 1going to get to O'Gara? 
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Trying tuStop 
..;. tite BOnlbings 

1 didn't sleep well the night we were assigned to Madison. For the next 
two weeks or a month 1 would be virtually cut off from the Detroit 
colleetive-and from any further information on the DPOA plan. 

1 had to get in touch with O'Gara to tell him that 1 would no longer be 
able to supply details needed to prevent the plot. The only way to delay 
my departure was to faH back on the malaria excuse. It might work 
because everybody knew Dianne Oughton had recently driven me to the 

J, Veterans Hospital. It had to work. 1 couldn't think of any other way to
~  

--it- stay in Detroit. At breakfast 1 complained of starting to feel sick. 1 
suggeSted that we wait until Monday to leave so that 1 could go back to 
the Veterans Hospital for pills or a shot. Arlo and his group had already 
gone. so that morning only Wendy. Linda, Mark, and 1 were in the 
house. We discussed my proposal for a few minutes, but the other three 
decided to leave that morning anyway. 1 was to stay over and meet them 
at the student union building at the U niversity of Wisconsin in Madison 
the next day at 7 P.M. 

As soon as they left, 1 packed my bag and took a cab to the Veterans 
Hospital. 1 waited there awhile, then called another cab to take me into 
town so that 1 could check ioto a hotel. 1 called O'Gara from the hotel 
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and he carne right overo While 1 was waiting, 1 took a shower. The dirt 
that poured off me was unbelievable. It was the first time I'd feltclean in 
three weeks. 

When O'Gara showed up, he had his supervisor with him. The super­
visor seemed annoyed at being dragged out on a Sunday to meet a 
hippie freak, regardless of what the freak was working on. He was very 
condescending. 1 started by explaining that 1 had to leave for Madison, 
and therefore wouldn't be able to keep them informed about the bomb­
ing plots. 

"Who said you could go to Madison?" the supervisor asked. 
"What do you mean, who said 1could go?" 
"Have you gotten clearance from Washington?" 
1 looked at him in disbelief. "No. 1 forgot to call Mr. Hoover this 

morning," 1said sarcastically. 
1could teH this angered him, but he managed to control his tempero 
"We'll have to send an airtel to Washington immediately to get clear­

ance for you, but being Sunday, we probably won't get an answer unril 
tomorrow." 

1 looked over at O'Gara to see if his boss was serious. O'Gara must 
have read my mind, because he motioned for me lo calm down. 

The supervisor opened a briefcase and removed a legal-size pad. 
"You claim to know a lot of Weathermen," he said. "Who are they?" 
1 was confused by his line of questioning, but 1 decided to play his 

game, at least for a while. 
"WeH, 1 met most of them, 1 guess." 
"You guess?" 
"1 know. I've met Mark Rudd, Bill Ayers ..." he cut me short. 
"Don't teH me," he said. "Write them on this pad." 
He held the pad out. 1 went over and took it, then went back and sat 

on the edge of the bed. 1 started writing, then stopped. Who the he)) was 
this guy to test me? 1 got angry. 

"Bullshit," 1 said, getting off the bed. "What the he)) do you thínk 
you're doing to me? If you want to know the names of a)) the Weather­
men 1 know, read the goddamned files in your office. I'm sure there are 
copies of aH my reports. I'm not wasting my time writing out another 
listo" 

1could see O'Gara was horrified at my outburst, but 1 was too angry to 
careo 

'Tve been living in hellholes so you guys can get information, and you 
ask me whom 1 know. Don't you ever talk to your agents?" 

The supervisor wasn't expecting my attack. 1 was acting outside the 
rule book written for infiltrators. But 1 wasn't just one of his hired 
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hands."1 don't owe you guys anything," 1 yelled at him. UI didn't come 
crawling to you offering to sell information. Believe it or not, l'm doing 
this because 1 want to help stop those crazy bastards." 

The supervisor didn't say a word during my tirade. O'Gara finally 
;.� calmed me down and turned the conversation back to the DPOA plot. 1 
;� told him it would be wise to keep a surveillance on both buildings every 

day during tite next week, although 1 thought the bombings would take•.::E place on Thursday.
i.
! "Why do you say that?" the supervisor interjeeted. 
-'" ,oJust a hunch. Or, you might say, an educated guess." 1 could tell hei 
t� was completely dissatisfied with my answer. 1 gave him all the other 

details 1 had, even the names of those 1 thought were going to remain in 
Detroit. They stayed about an hour, t.hen O'Gara suggested they leave. 

On tite way out, the supervisor told me that he would send O'Gara 
back the next morning with "c1earance for you to proceed." 

1 almost went into another rage. O'Gara saw my reaction and hurried 
the supervisor out the door. When they left 1 went out for a few beers 
and a steak, thanklul 1 didn't have to work for that supervisor. 

When .O'Gara carne back the next morning, he gave me traveling 
expenses totaling $120 in cash, for which 1 signed a receipt, and said 
Washington approved of my plans. 

It was cIose to 7 P.M. when 1 got to Madison, so 1 took a cab from the 
airport to tite student union building, hoping 1 wouldn't be too late for 
the meeting. 1 walked over to atable where Mark, Linda, and Wendy 
were sitting. "HelIo, people," 1 said. "How's it going?" 

"Fine, man, fine," Mark greeted me with a handshake. 
They wanted to know how 1 rnade out at the Veterans Hospital. It was 

a perfect opening for setting up an excuse for getting out of Madison 
alter 1 had had time to ruin our effectiveness here. 

uHell, those f ing bureaucrats refuse to treat me any more be­
cause they don't have my records." 

~
 

'~
 uWhat kind 01 erap is that?" 
~ 

"What are you going to do?"� 
"1 have to go back to Cincinnati, fill out a lot of papers, and get sorne� 

kind 01 card that willlet me get treatrnent in other cities." 
TheyaH sympathized with me. 
uNow you know how a poor black woman feels when they force her to 

sigo away her soul just to get welfare money," Wendy said. 
They had made arrangements to spend a few days with a group of 

hippies living near the college while we looked for an apartment. We 
rapped at the student union for an hour, then returned to the pad and 
went to sleep. 
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The next day each of us went out on our own looking for an apart­
ment to rent, stores we could rip off for food, and places we could get 
dynamite. We also were searching for an old car to buyo We had dis­
cussed stealing one, but decided against using a hot car. The cops could 
pick us up right away.. 

The only specific assignment Ayers had given us was to try to get in 
contact with a group that called itself the New Year Gang. In January, 
the group had stolen a small two-propelier plane, 80wn over the army 
ammuniúon plant in Baraboo, Wisconsin, and dropped homemade 
bombs. The bombs landed in the snow and hadn't gone off. But Ayers 
thought the stunt was fantasúc and wanted us to get in 10uch with the 
group, so pan of our acúviúes that first day was to make discreet inquir­
ies around the campus. 

This freedom during the day gave me ample úme to call Tom Fadden, 
my FBI contact in Madison. Fadden wasn't overjoyed that he had a 
group of four instigators running around town planning 10 blow up 
buildings. He had enough trouble with campus radicals already. I told 
him we wouldn't cause any serious trouble as long as I could prevent it. 
Then I asked him about the Detroit bombing plot, but he hadn't heard 
anything yet. I told him I'd keep in touch. 

Later, when I was walking up the main street in town, an arm grabbed 
my shoulder and a voice from behind said: "Larry! What the hell are you 
doing here?" 

The voice was familiar. I turned around. Barry Stein was standing 
there, smiling at me. "What d'ya say, man?" he said, holding out his 
hand. 1shook it. 

"You're a long way from Cincinnati." 
"1 like to travel." 
Stein laughed. "Come on man, what are you doing ,here? What have 

you got planned?" 
"Same as you, mano Touring." 
Stein looked at me, disbelieving. "Hey. You can teH me. What are you 

up to?" 
1didn'tanswer him. 
"Okay, man, okay. Have it your way. Don't teH me. But look. !'m 

staying in town; why not come over when you get úme?" 
1 said 1would. He gave me his address, then turned ánd left. 
We had a meeting that night to select our primary target. Stivic re­

poned that he had found a construcúon site where we could rip off 
enough dynamite to carry out any mission. We began our discussion by 
listing buildings on campus and federal propeny in the area. Both the 
armoryand an ROTC classroom building were nominated. Then some­
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body suggested the horne of the judge who was trying a case against 
radicals in Milwaukee. Next carne the arrny ammunition site in Baraboo 
that the New Year Gang had tried to hit. This suggestion sparked gen­

.., eral interest. Somebody else had already tried and failed, so by succeed­
ing we would boost our reputation. We discussed the possibility, and 
Stivic sU8Fsted an alternative to attacking the plant directly. He had 

r discovere<! that the Baraboo plant was kept in operation by a nearby~  

;o� 
e1ectric power station. He suggested it would be easier to knock out the 

t power station, thus eileetively shutúng down tlle munitions plant.~ 

i After another hour of discussion we agreed on the power station as 
1� our target. I volunteered to case the area the next day while the others 

trie<! to get U5 a pad. When our business was settled, I casually men­
tione<! that I had seen Barry Stein. A complete silence enveloped the 
room. 

Stivic was the first to speak. "What did you say to him?" 
"1 said helio." 
"That's all you said, just helio?" 
"Of course I said more than that. What of it?" 
Mark, Wendy and Linda aH began to criticize me at the same time. As 

far as they were concerned, Stein was a walking threat to our plans in 
Madison. He could identify us as Weathermen, which he might do in 
retaliation for being purged. He might tip off the police. By implying 
more than he knew, he could destroy our effectiveness. 

"Look," I snapped in defense, 441 turned around, and he was standing 
there looking at me. What could I do, ignore him?" 

"We have lo off him," said Stivic...It's our only way out." 
The otilen agreed with him. lf they didn't get rid of him, he could 

ruin the entire operation. 
I couldn't believe rny ears. These people were seriously talking about 

killing a man in cold blood just because he knew they were in town. If I 
hadn't known better, I'd have sworn they were drunk or high on acid. 

i But they were cold sober. . 
I "Whatdo you think, Larry?" Wendy asked. 

I looke<! at her blankly. I had heard more compassion from Gis about 
killing Viet Congo I couldn't take the conversation seriously. 

"Hell," 1 answered. "1 never did like Stein anyway. You girls hold him 
down and 1'11 tickle him to death. Or maybe we can chop him up and 
feed him to a bowl of goldfish. Then we could send the goldfish to pig 
Hoover." 

Wendy and Linda laughed, but Stivic berated me for trying to be 
funny. This was a serious matter, and I had to help. I was a Vietnam vet, 
so it would mean nothing to me to go out and kili Stein, they thought. 1 
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knew they were waiting for me to volunteer to carry out lhe assignmenl. 
Finally 1decided to test their courage. 1 reached into rny pocket and took 
out a book of matches, ripped off four from the pack, then tore one in 
half and placed all of them in a row in my bando 

"Okay," 1 said. "We off Stein. The person who picks the small match 
does the job." 1said it without laughing, Humphrey Bogart style. 

1 shoved rny hand in front of Mark. 
"You firSl." 
When he hesitated, 1 moved on to Wendy and then to Linda. 1 moved 

my hand without giving them time to make a decision. As soon as each 
one hesitated, 1 put the matehes in front of the next one. 

"All right," 1 challenged them. "H you don'l wanllo piek, 1'11 go 6rsl." 
1 paused after making the statement. 

"Wait a minute," Wendy said. "Maybe we have been too haslY. After 
all, Barry was one of uso He still might be on our side." 

"Why not talk with him first?" Mark added. "You always gol along 
with him. Larry. Why don't you and Linda go talk to hirn? If that doesn't 
work, then we can piek the matches." 

1 glanced around. Everyone agreed. 
Linda and 1 went to see Stein the following day. We talked to him as a 

brother in the movement and didn't threaten him. He admitted he 
would have been concemed if the positions were reversed and promised 
nol lo say anylhing about uso He even agreed to ignore us if he saw any 
of us again on the street. 

While we were talking lo Stein, Mark and Wendy found us an apart­
mento It was a one-room 10ft in an old three-story wooden building. We 
moved in immedialely. The room had only one light, abare bulb hang­
ing down from the middle of the ceiling. The onl>: furniture was an old 
wooden dresser in the comer of the room. 

We spent the rest of the week making plans. Linda and Wendy had 
decided to steal pocketbooks from the girls' dormilory at the university. 
They wanted credit cards and checks. They planned to cash the stolen 
checks, using the credit cards as identification. They'd also charge as 
many iteros on the cards as they could, then sell the goods for cash. This 
would finance our activities. They planned to begin this operation on 
Saturday when the stores were busy and the salesclerks <tidn't have much 
time to spend on each customer. 

On Friday night, March 6, the four of us were eating at the campus 
cafeteria when Barry Stein saw us and started overo 

"1 thoughl you told lhat idiot not to talk to us," Stivic said when he saw 
Stein coming in our direction. 

Stein was making a foolish move, 1 thought. He was going lo start the 
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debate about killing him all over again. 1 was hoping he'd walk past us, 
but he didn't. . 

He carne over to the table, leaned in to us, and whispered in a very 
soIemn voia: "ls it true? Is Rudd dead?" 

His question startled uso "Rudd dead! What the he11 are you talking 
about?" I as~.  

"Theexplosion." he said. "1 heard Rudd was killed in the explosion." 
An imase of tite Detroit police station being ripped apart with Rudd 

caugbt inside fIashed through nty rnind. Although 1 hadn't heard any­
tbing. I jumped lO the condusion that that was what Stein was talking 
about. 

"You mean in Detroit?" 1 asked. 
"No; in New York:' Stein answered. "You mean you haven't heard? 

It·s been on all tite radio news broadcasts." 
-rell us what tite hell you're talking about," Stivic delIlanded. 
A Weatherman bomb faetory in New York City had blown up that 

af~noon.killingthreepeople who were as yet unidentified. The rumor 
was that Mark. Rudd was killed in the explosiono 

The news stunned all of uso Wendy suggested we call the house in 
Detroit for information. We perlIlitted Stein to stay while we got the 
infonnation. 

When Wendy returned frolIl ntaking lhe phone call, she looked pale 
and shocked. She sal down without saying a word, shaking her head. 
'OIen she finally said: "They were a11 blown apart, heads and arlIls 
ripped off their bodies. It lIlust have been horrible." 

I wanted 10 know who was killed. Wendv looked at me. "One of thelIl 
was Dianne ÓÜ2hton," she said. 

y GOd;- was a11 1 coula whisper. 1 was sure lhe others were as 
stunned as I was. The other two victilIlS were Ted Gold and Ter 
Ilobbj... 1 bad mst both at the war council in Flint. but 1 didn't know 
either one very well. But Dianne's death was a shock. 1 had been looking 
forward 10 seeing her again. 

The poIice were looking for Cathlyn Wilkerson because the house the 
bomb faetpiV was in belonged to her father, who was away on a vacation. 
It was a $200,000 town house on Eleventh Street in New York City's 
Greenwic;ll Village. The blast rocked the entire neighborhood. even rip­
ping the wall out of the house next door, owned by the actor Dustin 
Hoffman. hite basement of the town house. which was used as the bontb 
faetgry, had 57 sticks of dynantite. 30 blastinK caps. wirer dockwork 
timjpg devices. and pipe, 

What a way to die, 1 thought. None of us said anything for a long time. 
We all realized a similar accident could happen to uso After Stein heard 
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the details, he left. Nobody said good-bye to him. We were holding a 
private wake for three dead people. Our enthusiasm for blowing up the 
power station temporarily vanished. We didn't discuss revolutionary tac­
tics that evening. And the plan to try and cash the stolen checks was 
postponed. The' accident not only saddened us, but frightened uso It 
took us until Sunday night before we began seriously discussing our 
project again. Wendy and Linda decided to put their part of the plan 
into operation Monday. 

As a precautionary move, 1 taped one of my army dog tags to the 
inside of my boot. If an accident like that happened to me, 1 wanted the 
police to be able to identify my body. But my main concern was to bring 
our activities in Madison to a halt as quickly as possible. 1 started my 
counterplan by initiating criticism of Mark Stivic for being monoga­
mous. This was a diversionary tactic to keep our discussions away from 
the target. 1 accused Stivic of thinking more about Wendy than about 
our mission in Madison. Surprisingly, Wendy took my side in the 
criticismo 

"Hell, if Larry even looks at me, you get jealous," she said. "1 don't 
belong to you or any other man." 

Our harangue continued for over two hours. When it was over Stivic 
went out alone for a walk, while the three of us went to sleep. 1 felt sorry 
for Stivic because 1 really believed he wanted to be married to Wendy, 
but he had chosen the society he was living in, and right now it frowned 
on monogamous relationships. 

That ploy was just a beginning. 
The next morning 1 called Tom Fadden, my FBI contact, and told 

him about Linda and Wendy's plans to cash the stolen checks or use the 
credit cards. He said he'd alert the local police, who would warn the 
major department stores in town. Then he told me that the bombs in 
Detroit had been placed on Thursday night. Local police detectives and 
FBI agents had spent all week watching the DPOA building. They had 
roasted me for sending them out on a wild goose chase. Thursday night 
had started out the same way. The crowd from the first showing at the 
movie theater carne out. As one man walked down the alley to the park­
ing lot, he paused to light a cigarette. lt was windy in the alley, and the 
man had difficulty keeping the match lit long enough for the cigarette to 
light. He moved in closer to the building to escape the wind. At that 
point, he was almost jumped by two Detroit detectives and one FBI 
agent, but fortunately, the match held its fire, and the man strolled off, 
not knowing how close he had come to arresto 

The crowd from the second movie session moved down the block and 
through the alley without any hesitation. The agents thought another 
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long night had passed without an appearance from the bombers. As the 
police were aetting ready to can it quits, they noticed in the alley a brown 
paper hag mat wasn't being pushe<! along by the wind. They raced 
across the stteet. 

lnside the ... a ciprette had already burned down, and the wick of 
the firecracker was saaning to sputter. The poIice easily dismantled the 
bombo Then they immediately called the Thirteenth Precinct. A search 
of the station turned up another bomb neatly wrapped in a waterproof 
bag inside the toiIet aanlt in the women's rest room. There were 44 sticks 
of dynamite in the two bomba. 

"Your information was right on target." Fadden said. "but nobody saw 
who'~either bombo So, obviously. we didn't make any arrests:' 

Alter tallting to Fadden. 1 hung around the city for a couple of hours 
before going baclt 10 the apartrnent. The story of the bombs in Detroit 
scared me. They could easily have gone off. killing a number of people. 
Yet, whoever placed them got in and out without being seen. 

When I walked into me apartment, Mark was waiting for me. He was 
very upsel and distraught. 

••~ the hell have you been?" he said. 'Tve been looking all over 
for YOU. We'Ye gol problems." He was pacing around the room as he 
spoke, using up nervous energy. 

"Wendy's in the slam:' He seemed on the verge of crying. 
"WMrc's Linda?" 
"'She's in. too. The pigs busted both of them this morning." 
They were alTeSkd trying to cash a forged check in one of the depart­

ment stores. A salesgirl delayed them long enough to make a call to the 
store's security force. who called the police. Fadden hadn't wasted any 
time in alerting the atores, 1 thought. 

"What are we going to do?" Stivic repeated several times. "We don't 
have enough bread to bail them out:' 

"CalI Wendy's. mother. She's got enough bread to get them both out," 
1 sugges.ted. 

For some reason Stivic was against it. 
"No, I can't do that. It's impossible." He started tossing out other ways 

of gening the money. 
"Let's go out on the street for handouts:' he said. 
"You 80 out on me street for handouts," 1 snapped. "Vou have the 

solution. but won't use it." 
Stívic 5tormed out of the room. We spent the next two days arguing, 

while Wendy and Linda sat in a jail cell. This was a real break. It had 
destroyed our eft'eetiveness in Madison. Even if we did get Wendy and 
Linda out of jail, 1 could argue that they'd be watched so dosely that we 
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couldn't carry out our plan. The focal was destroyed, at least temporar­ How will we know what they're planning or where they are?" 
ily. But l was sure someone else would go after the same targets. Murrish's demanding attitude was a change from the pasto He was 

When l returned to the apartmeOl the second afternoon, Naomi was more excited now, more concerncd with my involvement with the un­
sitting there waiting for me. 1 was surprised lo !Ce ber. She was upset at derground. At othcr meetings. he had always been reserved, even to the 
our failure. "How did this get so out of hand?" she demanded. point of questioning my continuing. 

l recouOled all our moves since arriving in Madison, including our ··We were the fintoffice to turn in the information about the Weather­
discussions about Barry Stein. She didn't commeOl on the Stein inment, meo going underground." Murrish said. ""and now it's important that we 
but was furious at me for not taking charge of the situation. "We can't 
salvage anything now," she said. '·Why didn't you ~t  in touch with 
Wendy's mother right away? Whydid you listen to Stivic?" 

She took over immediately and made telephone calls to Wendy's and 
Linda's parents. Within two days they were both out on bail and back at 
the apartment.. 

As soon as we were aH together again, Naomi launchcd into anothcr 
criticism of the bungled assignment. She tore iOlo all of us, but especially 
Stivic. She blamed him for blocking my suggestions. 1 grabbed the op­
portunity to turo the blame away from me and kee attack focused 
on Mark. 1 suggested that Stivic's monogamous attitude tow Wendy 
had held us back. Subconsciously, he didn't want Wendy to get hu ,so 
he had purposely delayed my positive action. My theory began a lo~ 

criticism of Mark, which continued for several hours. Before the day w_~~  ~  

over, Stivic was purged from the Weathermen. This rationalized our' 
failure in Madison and paved the way for Wendy, Linda, and myself to 
operate in other cities. 1 had already made up an excuse to return to 
Cincinnati, however, and Naomi said she would give me two weeks. 

''1'11 call you after that with another assignmeOl," she said. 1gave her 
the phone number of rny mother's house. 

She told Wendy and Linda they would be assigned to other cities, 
reminding them not to worry about the charges brought against them in 
Madison. "They're too insignificam," she said. "Your parents may be out 
the bread they put up for bail, but so what?" 

When 1 got back to Cincinnati 1 walked iOlo my mother's unan­
nounced. She was upset over my appearance. She said l looked like a 
typical hippie bum. 1 assured her that 1 wasn't in any danger, but l don't 
think she believed me. 1 visited Donna and my father-in-Iaw. He had 
been very helpful over the past few months by supporting Donna and 
Denise. He was proud of what 1 was doing, but Donna was upset. She 
didn't want me to get hurto 

l also telephoned Murrish. He was surprised to hear 1 was in the city 
and asked me to come over as soon as 1could. 

Murrish was upset that 1would be away from the Weathermen for two 
weeks. "Suppose Naomi doesn't call? How are you going to get back? 

.,. continue to be informed of what's going on." 
1 suspccted thatthc town housc explosion had galvanized the FBI into 

takingthc Weathermen scriously. It stimulated public reaction by show­
ing bow dangerous the Weathermen could be. This must be adding 
pr~ureon all agents to find out what was going on. 1 spent three hours 
with Murrish reviewing the past three months. As 1 was leaving he said, 
""Call me as Ioon as you hear from N aomi." 

The only aetivity I took part in during those two weeks was a rally at 
Fouotain Square in downtown Cincinnati loo by radical students at the 
univenity. Since several of the leaders had been Weathermen, 1 was 
welcomed like a conquering hero. After a lot of speeches, the American 
flag was tom down, and a Viet Cong Hag put in its place. There were a 
few fights, hut no major acts of violence. 

When Naomi finally called me at my mother's house, 1 gave her the 
number of a t.elephone booth on the street corner and went out to wait 
for her to call again. She was afraid that my house phone was tapped. 

"You feelingbetter?" she asked when we spoke the second time.� 
"Fine. I'm ready 10 go."� 
MGreal. We bave an important assignment in Buffalo. 1 want you to get� 

there by Aprill." 
"What's happening?" 
"You'll find out more when you arrive." 
After hanging up, 1 called Murrish. He told me to come right overo 

This time he was acting like my boss. Murrish had never been that way 
before. 

"Wben are you leaving?" he said. 
"Tomorrow." 
"Very good. When you get to Buffalo, l want you to contact Chuck 

I� 
Creen or Jobn Maynard. In fact, 1'11 have them meet you." These in­�
struetions were unusual. Murrish normally hadn't told me to go any­�
wbere. 1 had always been on my own.� 

··Another point, Larry, we appreciate what you've done, but we want 

f 
to make it official now. We want to put you on the payroll." 

The only time Murrish had talked about money before was when he 
gave me $500 a month for services in February. 
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':From now on we'll par rou $600 a month and up to $500 in expen­
ses," he said. "And we'll expect you to provide freguent reports, almost 
daily, on all activities." 

He said the FBI was expecting indietments against many Weather­
men, stemming from the ~iots  in Chicago. Once these were issued, ar­
rests had to be made. Murrish wanted me to give the whereaboulS of 
everybody on the indictment list when it carne out. He was talking to me 
as a hired hand. 

When the instructions were over, he told me 1 was the star perfonner 
~; '" 

in the photos taken at the demonstration in Fountain Square by the 
Arrny Intelligence. He didn't say why Army Intelligence was there. but 
they definitely had an interest in me because 1 was a Vietnam veterano 
Naturally, the FBI didn't admit to knowing anything about me. 

The next night 1 boarded a bus for Buffalo. 

.i_ 

¡:
!¡ 

14.� 
TheCo".,� 
isBIoIMn� 

1 arrived at the Buffalo bus terminal at 7 A.M. on April l. It had been a 
12-hour ride from Cincinnati, and 1 was tired when we pulled into the 
bus dock. 1 was wearing a Levi jacket. Levi's, and a headband to keep my 
hair from falling iOlo my eyes. My only baggage was an old army duffel 
bag that 1 had been carrying around since we went underground. 

After getting off the bus, 1 walked through the station and out the 
front door. following M urrish's instructions. 1 paused a moment, lit a 
cigarette. then turned right. As 1 neared the corner. a car pulled u p next 
to the curb. moving slowly along with me as 1 walked. A man in his late 
30s rolled down the window. 

"Get in. Grathwohl:' he said, as the car carne to a stop. 
As 1 climbed iOlo the back seat. he lifted a walkie-talkie up to his 

mouth. "We got him. You guys can go horne." 
"How many other agents did you have out there?" 
"Eight:' the guy said. "We wanted to rnake sure you weren't followed. 

Somebody picked you up as soon as you got off the bus. The others were 
spotted around the building watching anybody who showed even a slight 
interest in you." 

Then he introduced himself as John Maynard; the driver, Chuck 
Green. was in his late 20s. 
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"You guys are starting the day early, aren't you?" 1 said. 
They didn't answer. We drove around the city for a half hour while 1 

gave them a rundown on the latest activities of the Weathermen. Buf­
falo, like many other cities, was having trouble on its college campuses, 
including a seric:s of fires at the state university. 

1 didn't know if any specific aet of violence in Buffalo was comleeted 
with Weatherman agitation, but 1 did know we had an underground 
collective in the city. It was also a gateway city into Canada for Weather­
men, as well as draft dodgers. 

The agents dropped me off a block from t~e  colleetive. 1 threw the 
duflle bag over my shoulder and walked down the street lO the apart­
ment, which was in an old three-story, red-brick building. 1 went up the 
stairs to the second floor and knocked on the door. 

"Who is it?" carne a voice 1 recognized as Robert Carter's. 
"A friend, Larry Delgato," 1said, using my code name. 
The door opened. "Well, goddamn!" Carter said. "Come on in." 
Dianne Donghi was sitting in one of the three battered old chai" in 

the living room. Furniture, 1 thought, that's a step up. The three of us 
sat around and rapped a while aOOut what we'd been doing. 1 suggested 
getting some breakfast, and we went to a pancake house four blocks 
from the apartment. 

During breakfast they told me they had been testing home-made ex­
plosives in the woods. They were also manufacturing a supply of pipe 
OOmbs that could be jammed in the tailpipes of police cars. They were 
safer than Molotov cocktails because they allowed time to get away. If a 
person threw a Molotov cocktail at a patrol car, he had to turn and TUn 
from the scene. Obviously, this increased hi!¡ chances of being caught. 

Then Dianne said abruptly. "Nixon is supposed to come to Buffalo or 
Niagara Falls. We're going to organize a welcome for him." 

1 almost choked on a mouthful of food. Trying to sound as casual as 
possible, 1asked, "We going to try and off him?" 

Diane put the fork down. 
"No," she said after a pause. "But we're going to have a nice demon­

stration. Maybe hit some of the local pig cars in the area where he is. 
Something to draw attention to us, without getting us caught. We can hit 
the local pigs because the secret service pigs wouldn't be watehing them." 

"Who e1se is here lo help us?" 1asked. 
"Naomi," Ward said. "That's the focal. The three of us and Naomi. 

And Ayers will be in tomorrow night, but 1 don't know how long he's 
going to stay." 

1 didn't like the plan. It wouldn't be as easy to disrupt as Madison. 
These people were a lot more experienced and calmer. 

After breakfast, Dianne suggested we take a walk over to Buffalo State 
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University so we could continue talking. It was eloudy when we left the 
restaurant. Halfway down the block, she said: "We have a main target, 
but we're going lo need more help. We'U also need heavy explosives." 

I listened as they outlined a wild plan to blow up the power station at 
Niagara Falls. They estimated it would take 20 lo 30 people and at least 
100 pounds of dynamite. I thought the entire idea sounded stupid, even 
withhelp. 

..It's an ambitious plan," I said. "But we need more people." 
"We'lI get them," Carter commented. 
We talked about Niagara FaUs until we reached the university. As a 

professional sold~r,  1 was delegated to go to Niagara lo figure out how 
many people we would need, how many pounds of explosives, and how 
we could get in and out with the least number of casualties. 

We went ioto the campus club at the university's student building, 
ordered coffee, and sat in a booth. Our conversation returned lo the 
Nixon trip. 

··We can't be content with just a demonstration against pig Nixon," 
Dianne said. "We have to do something dramatic." 

Caner agreed. We were discussing alternatives when Naomi joined uso 
"You're looking good," she said to me. "1 hope the hospital put you in 

good working condition." She was smiling. 
llaughed. 
Naomi had just gotten back from New York, where she was ripping 

off money lo finance our Buffalo focal. As usual, she wouldn't mention 
specific details of what she was doing. 

"Whatdid you decide on Nixon?" she asked. 
··Nothing yet," Carter said. 
··We don't have much time." 
"Offing the pig cars seems our most logical target," Dianne 

commented. 
There was a lot of w~rk  to be done. We had to knowexaetly where 

Nixon was going, the route he would be taking, and how many local 
police would be used. The closer we could get to Nixon, the more effec­
tive our plan would be. As an alternative, we agreed to settle on the 
Niagara plan or any other explosion that would draw attention to us 
while Nixon was there. 

We sat in the campus club for almost two hours. Then we started to 
break up. Carter and Donghi had things to do, so N aomi asked me to go 
downtown with her. She wanted tocheck something at the library:When 
we left the campus club, it was raining, so we ran over to the student 
parking lot and hitehed a ride. 

It was a pleasant afternoon. Naomi was loose and casual, not so com­
pletely wrapped up in the movement and her coneept of being a revolu­
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tionary. Late in the afternoon we had a hamburger, then started back to 
the apartment. We took a bus to within a few blocks of our street. It had 
stopped raining, but our clothes were sti)) damp. 

As we walked the last few blocks, Naomi asked what I thought about 
the Niagara Falls target. / 

"It's ambitious," I said. 
She smiled. "Don't evade the question. What do you really think? Can 

itbe done?" 
"1 think it's stupid." 
I expeeted sharp criticism for my negative reaction, but when none 

carne, I wenton. "1 think it can be done, but you'd need 50 armed people 
attacking in commando style." 

We had gone another half block before she said, "1 agree with you." 
Then she changed the subject back to Nixon. "I( we can come close 
enough lO scare him, we'lI have accomplished our objective." 

When we got back to the apartment, Carter and Donghi were waiúng 
for us and, after more. discussion, Naomi and I begged off and went to 
bed. 

Bill Ayers was a day late in arriving, but when he got there, he had the 
distinction of being a federal fugitive. The government had gonen in­
dictments under an antiriot law against 12 Weath~rmen who had helped 
organize the Days of Rage in Chicago. In addition to Ayers, those in­
dicted included Mark Rudd, Kathy Boudin, Bernardine Dohrn, Jeffrey 
Jones, and Linda Evans. Both Ted Gold and Dianne Oughton, who were 
killed in the Greenwich Village explosion, were named among ·29 
coconspirators. 

Ayers was in a jovial mood when he carne inJo the apartment. "I'm on 
the pig list," he said. "I( the Test of you work hard, you can make it, too." 
Then he laughed. 

Ayers was positive he'd never be caught, but he was just as confident 
that the government couldn't win the case even if he was busted. ''The 
seven in Chicago were acquined of the antiriot act because those federal 
prosecutors are incompetent," he said. "Hell, I'1I bet Bernardine could 
make a fool out of them in court, and she doesn't even have that much 
experience." 

He made a few more jokes about the pig list before getting iOlo a 
serious political discussion. As the result of a recent Weather Bureau 
meeting, several changes in strategy and philosophy would be imple­
mented. I wondered if the meeting had been held in Chicago because on 
March 30 newspapers had reported that the FBI had raided an apart­
ment there, finding enough explosives to "blow up a city block," as a 
police spokesman said. In addition to the explosives, the raid also netted 
rifles, shotguns, a revolver, and guerrilla warfare literature. The super­

intendent of the building identified several Weathermen from FBI pho­i tos. including Dohrn, Boudin, and Ayers, as being in the apartment. So I 
assumed tbat's where the latest Weather Bureau meeting had becn held. 

"First," A rs was la 'n , "we're oin to chan our strate . For the 
las!cou* of ftlOn we ave many sma oca s wor lns m a num­
ber of riri" ac:ross the country. Now we're going to concentrate on theIDa. meqoJ!Olitan areas 00 both coasts so we can solidify our power. 
New YOI'kanci San Francisco will be our major bases. We'll remain active 
in C!ñggp, however, and possibly in the Oenver area." 

He said the decision to concentrate 00 the major coast ciñes was made 
becauee of the vast number of working people in these areas who were 
ñpe,for thc revoIution. uThe blacks, the Puerto Ricans. the poor whites. 
and tbe Mexicans in those areas reDresent a tremend . . 

¿� popuJaúOft. By rallying them to our side we can bring down the cities.� 
Onc:e this is acx:omplished, it will be a simple matter to get the rest of the� 
country 10 fall in line." ­

~ -whataboutour projects in Buffalo?" Carter asked.� 
Aycrssaid thcy'd be postponed, but notcancelled.� 
"You stiD have a few days left up here," he said, "and any major� 

project in the works will be considered for a later date." 
His ncxt announcement concerned social philosophy within the 

Weatbcrmen. HMonogamous relationships will no longer be banned," he 
scated. "U two people are working in harmony for the revolution, they 
can havc a c10sc relationship as long as it doesn't take precedence over 
thc movcmenL If it does, the relationship will have to be terminated. We 
bclicve pcopIc can work and live together for the common goal." 

Ayers enjoycd delivering these dicta to his subjects. He paced around 
thc room emphasizing cenain points by throwing his fist into the air in 
thc power salute. 

Whcn he finished oudining our new codes, he tore into a fiery criti­
cism of thc passiveness of most members of the organization. "Too many 
oí you are relying on your leaders to do everything," he said sternly. 
Thcn, in a departure from relating individuals to specific aets, he men­
tioned thc park. police station bombing in San Francisco. 

"Il was a success," he said, "but it's a shame when someone like Ber­
nardioc has to make all the plans, make the bomb, and then place it 
hcrsclf. She should have to do only the planning:' He charged us to 
bccomc more aggressive in working out details and executing plans by 
ourselves. 

Thcn he announced that he and Naomi had to go to Canada for an 
important meeting with friends. He suggested that the rest of us spend 
our time getting false identifications. We were to collect as many as we 
could in the eveOl that somebody else needed them. Naomi said she'd 
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make a phone call to the hooths on the corner every night at 9 o'clock if 
they could get away. We could give a repon on our activities at that time. 

The next day I went olf to the public Iibrary lo check old newspaper 
records of people who had died as infants ahout the same time we were 
horn. Once I g<?t a list of names, we planned to go to the Bureau of Vital 
Statistics c1aiming to be relatives and requesting birth and death certifi­
cates. Once we got a birth certificate, drivers' licenses and credit cards 
were easy to get. This took longer than stealing identification, but it was 
more efficient. 

I called FBI agent Maynard from the Iibrary to tell him that Ayen 
would be back in a day or two. He wanted to know why I didn't go to 
Canada with him. 

"They didn't invite me." 
"Why didn't you ask to go?" 
"We're a paramilitary organization," I explained. "When Ayen says I 

stay in Buffalo and collect IDs, I stay in Bulfalo." I was getting annoyed. 
"You should have offered to pay your own way and gone, anyway," 

Maynard retorted. Then he told me to stay at the library because he and 
Green were coming over to discuss something extremely important. 

In ahout half an hour, a librarian carne up to me in the reference 
room with a message to go downstairs. In a small office, Maynard and 
Green were waiting. The first thing they discussed was a system to arrest 
Ayers when he returned from Canada. 

"Just don't burn me," I said. "These people think they're being fol­
lowed all the time, so they might not suspect anything if you piek Ayers 
up on the street." 

"Don't worry," Green said. "We'lI take him when you're not around. 
We just want you to keep us informed ahout him." 

They decided to put a stakeout in front of the house beginning that 
night. Since I'd be talking to Naomi every night at 9 o'c1ock, I agreed ~o  

call the FBI headquarters if Ayers wasn't returning. In that way they 
could call off the agents so they wouldn't spend an entire night in a 
stakeout for nothing. If any of the others on the list of 12 wanted in 
Chicago showed up, I agreed to leave the house as soon as possible to 
give them a call. 

1 thoughtour meeting was over, so I got up to leave. 
"Wait a minute, Larry," Maynard said, "we have one more thing." 
He began by asking me questions ahout the Weathermen's interna­

tional ambitions. Actually, all he was doing was veTifying facts he already 
knew: sorne members had been to North Vietnam; sorne had met with 
various guerrilla groups in Cambodia; sorne were trained in Cuba; Ayers 
and Naomi were presumably in Canada meeting with the Quebec Liber­
ation Front; and attempts had be~n  made to contact Arab guerrilla 
outfits. 
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After reviewing the various Weatherman attempts to establish inter­
national ties, Maynard said he wanted me to do something that could be 
extremely bene6cial to the FB1. but could also be very dangerous to me. 
1 agreed to cooperate. 

"We want you lO come with us to meet somebody:' Maynard said. 
"We11 explain on the way." 

-t' Green left 6rst to get the car and move it around to the side of the 
building. 1 left the room next. with Maynard following a safe distance to 

~  be sure nobody was watching me. Once in the car we drove around the 
city. out onto ~  expressway, then back, revened directions, and headed 
toward Lake Erie. When we were out of the city again we headed into a 
wooded area, and turned down a dirt road. While we were driving, 
Maynard and Green began teUing me about the mystery man waiting for 
me. He was an Arab guerrilla. My meeting was to be in strict con6dence. 
Tbey refused 10 tell me why he was in the country, how he got in, or 
where he was going. Obviously he was working for the United States, but 
before 1 could ask questions, the car pulled to a halt near an old shed on 
the lake. 

We got out of the car and walked to the dilapidated boathouse. We 
ereaked the door open and went in. Two men were inside. One was 
introduced as AIi Baba and the other 1 presumed to be an agent, al­
thougb we were not formally introduced. 

"We want you to get to know each other," Maynard said. "We'1I be 
outside.'· 

AIi Baba was in his 30s, fairly tall and aristocratic-looking. He was 
dressed-in a shirt and tie and spoke English with a British accent. He 
wantedlO know as much about the Weathermen as 1 could tell him, 
including names of the leaders and whether 1 thought they were dedi­
eated lO revolution. If a contact were to be established between the Arab 
guerrilla movernent El Fatah and the Weathermen, he wanted to be the 
one to make it. That way he could pass along information to the U .S. 

o Governrnent. 
He suggested 1 become more aggressive in pushing the Weathermen 

to make international tieso This would enhance my chances of being sent 
on foreign mi.ssions, and I might be able to arrange to meet AIi Baba, 
thus ereating a linkwith the Arabs. 

Then he gave me a warning. "These Arabs are professionals. Many of 
them may be the same age of your leaders, but they do not play games. 
They think nothing of killing if it has to be done to reach a goal. By 
comparison, Weathermen are amateurs." 

j asked him why a group Iike El Fatah would want connections inside 
the U nitOO States. 

"They want to prove that they can strike anywhere," he said. "This 
gets their message across to the world. What better place to strike than 
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the United States?" After a pause, he continued. "There is talk of doing 
something at the World's Fair in Spokane in 1974. El Fatah considers 
this a perfect platform. If they go through with it, it will be violent." 

As we talked, the lake water splashed up against the dock outside, and 
the wind whip~d  through the cracks in the wall, making it chillier and 
damper inside than out. But for security reasons, we had to do our 
talking within the shed. 

Ali Baba said the Arabs also planned to strike at the next Olympic 
Games in 1972. "1 don't know exactly what they've planned, but there 
definitely will be a demonstration of terrorist force." 

We talked for awhile longer, and then Maynard carne back into the 
shed. "We'd better get both of you back," he said. 

1 shook hands with Ali Baba. On the way back in the car, 1 started to 
ask questions. "15 Ali Baba working for the CIA aIso?" I might as well 
have been shouting out the window. Neither Maynard nor Green ac­
knowledged that he had even heard my voice. 

"Where's he going now?" 1 asked about Ali. Still no reply. I never 
figured out the exact reason 1 was introduced to AH Baba, but it w~  

obvious the FB1 wanted me to cooperate with him should the need arise. 
They dropped me off near the library and reminded me about caUing 

the office if 1 heard that Ayers was not coming in that night. 
1 was the first one back to the apartment. Carter and Donghi came in 

separately within a half hour. Shortly before 9 o'dock 1 went out to wait 
for Naomi's phone cal1. It carne on time. They wouldn't be back until at 
least tomorrow. 1 quickly put a dime in the phone and called the FBI. 

"Take off the stakeout," 1 said. 
We spent the next day going through the files again for names that we 

could use in faIse identification papers. When 1checked in with the FBI, 
Maynard was mad. The stakeout had been on all night, and Ayen hadn't 
shown up. 

"What the hel1 were they doing there aIJ night?" 1 said. "1 called in 
about 9 o'dock." 

Maynard didn't answer. Whoever took the message had never passed 
italong. 

That night was a repeat of the first. Naomi said they wouldn't be back. 
1 called the FB 1 again and told them to make sure the message got 
through to the guys on the stakeout. 

Ayers and Naomi arrived about noon the next day. Ayers was pleased 
with the meetings in Canada, and he was getting a later flight to New 
York City. 1 assumed that the stakeout was back on, so 1 didn't make any 
attempt to leave the apartment to call the FBI. They could follow Ayers 
to the airport and pick him up there. 1 listened smugly to Ayers, know­
ing that in a few hours he'd be in jail .. 
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Ayers conducted a short meeting lo review our strategy. When the 
meeting brolle up, Ayers made a remarll about "our international con­
tacts:' I grew extremely interested and pushed him on that point. 

.,. He bragged about new contaets with me Quebec Liberation Front, the 
lrish Republican Army, and El Fatah. When these groups were added lO 

me Cubans, North Vietnamese, and Chinese, the Weathermen had an 
impressive list of foreign guerrilla groups lO work with. Ayers said that 
these contaets would be strengthened to show Weatherman solidarity 

· 

~" with the Third-World people. I wondered if Ali Baba or one of his� 
·· contaets had met with them. That might have been why Maynard was so� 
i« 

~ 

anxious for me lO go to Canada. I wan~ to press Ayen about El Fatah,� 
!' bUI he obviously felt he had said too much already.� 

About an hour after Ayers left, I suggested that I go out and buy a six­�
pacll of beer. I used a phone in the delicatessen to malle a call to 
Maynard. 

"Did you get him?" I said when Maynard answered. 
"Getwho?" 
"Ayers. Who else?" 
There was silence on the other end. Then Maynard exploded. "You 

mean Ayen came back, and you didn't call us?" 
"Call you! What were the guys out front doing, sleeping?" I raised my 

voice. and the grocer looked over at the phone booth. 
MaYOard told me the stakeout had never been put back after being 

caUed off me night before. They thought I'd call in when Ayers arrived. 
"Christ," 1 said. "He's probablyon the goddamn plane." 
Maynard was angry. He hung up. 
I was depressed when I started back to the apartment. Ayers had 

escaped, and it might have been my fault, although I didn't admit that to 
Maynard. It was his fault, though, for not having the stakeout in position 
duringtheday.

t� That evening, we made plans for dosing up the apartment and leav­�
ing. When we were alone, Naomi told me I had a choice of going to New 
York or Washington. 

"Normally 1 wouldn't tell you this, but Wendy Schramm and Linda 
Herbertare in Washington. In New York you'll be working with Dianne 
Donghi and Carter. I know you get along with all of them, so you can 
have your choice." 

I took New York. "There'lI be more action there," I said. 
The next day, my job was to pack the explosives we had stored in our 

bedroom dosel. There was enough dynamite, blasting caps, and black 
powder to blow up a good-sized building. We also had a shotgun, which 
I think was the same one Dianne had in Cincinnati. I put the explosives 
in the back of our tan Chevrolet. Carter and 1 were driving the car to a 
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farm near New York where the explosives would be stored untiJ we 
needed them. 

Naomi and Dianne were leaving by plane that morning. 1 took them to 

the airport. Naomi purchased a ticket with false identification and a 
stolen checkbook. While Dianne and 1 were standing near the gate, 
Naomi quietly slipped away. She never carne back. Dianne told me not to 

worry about it. We were being followed, she said, but as fu as they could 
make out, there was only one persono 

Carter and 1 both had false identification. 1 had told Ayen 1 needed a 
set for myself because 1 was wanted on a charge stemming from a dem­
onstration in Cincinnati. Carter got me an almost perfect match. My DeW 

name was Tom Neiman, and 1was from Long Island, New York. 
On the way down the New York Thruway, a state trooper puUed me 

over for speeding. Carter, who was asleep in the back, woke up when the 
car pulled off the highway. The trooper looked at my driver's license. 
Luckily it was dean, or, 1 should say, Neiman's was dean. My hands were 
trembling, but 1 kept them down near my lap so the trooper wouldn't 
notice. He didn't search the car, which surprised me, especially because 
of my looks. He just gave me a warning and let me go. 

"Take it easy the Test of the way," Carter said. "1 don't want to end up 
in jail for just carrying that stuff." 

Ayers, Donghi, and Naomi were already in New York when we got 
there. 1 stayed with Donghi and Naomi at an apartment near Columbia 
University that belonged to a friendo Ayers joined us later to explain that 
Donghi, CaTter, and 1 would act as a focal and form others under us. ,He 
said we were not the only Weathermen active in the city, but it was not 
necessary at this time to know who the others were. We'd be charged 
with selecting our own targets. One of the pTimary targets we discussed 
was the police headquarters on Centre Street in downtown New York. 

But New York had many symbols of imperialismo Sorne had already 
been attacked, induding Mobil Oil Company, Sylvania Electric, General 
Motors, and IBM. The federal buildings on Foley Square were also in 
our plans. 

When 1 went out for cigarettes the next day 1 called Terry Roberts in 
the New York FBI office. His name was given to me by John Maynard 
before 1 leh Buffalo. 1 told him where we were staying, and that Bill 
Ayers was in town. 1 also told him that our focal had a tentative meeting 
with Linda Evans, one of the Weather Bureau people wanted for the 
Chicago Tiot. Roberts said to keep in touch. When 1 called him the next 
day, he said it was urgent that we meet. 1 had to get away from the 
Weathermen for at least a day and a hall. 1 was to meet the FBI Saturday 
night at the Americana Hotel. 

1 spent the next two days trying to think of a reason for leaving. 1 had 
daily meetings with Donghi and Cartero We were planning for our meet­

ing with Linda Evans. We held many of the meetings on a park bench in 
Washington Square. With New York University Law Schoollooming in 
the background, we were planning how to tear down our judicial system. 
At one point in the conversation Donghi said we needed $500. At first 1 
!et the remark pass, but then it occurred lO me that this was m)' excuse. 1 
led us into a discussion on how we could get the money. Alter much 
debate, 1 dedared: 01 1 think 1 can get it. That old army friend of mine in 
Buflalo will give itto me. He owes me a favor. I'n can him." 

Donghi agreed. 1 went off to make the cal1. 1 stayed away for half an 
hour, and when 1 returned, 1 said: uOkay, I'm going to see him. He 
invikd me up for the weekend, but 1 told him 1 could make it only for 
Saturday nigbt. I'U be back Sunday night with the money." 

00 Saturday afternoon 1 took a series of subways, then a bus, to make 
sure nobody was following me. Then 1 ehecked into the Americana 
HoreJ. As 1 gol on the elevator, two guys fol1owed me. One was dressed 
in a shirt and be, wore mod glasses, and a stylized haircomb. The other 
had on a spon shirt and jacket. 1 was registered in a room on the 17th 
ftoor, but 1 pushed 19 when 1 saw the others get on. As the elevator 
started up, the taller one said: 

&&Aren't you on 17, Grathwohl? I'm Terry Roberts," he said, sticking 
out his band. 

The other guy pushed the 17th floor bUllon. 
-rbat's Ken Q'Neil," Robens said. 
When we got off the devator we walked to the far wing of the 

building. 
"Whatabout the people in the other rooms?" 1 said. 
"I>on't worry," Roberts said, "we rented all six rooms in this wing of 

the building." 
When we got into the room, Roberts opened a can of beer and poured 

it into á glass. 
··Have a drink," he said. "We'U have sorne food sent up later." 
Th~  room had a large sitting area in it. 1 took one of the large comfort­

able chairs.i 
uOkay," 1 said, ··what's so important?"I 
··We have to make an arrest," Roberts said.� 
"You had Ayers, but you missed him."� 
uThat's in the pasto This time we won't miss."� 
UWhy make an arrest now? The only person on the list of 12 in the city� 

now is Linda Evans." 
"That's who we'H take." 
1 didn't like the idea. If they broke into the meeting with Linda, they 

would have to take aH of uso If they let me go, my eover would be blown. 
"You're going to burn me," 1 eomplained. 

uThis isn't our decision, Larry. We need an arrest." 
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"Why, for Christ's sake? Why not wait until we get all of them to­ check into the Greenwich ViIlage Hotel in lower Manhattan. 1 would 
gether, or at least Ayers, Rudd, Dohrn, or Jones? Ayers and Dohrn are meet Linda at a nearby coffee shop at 10 o'dock the next morning and 

~_... 
really the ones you want. Rudd has a lot of publicity because he over­
threw Columbia, but Ayers has more power," 

Roberts shook his head as if agreeing with me. 
"You may be right, Larry, but as 1 said, this decision carne from the 

man in Washington. We need an arresto The purpose of this meeting is 
to set it up," 

1 was angry as hell. 1 had spent months working into my position. 
Roberts let me storm around to release my tensions. "You have to arrest 
me, too, then," 1 said. "That's our only chance to retain the cover:' 

"We're thinking along the !lame lines;' Roberts said. Then he broke 
into the conversation to ask me if 1was hungry. 

"Hell, yeso 1 haven't had a decent meal since I've been in town. Let's go 
to a good restaurant," 1started to get up. 

"We're not going anywhere," O'Neil said. "This hotel has a restaurant 
and room service. You just tell us what you want," 

1ordered a shrimp cocktail, a large steak, and a OOtde of wine. 
"You're eating Iike a condemned man," Roberts commented. 
"1 am, mano If we blow the bust, 1 could be very dead." 
Roberts didn't answer. 
After dinner, 1 suggested we go for a walk. 
"You can stroll around the room," O'Neil said, "butthat's-as far as we 

go until we get this arrest plan down," 
We got back lO work. The meeting with Linda Evans was taking place 

that week, but I didn't know where. As soon as 1 was told, I'd call 
Roberts. 

lf 1 was with Linda at the time of the arrest, 1 was to fight back. That 
way 1 could be busted for resisting a federal officer. When they picked 
up Dianne Donghi, they would daim that they'd been following her 
since she carne into New York, which naturally led them to me and 
Cartero If possible, they would try to throw any suspicion aOOut an in­
formant onto Roben Cartero 

1 still didn't want them to make the arrest now. Linda Evans was a 
member of the Weather Bureau and wanted for Chicago, but we could 
get more of them if they let me go on. 1 made one last plea. It didn't 
work. 

'Tlltell you one more time, Larry. These orders carne from Washing­
ton. We're making an arresl." 

The next few days 1 was tense, nervous. The agents had given me 
$300 to turn over to Dianne Donghi. 1 had promised $500, but this was 
beuer than nothing. On Tuesday,1 was told that our meeting with Linda 
Evans was scheduled for Friday morning. The night before, we would 

bring her back to the hotel. 
1 manaF<! to get away to ca)) Roberts, but as 1 was coming out of a 

candy store where 1 made the phone call, Robert Carter walked in. 
"1 forgot to ask you to get me some Life Savers," he said. 
Was he foUowing me? Did he suspect something? 1 had to be careful. 

"Wait a minute, and 1'11 walk back with you," he said. 
Tbe next two days went by slowly. Then on Wednesday night, Dianne 

came into tité apartment and said our meeting had been changed. 
"We're goingto see Linda tomorrow morning instead of Friday." 

1 should have suspected they'd do something like this. T-hey were 
paranoid about security. It was already 6 P.M., hut 1 had to get out to call 
Roberts. 1 wait.ed aOOut an hour, then started searching around for my 
cigarettes. 1 went over to my jacket and dumped the cigarettes from the 
pac:k into my coat pocket. 1 then removed the empty pack. 

"HeD," 1 said, "anyone here got any smokes?" 1 knew they probably 
didn't. 

"1 may:' Donghi said. 
1 waited tensely for her to look. 
"No. 1 thought 1 did." 
....m going out to get sorne." 
Donghi walked back across the room to get her coat. 
"111 SO with you," She picked up my coat on the way back. She carried 

it Ioosely. 1 watehed every step. If the cigarettes fell out of the pocket, 1 
was gone. .If they had talked about killing Barry Stein for recognizing 
them, they'd off me right on the spot. Then she tossed the coat the last 
few feet to me. 1 could visualize the cigarettes flying all over the room, 
hut they held firmo 1 put the coat on, and we started to leave, but as we 
neared the door Carter asked Donghi to stay. 

"We have to go over our plans for Linda," he said. "We can fill Larry 
in when he gets back." 

Saved. 1 went out fast before she changed her mind. 1 hurried to the 
candy store. It Was dosed. Then 1 remembered a bar around the cornero 
As 1 reached for their phone, it occurred to me not to call Roberts at all. 
1 could daim the meeting switch carne at the last minute, and that 1 
hadn't had a chance to call. That way the arrest coulcln't be made. But 1 
changed my mind. It wouldn't be fair to him. l'd have to go through with 
the plan. 1 made the phone cal!. When 1 hung up, 1 got sorne cigarettes 
out of the machine and threw the ones in my pocket away. 1 went back 
up to the apartment. 

It was a long night. We rapped for several hours. Then Carter said he 
had to leave to meet friends at Columbia. It was decided that 1 should 
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meet Linda and bring her over to the Greenwich Village Hotel for a 
meeting. We would check in later that night. 

In the morning I walked over to the restaurant. Inside, one of the 
agents I knew was sitting on a stool at the far end of the counter drinking 
coffee. I sat down near the door. When the agent signaled for another 
cup, and I heard the counterman asked incredulously, "You don't want 
another one, do you?" I figured he'd been sitting there for a long time. 

About 10 minutes later Linda Evans came in. She sat at a booth and 
ordered bacon and eggs. I joined her. 

"How are you, Linda?" 
"Oh, hi. Have sorne coffee with me," she said. 
Then, by prearranged signal I took off my sunglasses and put them 

down on the tableo As I did, the agent got up off the stool and walked 
outside. Linda and I talked about nothing special while she ate breakfast. 

"Dianne and Carter are waiting for us at the hotel," I said. 
As we walked outside, we saw a linen truck parked in front. We turned 

left and strolled by the truck. The driver got out and went around to the 
back. Then up ahead, Terry Roberts stepped out of a doorway. 

"FBI," he said. "Please stand where you are." 
I grabbed Linda, turned around and started to run. The driver of the 

truck ordered us to halt. I ran right into him, hitting him on the side of 
the head and knocking him down. We turned the corner and kept run­
ning, until one of the agents tackled me and another jumped on topo 
Two others had Linda. They put handcuffs on me, picked me up and 
pushed me against the wall to frisk me. Then they put Linda and me in 
the back of a car and took us up to the FBI office on 67th Street. 

We were taken iOlo separate rooms. Then they took my cuffs off and 
gave me a cigarette. Roberts told me that Dianne was arrested in the 
hotel room about the saine time, but Carter wasn't around. This could 
possibly look good for me. It could throw some suspicion on Cartero 

When I finished the cigarette, they put the handcuffs back on me, and 
led me upstairs to photograph me. They timed this move to coincide 
with Dianne's leaving the photo room. We passed each other without 
saying a word. After we were photographed, they took us downtown to 
Foley Square for arraignment. We were all taken off in separate cars, 
handcuffed. At the federal building I refused to answer questions. The 
commissioner set my bail at $5,000 for assaulting a federal officer. 
Dianne Donghi's bail was set at $10,000 and Linda Evans' at $50,000. 
Then we were all taken downstairs to the holding cells. Linda and 
Dianne were put in one cell, while I was left standing out front against 
the wall, within their view. 

I asked to go to the bathroom, but the marshal wouldn't let me. I stooo 
there half an hour. I felt strange, trapped. I had wild thoughts. Suppose 
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the few agents who knew who 1 was suddenly died? What would happen 
to me? 1 was sc:ared. Then one oí the marshals searched me again. When 
be took. oH m! boat!, he found me dogtag 1 had tapea in there alter the 
exPlosion. 

"Ha." he said. "1 thought your name was Neiman." 
Befon I could answer. the chief marshal, who had been told 1 was 

workil!1r with thc FBI, snatehed the dogtag out oí his hands, looked at 
die name and threw the tag on the desk. 

'7bat IUY is Neiman," he said. 
Do •and Evans watehed. 1 could ten from the ex ressions on Linda 

and Dianne's faces mat their thought! were the same: "Why dldn't e 
Chid manhal question me dogtag? Why did he insisl Grathwohl was 
Neiman?" 

TIte incidenl was a mistake. My masquerade as a Weatherman was 
OVero The FBI had just lost a valuable undercover agent. 
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15.� 
Aftetmllth� 

The following day I was re1eased, and the charges of assaulting a federal 
officer were dropped. But it took nearly three years for my life to return 
to normal. Ironically, for part of this time I was a fugitive from both the 
government and the Weathermen. 

After my usefulness an an undercover agent was over, the FBI asked 
me to continue to work for mem because of my knowledge of Weather­
men strategy. I was also probably the only FBI contact who could recog­
nize most of the Weathermen on sight. In these respects 1 was still 
valuable to them, a son oí professional observer. I attended demonstra­
dons. rallies. And I was used on surveillance oí suspected Weatherman 
collectives. So that it would be harder íor the Weathermen to identify 
me, I shaved off my beard and mustache. I was apprehensive on some of 
these assignments because J knew what the Weathermen had done to the 
undercover cop in Chicago. But 1 also knew that in most cases FBI 
agents were nearby. 

Weatherman violence continued. To draw attention to their philoso­
phy, they began issuing what they termed "communications from the 
underground." The first one was re1eased on May 21, 1970. It said 
Weathermen "are adopting the classic strategy of the Viet Cong and the 
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urban guerrilla strategy of the Tupamaros to our situation here in the 
most teehnologicalJy advanced country in the worJd." 

Twenty day! Jater, on June 9, in a second Jetter from the under­
ground. Weathermen tooll credit for bJowing out the second floor of the 
New York City PoJice Headquarters on Centre Street. The bJast seri­
ousIy injured seven people while shredding desks, mangJing Jamps, tear­
ingdoonofthinges, and shattering gJass everywhere. 

Tbe metbod of planting the bomb foUowed Weatherman strategy that 
had been discussed in collectives 1 had Iived in. Qne of the desk officers 
reponed chat he had seen a young woman who appeared to be pregnant 
walking around headquarters not Jong before the explosion. She oh­
viousIy had gone into the ladies room, removed the dynamite taped to 
hir body, quick.Jy assembJed a bomb, placed it in the toilet, and then left. 

Later the same month 1 testified before a federal grand jury in Detroit 
about the plot 10 blow up the police association building and the Thir­
teenth PoIice Precinct. It was there I first met Guy Goodwin, Chief of 
Internal Security for the Justice DepaTtment. I later had to repoTt to 
Goodwin as a material witness against the Weathermen. 

.As a result ol my testimony, on luJy 23, 1970 the grand jury handed 
'down indictments against 13 Weathermen on charges of conspiracy to 
'botpb and kili in four different cities. They were Linda Evans, Mark 
Rudd. Bernardine Dohrn, BiJI Ayers, Kathie Boudin, Cathlyn WiJker­
son R.ussell Neuleld, ane S ielman, Ronald FUe elrnan, Arlo acobs, 
Dianne Donghi, Naomi la ee, and, un oTtunately, Larry Grat wohl. 

My indictment made headJines in the Cincinnati newspapers and on 
television news broadcasts. I had a hard time convincing rny mother that 
I really was working for the FBI and not against them. I knew my name 
would be induded on the indictment Jist as an efloTt to reinstate me with 
the Weatherrnen, but it didn't work. However, my role would have to be 
explained in any subsequent court case. TechnicaHy, I was a fugitive. 

Then carne the irony. The Weathermen circulated a "wanted" poster 
for me "for crimes against the people." This charge was amplified in the 
August 21 issue of the underground newspaper Berkeley Tribe under a 
two-page story entitled: "The Most Dangerous PoJice Agent Ever to 
Infiltrate an American Revolutionary Movement." The artide said 
agents Jille me should be "wiped out". 

The F81 asked me to work in San Francisco because the Bay area was 
a hotbed of radical activities. I knew there was a danger of being recog­
nized, but 1 was confident I could keep out of sight. In the faH my wife 
and daughter joined me, and we tried to make another go of our mar­
riage. Ahhough I was still doing certain assignments for the FBI, they 
helped me get a job with the Pacific Gas and Electric Company. Being 
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indicted, and therefore a fugitive, had its drawbacks when trying to get a 
job or even a loan to buy a caro Individual agents sympathized with me, 
but they knew it would be a long time before my name was removed 
from the listo Once the federal bureaucracy makes a decision, it's hard to 
change it. 

In early 1971, Weathermen bombecl two of the major tare dis­
cussed at almost every session in the collectives I had lived in-the Capi­
tol and the Pentagon. Jt was found that both bombings were executed in 
the same manner: rouns women entered a ladies room, assembled a 
bomb, deposited it in the toilet tank, and escaped before the detonarlon. 

Followingthese bombings, the Weathermen became quieto This led to 
speculation by many FBI agents and other law enforcement officials that 
the movement had petered out. I was not convinced. One major reason 
for their inactivity was the winding down of the war in Vietnam. Weath­
ermen build their po~er  by in8aming controversial issues, and they 
realize that there are certain times when the political or economic cli­
mate within the country is not ripe for revolutionary action. They there­
fore use this period to regroup and plan for the future. 

After all' their philosophy goes, Lenin, Castro, and Mao Tse Tung 
had 10 wait many years before history was ripe for their successful revo­
lutions. So, too, the Weathermen are prepared to wait. 

As Weatherman activities waned, requests for my services by the FBI 
also declined. so in 1971 I moved back 10 Cincinnati. With the help of 
the FBI I was able to move around freely, even though I was still on the 
indictment listo I took a job with a lumber company. I worked there for 
over ayear, but all the time I had to keep in touch with the FBI and Guy 
Goodwin at the Justice Department. He was preparing a case against the 
Weathermen, and I was to be a witness. I also had to be prepared to 
testify at other federal or state grand juries as needed. I did return to 
San Francisco for another federal grand jury on October 3, 1972. My 
part was to testify that there was a Weathermen conspiracy in the 
country. 

It wasn't until early in 1973 that my life became freer. Charges against 
me for my role in the Detroit plot were finally dropped. I still had to 
keep the FBI posted as 10 my whereabouts, however. 

In September Howard Machtinger, one of the Weathermen leaders at 
the war council in Flint, Michigan, was finally arrested by the FBI, three 
years after he was indicted on conspiracy charges stemming from the 
Days of Rage in Chicago. The FBI alerted me to the arresto If there was a 
trial, I would have 10 testify. 

They didn't have to worry about a trial. Machtinger jumped the $2500 
bail. The New York Post quoted Machtinger as explaining, in a letter to his 
friends. that he had to return to the: "underground" to continue his fight 
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against U .S. imperialismo The statement supported my contention that 
they were regrouping. 

Then, on September 29, a time bomb blasted out four rooms at the 
International Telephone and Telegraph Corporation offices on Madi­
son Avenue in New York City. The Weatherman underground took 
credit in a telephone call to T'he New Yori Times. Weathermen claimed 
they had planted the bomb in retaliation for the crimes ITT had com­
miued apinst Chile. 

Shonlyafter this attack, 1 began reading reports that the government 
was pnl to drop charges apiost all Weathermen. poodwin assured me 
this was not trUe. 
_ But on October 15, 1973 the reports started coming true. The govern­
ment dropped its case apinst those Weathermen indicted by the grand 
iU" in DetroiL I was angry. 1 was also irritated that I had to read about it 
in the newspapers. 1 didn't understand it. According to the Justice De­
partDlent statement, charges were dropped rather than to disclose 
~fomsn intelligence information deemed essential to the security of thS 
United States." 
. I thOugbt of my brief encounter with Ali Baba in Buffalo, and won­
dered if he had supplied part of the "foreign intelligence information" 
referred too Neither the FBI nor the Justice Department would discuss 
this with me. 

To givc up on the Weathermen would be a mistake. They are more 
dangerous now than when I first met them. I told Goodwin I would be 
ready to appear in court as a witness in any other case. He arranged for 
me to appear before the Senate subcommittee. 

1 have kept a close watch on revolutionary activities committed in the 
19705. In fact, I am counseling police and government agencies on ter­
rorist and urban guerrilla organizations to help law enforcement officials 
to understand the thinking of the revolutionaries they are up against. I 
want to give them the benefit of my experience. 

The ¡rony of Weathermen thinking or philosophy is that they prob­
ably couldn't live in the society they would impose on the U .S. should the 
revolution succeed. 

Most Weatherman planning and strategy goes into implementing a 
revolution and not into setting up a viable government afterward. How­
ever, when they did discuss this postrevolutionary period, their plans 
wcre frightening. Their society would make George Orwell's 1984 a 
pleasure to live in. 

Weatherman doctrine calls for complete control of all individual 
thought and movement. Once the revolution has been won, a central 
committee will be appointed to run the country. Naturally, the commit­
tee will consist of Weathermen leaders. But it will also indude members 
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of other revolutionary organizations, especially black and Mexican and 
Indian groups. Whether sorne of these central committee members will 
be more equal than others was never made clear, but 1 suspect that 
would be the case. 

While the central cornrniuee is being formed, Weathermen will 10� 
about the necessary task of elirninating everybody who was in power� 
before the revoluúon. This means killing them. Politicians and police� 
will be the first to go. The excepúon will be dergymen. Weathennen� 
recognize the danger in imrnediately attacking religious foundations;� 
however, they are commiued to do this in úrne. This metbodical elimina­�
úon of those prerevolutionary leaders will help prevent a counter­�
revoluúon.� 

The second step in this process is to "isolate" those citizens who were 
against the revoluúon, but were not rnembers of the ruling dass. This 
isolaúon is to be accomplished in educaúon carnps. These ciúzens will be 
herded into carnps to be taughtabout the revoluúonary governrnent. 

For the poor and working class who rose up to help make the revolu­
tion a success, the Weathermen will unleash a steady barrage of revolu­
tionary propaganda through controlled newspapers, radio, and televi­
sion. Of course, most television prograrns involving sports wilJ be 
elirninated. Watching football on television while sipping beer is a total 
waste of producúve time. In the Weathermen's society, spare time aetivi­
ties must be politically motivated. 

However, the Weatherrnan poliúcal philosophy doesn't come lo grips 
with the question of how this new society will be supported. They imrne­
diately turn off all conversations about the economics. "We'lI work it 
out," is a typical remark when the economy is discussed. 

Their rnodels for our new society are China and Cuba, with North 
Vietnam getúng a good rating. Many Weathermen have visited either 
North Vietnam or Cuba, and they are determined to set up a similar 
governrnent here, even if it takes a century. Russia is not considered a 
good model of socialism because the Weathermen believe.the USSR is 
becorning increasingly involved in the capitalistic way of life. 

In essence, the Weatherrnen's governrnent will be one of total control 
over each individual in the society. In Weatherrnen terminology, this 
new society will be "one people working in total unity." This means an 
elirnination of all the individual freedorns we are accustomed to having; 
it was rny absolute belief in the freedoms offered by our form of govern­
rnent that drove me to fight the Weathermen in the first place. Even 
though I am no longer in the underground rnovernent where I could 
help prevent violence before it happened, as in Dayton, Detroit, Madi­
son, and Buffalo, while creating as rnuch disunity as possible, I am still 
working against Weatherrnen and other radical conspiracies. Their way 
of life is not mine. 
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Donghi, Dianne, 117-121, 123-130, 
135, 148, 166-168, 172-179, 181; 
arrest of, 148, 178; gun ownership 
of, 130; indietmentagainst, 181 

Dow Chemical, 135 
DPOA. See Detroit Police Officen 

Assocíation 
Draft dodgers, 166 

Eden Park Rally, 32-38; exercise ses­
sions at, 34, 38; karate demonstra­
tion at, 34 

El Fatah, 171-172, 173 
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Elrod, Richard, 41,49,66 
Evans,Linda, 125-128, 168,174-179, 

181; art'Cst of, 174 179; indictmcne» 
againslo 168, 181 

Fadden, Tom, 156, 160-161� 
False identifications, 169-170� 
FBI,4!-45,59,60,154-155� 
Fetknrlist. T'IY,25 
Federation of Cuban Women, 116� 
Fighting focals, 138� 

- Fire. Su Fire Next Time, The 
Fire Nat Time, Tite (Weatherman 

ncwspaper), 15, 51, 63, 79, 83-84, 
87 

F1iegelman, Ronald, 181 
Fn. Preu, T'IY, 142 
Froines, JOOn,16 
Fuerst, John, 124-125 

GM. Su General Motors 
General Mowrs (GM), 139 
Gold, Ted, 107, 168; deathof. 159 
Gold Star Chili Bar, 61, 64,66,67 
GoodeU, Charles, 57 
Goodwin,Guy,181,182,183 
Gordon. Annie, 86 
Grathwohl, Denise, 19,26,60,162 
Grathwohl. Donna (Riestenberg), 19, 

20-21,25,26-28,43,60,99,162 
Grathwohl. Larry: Arab guerrilla, 

meeting with, 171-172; arrny expe­
riences of, 25; arrest of. 178-179; 
attends first Weatherman meeting. 
28-32; Ayers, BiII, arranges arrest 
of, 170-171; bombing of Detroit 
PoIice OfIicers Association building, 
participation in, 139-152; Buffalo, 
assigned to, 163-174; checked on by 
Dianne Donghi, 117; criticism ses­
sion of, 120-122; decision to go un­
derground, 123-129; Detroit, as­
signed to, 129-152; early years of, 
22-25; Evans, Linda, participation 
in arrest of, 174-179; family back­

ground, 22: FBI, contaets with, 43­
44.50.5~54.55,60-61.70,76,85-

.86r-112-11!, ] 29, -.-l3fi.--H.l.. -HL 
150, 151. 152. 15~155.  170-173, 
174-176; FBI, puton payrollof,163­
164; FBI. usefulness to, 180; first 
contaet with Weathermen, 13-21; 
pnl aftiliations of. 2~25;  high 
school coUective.duties in, 82-83.~  

87; indictment apinst, 181; infil­
trates Weathermen. 60-69; Jaffee, 
Naomi, aflair with, 75. 117-118; 
Madison, assigned too 152-162; 
moratorium participation, 51-58; 
mother's reactions, 70, 99, 162; Na­
tional War Council, participation in, 
82-111; Neiman, Tom. 174; New 
York, assigned to, 173-179; police 
contaets, 26-27, 32. 41; poliee diffi­
culties, 23-25; promoted to collec­
tive status. 82; street coHective, du­
ties in, 83; street fight, 89-90; 
subcollective status of. 63-82, 83; 
undercover role revealed, 179; 
wanted poster against, 181; witness 
for Justice Department. 182 

Grathwohl, Lee, 22 
Greasers, 102-103, 136 
Green,Chuck, 163, 165,170-172 
Green,Joyce, 14-19,28,32,43,46-47, 

86 
Greenwich Village Hotel, 177, 178 
Gribbs, Mayor. 138 
Guerrilla groups, 173 
Guerrilla theater, 76 
Guevara, Ché, 30,38,73.87, 100, 102, 

116� 
Guthrie, Arlo, 57� 

Haiden, Mic:hael, 55 
Hampton, Fred, 40, 74-78, 100; 

Weathermen protest death of, 74­
78 

Harmon, John, 68--69, 71, 72, 77, 79, 
112,114-116; purge of, 115 

Hayden, Tom, 16, 105 
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Herbert, Linda, 137, 152-162, 173; ar­
restof, 161, 173 

High School CoUeetive, 71-72, 82-83, 
86-87; Grathwohl, Larry, assigned 
to, 82-83; taetiq of, 82-83,86-87 

Hippies,14 
HoChiMinh,17.31,47, 73,100 
HoRman, Abbott (Abbie), 16 
HoRman, Dustin, 159 
Hoover, J. Edgar, 44 

Institute for Defense Analyses, 101 
Irish Republican Army, 173 
Israel,84 

Jacobs, Arlo, 45-47, 50-52, 53, 54, 58, 
61,65, 71, 79, 115, 117-118, 120, 
124-125, 129-134, 135, 137-138, 
143, 147, 181; indictment against, 
181; violent tactics of, 130-134 

Jaffee, Naomi, 644>8, 70-76, 78, 79, 
86, 90-92, lOO, 107-110, 112, 114, 
117-118, 123, 127, 135, 136, 140, 
147-149, 152, 162-163, 166-170, 
172, 173, 174, 181; Cuban trip of, 
116; Grathwohl, Larry, affair with, 
75, 117-118; indictment against, 
181; marriage of, 92, 112, 118; 
North Vietnam, visit to, 108; philos­
ophy of, 107-108; promotion of, 
115 

Jefferson Monument, 146 
Johnson, President, 26 
Jones, Jeff, 41, 168, 176; indictment 

against, 168 
Justice Department, 43, 182 

Kidnapping, 128, 145-146 
King, Coretta, 57 
Kissinger, Henry, 146 
Klein, Herb, 146 
Klein, Tom, 55-58 
Ky, General, 77 

Lafayette, Marquis de, 25 
Laird, Melvin, 77, 146 
Lansing, Ray, 82, 84 
Latin America, 15, 18 
Lenin, V.I., 182 
Libtration (magazine). 16 
Liberation News Service, 83 
Lin Piao, 30 
Lineoln, Hal, 47-49, 70, 82, 84-85, 

115,116; purgeof, 116 
Lincoln Monument, 146 
Long, Gerry, 30-39, 44,53,71 
LSD,119 

McAlpine's Department Store, 19,47, 
85,86,113 

McCarthy, Eugene, 57 
McComb Community College protest, 

136 
McGovern, George, 57 
McNamara, Secretary of Defense, 39 
Machtinger, Howard, 105, 182; arrest 

of,182 
Madison, Wisconsin, 153-162; Weath­

erman aetivities in, 15~157,  158, 
160; Weatherman failure in, 161­
162 

Malcolm X, 100 
Manson, Charles, 103 
Mao Tse Tung, 73, 101-102, 182; 

quoted by Mark Rudd, 101 
"March Against Death," 56-57 
Maynard, John, 163, 165, 170-172, 

173,174 
Metro Beach Riot, 136 
Mets. See New York Mets 
Mexico,116 
Milton, Bill, 30, 92,112, 114, 11~117;  

leaves Weathermen, 11~117;  mar­
riageof,92,112 

Minimanual o[ tAe Urban GuerriU4, 145 
Misel, Lisa, 118 
Mitchell, John, 51 
MOBE. See New Mobilization Commit­

tee to End the War in Vietnam 

Moratorium, Washington, D.C., 51­
58; "March Apinst Death," 56-57; 
police al, 56-57, 58; Weatherman 
tactia al, 56-58 

Moratorium Day (October 15, 1969), 
51 

"MOIIt Danprous Police Agent Ever to 
In&litrate an American Revolution­
ary Movement, The," 181 

Murrish, Clark, 43-45, 47, 50, 52, 
M-M, 55,59-61,70, 76,81, 85-86, 
112-11~,  117, 129, 131, 137, 163­

-165 

National Aetion. See National Youth 
Aetion 

NationaI Youth Action, 16, 18. 29-31, 
~5-41,  45, 136; at13ck on Chicago 

.desc:ribed. ~8-41;  Detroit, recruting 
for, 156; Eden Park Rally, 32-38; le­
gal consequences of, discussed, 34­
55; medicalaspects of, discussed, 35­
56; success of, discussed, 45; 
Weatherman motivation for, 36-37 

National War Council, 82-111; 
Dohm. 8ernardine, speech at, 103; 
Hayden. Tom, 105; karate practice 
session al, 105; Machtinger, How­
ardo speech at, 105; preparation for, 
82-92; Rudd, Mark, speech at, 101­
102 

Neiman, Tom, 174, 179 
Neufeld, Russell, 181 
New Left, 16 
New Uft NoIa, 83, 136 
New Mobilization Committee to End 

the War in Vietnam (MOBE), 51, 
54.57-58; moratorium, 57-58 

New Year Gang, 156, 157 
New York, New York, 173-179; 

Weatherman activities in, 174 
New York Mets, 14,42 
New Yori Po.'lt, The, 182 
New Yorl Times, The, 146, 183 
News, TM, 142 

Nguyen Van Troi, 39� 
Niagara Fans, 167-168; power s13tion.� 

planned bombing of, 167-168 
"Night actions," 73, 88 
1984, 183 
Nixon, Richard, 15, 100, 111, 166­

168; planned demonstration 
against, 166-167� 

North Vietnam, 108, 170� 
Nonhwestern University, 16� 

O'Gara, Carl, 136, 141, 142, 150, 151, 
152, 153-155 

Ogilvie, Richard, B., 40 
O'Hara, Jim, 55-58, 132-133 
Olyrnpic Garnes (1972), 172; planned 

terrorism at, 172 
O'NeiJ, Ken, 175-176 
O'Neill, Lieutenant, 39 
Oregon, University of, 16 
Orwel1, George, 183 
Oughton, Dianne, 137, 148, 150-151; 

death of, 159, doubts of, 148, 150­
151; violence, beliefin, 137 

Outlaw, 14-19,32,42-43 

Pen13gon, 146 
Perez, ---, 73 
Prirnary leadership council, 71 
Progressive Labor Party, 31, 66 

Quebec Liberation Front, 170, 173 

Revolution in the Revolution, 63,67, 145 
RevoJutionary Youth Movement 1 

(RYM 1), 31 
Revolutionary Youth Mo~ement  11 

(RYM 11), 31,40,41 
Riestenberg, Don, 19-21, 26-28, 60, 

99, 162 
Roberts, Terry, 174-178 
Robbins, Terry, 159 
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Ilocbe. James. 55 
Il«kefcller. David. 55 
Ilubin.Jerry.16 
Rudd.'lark. 101-102, 106. 110. 125­

129. 1M, 168. 176. 181; Columbia 
UniYenity rebeUion. leadenhip of. 
101; indictment apinst. 168. 181; 
reported deatb of, 159; violence. 
dilcusHd by. 128 

"Running DotP." ~ 1, 100 
RYM l. &, RevoJutionary Youth 

Movcmentl 
RYM 11. &, Revolutionary Youth 

MovementlI 

Salvation Army. 46 
~hez.~thy.  124 
Sc:anelli. Tom. 132-133 
Schaetler. Eddie. 46-47. 68. 78. 91. 

106. 109-110. 113-114; jailing oC. 
1~110; leaves Weathermen. 113­
114 

Sc:enc.the.19.42 
Schramm. Wendy. 138. 143. 152-162. 

17~;  arrest oC, 161 
SDS. &e Students for a Democratic 

Socirty 
~.lk)bby.  16.40 
Secger. Pete. 57 
Senate. U .S.• 43; inquiry into Weather­

man activities. 43 
Skardis. John. 117, 124 
Sotwl o/ Music. TIat, 18 
South America. 18,45.63 
Sf*8eI, Mike. 46-47. 65, 71-79. 88, 

91.112. 114.118. 123.127. 144; de­
livers Fred Hampton's eulogy. 77; 
leaves Cincinnati. 118; promotion 
of.115 

~lman,Jane.181  

Stank>n.CaroJ.117, 118, 119.120. 124 
~n.Barry,30,31-32.38.44,46-52, 

53. 58. 60. 70, 76. 78-79, 89-91, 
103. 112. 113. 114, 156-160. 162; 
dropped Crom Wathermen, 129; re­
ports Mark Rudd's death. 159 

Steinberg. Marsha. 147 
Stivic. Mark.. 33. 46. 138. 152. 157­

162; purged from Weathermen. 162 
Stompers. 23 
Street Collectivc. 71-72. 8~  

Strcet medicine. ~5-36  

Students Cor a Demacratic .SocietX 
(SOS). 16. 26. 3~31.  66-67.8~;  first 
anti-war march of. 26; Weathermcn 
faction of. 3~31  

Subcollectives. 72� 
Sun-Times, TIat. 40� 

Tate. Sharon. 103 
Third World. 18. 29. 39. 107. 173; 

guerrilla tactics oC. 107; Weather­
men support of. 29 

Thineenth Precinct (Detroit). bomb­
ing plans oC. 139-152 

Travel Collective, 71-72 
Tribt, The,74� 
Tribune, ne, 40� 
Trojans.25� 
Tupamaros. 30. 63.147,181� 

Udall, Tom. 87-88, 91, 104-105. 116. 
129; joins Venceremos Brigade, 116 

Underground movement. 127 
Underground Press Syndicate. 83 
United Press International. 55 
United States. 171-172 
Urban guerrilla warfare, 104. 181 

Venceremos Brigades. 115-116. 124. 
129.131,135.138 

VietCong. 20.37.76.108 
Vietnam, 15. 16. 20. 26. 62~3.  8~.  

139; author's military experiences 
in, 20; high school collective focus 
on. 83; troop buildup in, 26 

Vietnam Moratorium Committee, 51 
ViLlGgt Voice, The, 74 
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\V~.Beth.  135.137. 149,151-152 
WaJl painting. 68-69 
WaJton. Annie. 82.113-114. 120--122 

122 
WashinllOo Monument. 146 
WashinllOn Protest. 51-58. See also 

Moratorium 
Ward.-.I66 
Wayne. Joho. 26 
WayneState University. 137-141 
Weather Bureau. 31. 71. 100. 104. 

107. 108. 109. 115. 123. 128. 152. 
168.169.174 

Weatbcr women. 136 
Weatherman collectives. 63~,  70--72. 

82; actioo groups, 71-72; descrip­
tion of. 63. 7~71;  leadership of, 71; 
su~ves.72.82  

Weathermao strategy. 138-139. 145. 
.168-169; changes in. 168-169 

Wcathennen: ammuoitioo ol. 138; 
Cincinnati members, dismissal ol. 
112-122; collective system ol. 
6~.  7~72.  82; demonstrations 
16, 29-41. 47-48, 56-58. 7&-78; 
establishment. problems with. 87­
90; explosives. used by, 147. 159­
161. 166. 167, 168-169. 173. 180-­
181; FBI undercover agents. 
purged by, 129-130; heroes ol. 
100; international ties ol, 170, 
173; mues. importaoce oC. 139; 
mcetings oC. 28-32. 45-47. 71-73. 
118-122; motivations oC. 36-37. 62; 
National War Council. 82-111; Na­
tionaJ Youth Action. 16. 18, 29-31. 
~3-41;  ncws media. use ol dis­
cussed. 37. 91; phil,osophy ol, 169, 
182; police undercover agents. 78­
81. 106; political discussions. 136; 

postrevolutionary goveroment ol. 
183-184; restructuring ol. 128; re­
volutionary commitmeot. 84. 101. 
119. 182; Revolutionary Youth 
Movemeot l. ~  1;strategy ol. 138­
139.145; tacticsol.36-38.47-49.54­
55. 56.69. 76-77.86-87. 116. 135­
152; uodergrouod movemeot ol. 
123-129; violeoce. beliel in. 31. 67. 
68. 72. 104. 198; violeoce. iocrease 
io. 116.127-129.130.138-141. 159­
161. 167. 168-169. 173; \Veather 
Bureau. 31. 71. 100. 104. 107. IOB. 
109. 123; women's role io. dis­
cussed. 149; "You Doo't Need a 
Weatherman to Koow \Vhich Way 
the Wind Blows." 30; youth-oriented 
philosophy oC, 52.65 

\Veiner. Lee. 16 
\Vhite House. 146 
White Panthers, 71. 72. 73. 77. 100. 

106,109.111.118-120.129 
\Vilkerson. Cathlyn. 159. 181; indict­

mentagainst, 181 
Wisconsin. University or. 153 
\Vorld Series. 42 
\Vorld's Fair. Spokaoe (1974), 172; 

planned terrorism at. 172 
\Vright-Patterson Air Force Base. 147 

Yippies. &e Youth International Party 
"You Don't Need a \Veathermao to 

Know Which Way the \Vind Blows." 
30 

Youog Lords. 40,41 
Youth International Party. 16 

Zicher, Stephen. 40 
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